# Early-life effects on telomere dynamics in European badgers (*Meles meles*)

Henricus Johannes van Lieshout

Submitted in accordance with the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

The University of Leeds

School of Biology

December 2019

The candidate confirms that the work submitted is his own, except where work which has formed part of jointly authored publications has been included. The contribution of the candidate and the other authors to this work has been explicitly indicated below. The candidate confirms that appropriate credit has been given within the thesis where reference has been made to the work of others.

#### Jointly authored publications at the moment of thesis submission

van Lieshout S.H.J., Bretman, A., Newman, C., Buesching, C.D., Macdonald, D.W.M, Dugdale, H.L. (2019) Individual variation in early-life telomere length and survival in a wild mammal. *Molecular Ecology*, 28, 4152 – 4165.

The study was conceived by S.H.J.v.L., A.B. and H.L.D., and developed by C.N., C.D.B. and D.W.M.; Samples were collected by S.H.J.v.L., C.N., C.D.B., D.W.M. and H.L.D.; S.H.J.v.L. conducted laboratory work and statistical analyses with input from H.L.D.; the paper was written by S.H.J.v.L. and H.L.D. and all authors critiqued the output for important intellectual content. All authors gave final approval for publication.

van Lieshout S.H.J., Froy, H., Schroeder, J., Burke, T., Simons, M.J.P., Dugdale, H.L. (2020) Slicing: a sustainable approach to structuring samples for analysis in long-term studies. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* (in press).

Conception/design: S.H.J.v.L., J.S., T.B., M.J.P.S., H.L.D. Methodology: S.H.J.v.L., M.J.P.S. Analysis and interpretation: S.H.J.v.L, M.J.P.S., H.L.D. Drafting/Revising paper: S.H.J.v.L., H.F., J.S., T.B., M.J.P.S., H.L.D. All authors contributed critically to the manuscript and gave final approval for publication.

These copies have been supplied on the understanding that it is copyright material and that no quotation from the thesis may be published without proper acknowledgement.

The right of Henricus Johannes van Lieshout to be identified as Author of this work has been asserted by him in accordance with the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988.

© 2019 The University of Leeds and Henricus Johannes van Lieshout

#### Alternative thesis style

This thesis uses an alternative style format to facilitate the dissemination of conducted work by adopting the manuscript formats of the journals to which manuscripts are/will be submitted. This thesis is constructed similarly to the 'standard' thesis format, with a general introduction, data chapters and general discussion. While the general introduction and discussion follow a standard format, the data chapters are written in the format of the corresponding journal. References are collected at the end of the thesis and follow a Harvard style referencing.

### **Ethical statement**

All work conducted in this thesis was approved by the University of Oxford's Animal Welfare and Ethical Review Board, ratified by the University of Leeds, and carried out under Natural England Licenses, currently 2017-27589-SCI-SCI and Home Office Licence (Animals, Scientific Procedures, Act, 1986) PPL: 30/3379.

### Acknowledgements

First of all, I would like to thank the University of Leeds for funding my research and the Genetics Society, the Natural Environment Research Council (NERC Biomolecular Analysis Facility – Sheffield) and The Priestley Centre for their generous support to field and laboratory work during my PhD.

My sincere gratitude goes to all of my supervisors who have always kept their patience and supported me throughout the project. The numerous meetings at the start ensured a solid foundation and further discussions guaranteed a logical progression. Hannah, I've learned a lot from our discussions on statistics, writing manuscripts and frankly everything about life and work in academia. Amanda, thanks for your enthusiasm and ideas in this project. Besides our joy over the Dutch word for whip cream, you also trusted me teaching you some 'true' Dutch words that did not work out really well, remember? The guidance and insights from the both of you have been brilliant, and I've always appreciated the both of you having your door open when I needed to speak to someone. I would also like to thank Keith and Simon for their advice and scrutiny of the project in specific sessions for discussion.

I am also very thankful to my collaborators in Oxford for teaching me everything about badgers and the corresponding fieldwork. Chris, your eye for brevity when it comes to manuscripts remains unparalleled and I enjoyed our many discussions, some of which involved more superheroes and racing cars than biology. Christina, your pragmatism and implications for the greater good were very helpful, thank you also for the numerous rides on the ATV and our collaborations in pushing when the badger van did not start. David, you're often immediate responses that 'things are looking good' and feedback were always very much appreciated. Thank you for your help during the much enjoyed fieldwork sessions and the support during all the writing. This work would not have been possible without the great help from the badger team past and present. This long-term dataset has already provided much information on badgers and the ecological processes for which they function as a study species. In particular I would like to thank Nadine, Tanesha, Julius, Ming, Emma, Georgia and Sunita who I had the pleasure to work with during the fieldwork sessions. I'll always remember the great variety of stories, your jokes about 'snowflake', and the enormous number of tears from laughter when I was tumbling down Great Oak with peanuts flying through the air.

Once we sorted out all of our samples, the laboratory work could start. During that very intensive half year Natalie taught me everything about the analyses and your support was brilliant. I also thank Mirre and Terry for their advice throughout this half year, to ensure that all protocols were optimised and that we had a solid dataset on telomeres in badgers. Here I'd also like to mention my thanks to Hannah Froy, Alfredo and Julia for their advice on coding, statistics and writing manuscripts.

While I initially started as the only PhD-student in the lab, this quickly changed with the arrival of post-docs, PhD-students and master students: Alex, Elisa, Laura, Ellie, Tara, Joe, Inez, Michael and Eva. Thank you for all the discussions on various topics, but also the great fun during the lab outings and the enjoyable atmosphere in the lab. A special thanks to Alex and Elisa, who as the post-docs in our lab provided large amounts of support and critical advice during my PhD. A huge thanks also to Josh and Michael who have spent many hours looking through microscopes and counting every single leukocyte on many slides, thanks for the tremendous amount of work you've done.

Besides my lab, I would like to thank all the fellow PhD-students and post-docs in the office whose company I very much appreciated. The comfort it brings when we're all working towards that same distant goal was great. I would like to particularly thank Tom, Katie, James,

v

Laurin, Laura, Myrna and Jens. From the moment I arrived in Leeds you made me feel very welcome, and to my great joy you let me persuade you that an act of kindness that involves chocolate, was something I had nothing to do with at all. After the riddles, I can still hear Jens slamming his desk.

A special mention also goes to my friends in the Netherlands. Hoewel ik voor het grootste deel van het jaar weg was wil ik Bart, Tom, Harm, Roy, Luuk, Jens, Marwin, Robin, Bauke, Martijn, Freek, René, Tobias, Patrick en Roy bedanken voor de zaalvoetbalpotjes, de tijden in de kroeg en de memorabele uitjes, waarvan één in Leeds. Ze zijn goud waard!

To my family, bedankt voor de altijd aanwezige interesse in mijn onderzoek, de bezoekjes als ik weer in Nederland was en de Nederlandse nuchterheid en het relativeringsvermogen. In het bijzonder wil ik Wilma, René, Jennis en Remy bedanken voor het immer warme nest als ik naar Nederland kwam met de daarbij behorende game/filmavonden, maar ook de vele 'steunpakketten' die ik heb mogen ontvangen in Leeds. Jullie eindeloze steun in alle keuzes die ik heb gemaakt wordt zeer gewaardeerd.

### Abstract

Despite extensive evidence of senescence, the decline in performance with age, in wild populations, the drivers of individual variation in senescence patterns are still unresolved. In this thesis, I study how early-life environmental, genetic and transgenerational effects contribute to individual variation in senescence patterns, using telomere dynamics, in a wild population of European badgers (*Meles meles*).

I discovered that telomere length forms a complex relationship with age, with both decreases and increases in telomere length that cannot be fully explained by measurement error. Telomere length was not sex-specific, but early-life telomere length predicts survival to adulthood (>1 year old) and lifespan. Within-individual changes in telomere length could be due to age-related changes in leukocyte cell composition in response to social conditions. While variation in (early-life) telomere length was associated with the abundance and variation in food availability, and natal but not adult social conditions, I found no evidence for heritability of telomere length or transgenerational effects, through parental age at conception effects. Additionally, individuals experiencing matching early- and later-life conditions had longer lifespans, even though there was only moderate autocorrelation in environmental quality, but this also depended on the mean environmental quality across adulthood. I also developed a novel approach to the analysis of long-term studies, termed slicing, which overcomes problems with confounding effects and cross-classified data structures.

My research shows that individual variation in telomere length and senescence is a consequence of early-life environmental, not genetic or transgenerational, effects in European badgers. In addition, I show the potential for adaptive responses in anticipation of the adult environment and the importance of studying both the mean of and variability in early-life conditions to fully understand the selective pressures on senescence.

# **Table of contents**

Acknowledgements	iv
Abstract	vii
List of figures	xii
List of tables	xv
Commonly used abbreviations	xvii

Chapter 1: General introduction1
1.1 Organismal senescence2
1.2 Evolutionary theories of senescence2
1.3 Senescence in the wild4
1.4 Factors contributing to individual variation in senescence patterns5
1.5 Telomeres8
1.6 Oxidative stress9
1.7 Telomerase, alternative lengthening pathways and cellular senescence10
1.8 Telomere length and life-history11
1.9 Intrinsic and extrinsic factors linked to telomere length
1.10 Structuring samples for analysis in long-term studies15
1.11 Study species: European badgers (Meles meles)16
1.12 Study site and trapping18
1.13 Thesis aim and outline19

Chapter 2: Individual variation in early-life telomere length and survival in a wild

mammal	
2.1 Abstract	24
2.2 Introduction	24
2.3 Methods	28
2.3.1 Study system	
2.3.2 Telomere analyses	

2.3.3 Statistical analyses	32
2.4 Results	36
2.4.1 Age, sex and cohort effects on telomere length	36
2.4.2 Individual repeatability and telomere elongation	38
2.4.3 Telomere length, survival and lifespan	41
2.5 Discussion	42
Supplemental information Chapter 2: Individual variation in early-life telomere	
length and survival in a wild mammal	48

Chapter 3: Social effects on age-related and sex-specific immune cell profiles in a wild
mammal
3.1 Abstract65
3.2 Introduction65
3.3 Methods68
3.3.1 Study species and data collection68
3.3.2 Statistical analyses69
3.4 Results70
3.5 Discussion71
Supplemental information Chapter 3: Social effects on age-related and sex-specific
immune cell profiles in a wild mammal74

Chapter 4: The effects of weather conditions and group size on telomere lengths in a
wild mammal75
4.1 Abstract76
4.2 Introduction76
4.3 Methods81
4.3.1 Study population and trapping81
4.3.2 Telomere analyses82
4.3.3 Weather conditions83
4.3.4 Group sizes
4.3.5 Statistical analyses85

4.4 Results	87
4.5 Discussion	90
Supplemental information Chapter 4: The effects of weather conditions and grou	р
size on telomere lengths in a wild mammal	95

Chapter 5: Estimation of environmental and genetic contributions to telomere length	
variation in a wild mammal 100	
5.1 Abstract	
5.2 Introduction	
5.3 Methods107	
5.3.1 Study system107	
5.3.2 Molecular analyses108	
5.3.3 Pedigree 108	
5.3.4 Statistical analyses108	
5.4 Results	
5.5 Discussion114	
Supplemental information Chapter 5: Estimation of environmental and genetic	
contributions to telomere length variation in a wild mammal118	

6.1 Abstract129
6.2 Introduction
6.3 Methods134
6.3.1 Study population and trapping134
6.3.2 Telomere analyses135
6.3.3 Environmental quality implied through telomere length, and mean daily rainfall and temperature
6.3.4 Statistical analyses136
6.4 Results138
6.5 Discussion141

Supplemental information Chapter 6: Testing the Predictive Adaptive Response:
Consequences of early-life adversity for adaptive life-history strategies in a wild
mammal

Chapter 7: Slicing: a sustainable approach to structuring samples for analysis in long-
term studies
7.1 Abstract150
7.2 Introduction152
7.3 Materials and Methods158
7.3.1 Slicing approach158
7.3.2 A case study: structuring samples for telomere length analysis in wild house
sparrows160
7.3.3 Simulations162
7.4 Results
7.5 Discussion
7.6 Conclusions172
Supplemental information Chapter 7: Slicing: a sustainable approach to structuring
samples for analysis in long-term studies 174

Chapter 8: General discussion	192
8.1 Telomere dynamics in European badgers	194
8.2 Early-life environmental conditions	
8.3 Transgenerational effects	202
8.4 Analysis of long-term studies	203
8.5 Concluding remarks	204

References 206
----------------

# List of figures

### Chapter 1

Figure 1.1: Senescence and the strength of natural selection	3
Figure 1.2: Structure of telomeres	9
Figure 1.3: Schematic of PhD chapters	22

### Chapter 2

Figure 2.1: Age-related variation in relative leukocyte telomere length (RLTL)
Figure 2.2: Telomere dynamics in European badgers
Figure 2.3: Early-life (<1 year old) relative leukocyte telomere length (RLTL) predicts lifespan. 40
Figure 2.4: Parameter estimates and 95% confidence intervals of fixed effects from models 41
Figure 2.5: Early-life (<1 year old) relative leukocyte telomere length (RLTL) predicts survival to adulthood
Figure S2.1: Parameter estimates (± SE) for cohort effects from the best-fitting age model 62
Figure S2.2: Parameter estimates and associated 95% confidence intervals for cohort effects 63

### Chapter 3

Figure 3.1: The interplay between age and group size on the proportion of leukocytes	that are
agranulocytes for males and females	71

### Chapter 4

Figure 4.1: The interaction between mean daily temperature and variability in daily temperature
Figure 4.2: The interaction between mean daily rainfall and the coefficient of variation in daily rainfall
Figure 4.3: The relationship between the number of cubs in the natal group and early-life relative leukocyte telomere length
Figure S4.1: Variation in early-life relative leukocyte telomere length (RLTL) among seasons in European badgers

### **Chapter 5**

Figure 5.2: Proportion of variance explained in relative leukocyte telomere length (RLTL; models 1–8) in European badgers
Figure S5.1: Scatterplot showing the correlation between paternal and maternal ages at conception for badgers
Figure S5.2: Statistical power to detect paternal age at conception (PAC) effect sizes in our European badger dataset
Figure S5.3: Statistical power to detect varying heritability estimates of telomere length in the European badger with our dataset
Figure S5.4: Statistical power to detect varying heritability estimates of juvenile telomere length (≤29 months old) in the European badger with our dataset

### **Chapter 6**

### Chapter 7

Figure 7.1: Schematic of nested and cross-classified data structures	153
Figure 7.2: Schematic of three strategies to structure samples from the biobank	155

Figure 7.3: Statistical power analyses of simulated data for individual and year effects among Figure 7.4: Statistical power analyses of simulated data for individual and year effects among Figure S7.1: Suggested slicing parameters for the subset of the Lundy sparrow dataset....... 175 Figure S7.5: Statistical power analyses (n = 200) for individual and year effects (max. 0.35) .. 180 Figure S7.6: Statistical power analyses (n = 200) for individual and year effects (max. 1.05) .. 181 Figure S7.7: Statistical power analyses (n = 200) for individual and cohort effects (max. 0.45)182 Figure S7.8: Statistical power analyses (n = 200) for individual and cohort effects (max. 1.35)183 Figure S7.15: Precision analyses (n = 200) for individual and cohort effects (max. 0.45) ....... 190 Figure S7.16: Precision analyses (n = 200) for individual and cohort effects (max. 1.35) ...... 191

## List of tables

### Chapter 2

Table 2.1: Parameter estimates from the models that best explained the relationship betweentelomere length and age
Table S2.1: The different survival probabilities of cubs and adults, based on age at last capture and when correcting the lifespan model for the different survival probabilities between cubs and adults
Table S2.2: Comparison of models describing the relationship between relative leukocyte      telomere length and age    54
Table S2.3: Model selection of factors linked to lifespan    55
Table S2.4: Model averaged parameters 56
Table S2.5: Model selection of factors linked to survival to adulthood
Table S2.6: Model selection of factors linked to adult survival probability

### Chapter 3

### **Chapter 4**

Table S4.1: Estimates for the optimal climatic window
Table S4.2: Parameter estimates and 95% confidence intervals of fixed effects from a mixed model testing group size and weather effects on early-life relative leukocyte telomere length 96
Table S4.3: Parameter estimates and 95% confidence intervals of fixed effects from a mixed model testing group size and weather effects on early-life relative leukocyte telomere length

### Chapter 5

Table S5.1: Information from pruned pedigree of the Wytham badger population (1987 –2010)118
Table S5.2: Parameter estimates from mixed model testing paternal and maternal age atconception (PAC & MAC, respectively) effects on offspring relative leukocyte telomerelength
Table S5.3: Additive genetic and environmental effects on relative leukocyte telomere length inEuropean badgers121
Table S5.4: Additive genetic and environmental effects on relative leukocyte telomere length inEuropean badgers, estimated using ASRemI-R122
Table S5.5: Additive genetic and environmental effects on relative leukocyte telomere length(Age $\leq$ 29 months) in European badgers, estimated using ASRemI-R123

### Chapter 6

Table 6.1: Correlation coefficients between early- and late-life metrics of environmentalquality139
Table S6.1: Mean daily rainfall (mm; $\mu_{rain}$ ) and mean daily temperature (°C; $\mu_{temp}$ ) estimates with standard deviation (SD) for the years 1987 – 2010
Table S6.2: Parameter estimates and 95% confidence intervals of fixed effects from mixed modeltesting early-life and later-life conditions, and their similarity, on lifespan in Europeanbadgers

### Chapter 7

Table S7.1: Number of samples collected in each year in the subset of the Lundy sparrow study
which are used to estimate telomere length174

# **Commonly used abbreviations**

- DNA: DeoxyriboNucleic Acid
- MMqPCR: Monochrome Multiplex quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction
- RLTL: Relative Leukocyte Telomere Length
- **ROS:** Reactive Oxygen Species
- PAC: Paternal Age at Conception
- MAC: Maternal Age at Conception
- PAR: Predictive-Adaptive-Response

# **Chapter 1: General introduction**

#### **1.1 Organismal senescence**

Organismal senescence is the irreversible accumulation of damage with age that results in a loss of function and eventual death. This is often manifested with an increasing probability of mortality and decreasing reproductive success with age (Kirkwood and Rose, 1991; Stearns, 1992). Williams (1957) noted that while individuals are able to create a complex and functioning soma, they lack the ability to maintain what is already formed. Understanding how a process where progressive and irreversible changes impair rather than improve individual performance evolved has become an important aim in evolutionary biology.

#### 1.2 Evolutionary theories of senescence

The initial thought was that senescence benefits the population by removing old and unproductive individuals from the population, which accelerates the renewal of generations and facilitates adaptation to changing environments (Weissman, 1889; Wallace, 1865). However, senescence should be selected against as it does not benefit the individual, except in circumstances of kin or group selection (Bourke, 2007), and the initial thought was therefore superseded by the now classical evolutionary theories of senescence.

The foundation for the theories of senescence was laid down by Peter Medawar, who posited that even in the absence of senescence, the genetic mutations expressed in early-life have a higher impact on individual fitness than mutations expressed in later-life, due to the pressure of age-independent extrinsic mortality (Medawar, 1952). Hence, mutations expressed in early-life will be under stronger selection, since the proportion of individuals that are alive at progressively older ages declines (Figure 1.1). That forces of natural selection decline with age was later mathematically refined (Williams, 1957; Hamilton, 1966; Charlesworth, 1980).



Figure 1.1: Senescence and the strength of natural selection. The age trajectory of an individual with fitness against age. After an increase in fitness in early-life, fitness starts to decline, defining the onset of senescence. The slope with which it declines is the rate of senescence. The forces of natural selection decline with age due to pressure of age-independent extrinsic mortality, with mutations in early-life under stronger selection since the number of individuals in a cohort declines with age.

There are three main hypotheses explaining the evolution of senescence. The first hypothesis, termed 'mutation accumulation', states that under the mutation–selection balance, deleterious mutations accumulate over life and act in later-life. This results in a decrease in physiological functions, such as reduced survival and reproductive success, in older individuals (Medawar, 1952). Such mutations could still be favourable in early-life and therefore undergo positive selection. The existence of antagonistically pleiotropic genes, which have deleterious effects in later-life, are nonetheless favoured because of their positive effects on survival and reproductive success in early-life when selection is stronger. This is known as the 'antagonistic pleiotropy hypothesis' (Williams, 1957). The third hypothesis can be viewed as a physiological variant of the antagonistic pleiotropy hypothesis, termed the 'disposable soma hypothesis'. This

hypothesis is based on trade-offs in allocation of limiting resources to self-maintenance and other activities, such as reproduction (Kirkwood, 1977; Kirkwood and Rose, 1991). The decline in organismal functioning results from the accumulation of somatic damage to cells as a result of physiological processes that produce harmful by-products and physiological stress (Sgro and Partridge, 1999; Westendorp and Kirkwood, 1998). The rate of accumulation of damage is influenced by biochemical mechanisms, such as antioxidants and DNA repair enzymes. These mechanisms require resources for self-maintenance which could have otherwise been allocated to other activities such as reproduction or avoiding factors contributing to extrinsic mortality. The deterioration of an individual therefore reflects the balance in resource allocation to selfmaintenance and other activities (Kirkwood, 2005). All three mutually non-exclusive hypotheses provide potential explanations for the evolution of senescence, but in contrast to 'mutation accumulation', the 'antagonistic pleiotropy' and 'disposable soma' hypotheses are adaptive since selection depends on beneficial traits and trade-offs between early- and later-life. However, it was long considered that these hypotheses were only applicable to human populations and not to wild organisms as, due to extrinsic mortality, they would not survive to ages at which senescence is observed (Medawar, 1952; Kirkwood and Austad, 2000).

### 1.3 Senescence in the wild

Empirical evidence for senescence in wild animals has accumulated, with 340 studies of over 175 species that provide evidence of senescence in the wild (Nussey et al., 2013). This opposes the fallacy that animals in wild populations do not senesce (Medawar, 1952), and supports the view that senescence is common in wild species. Understanding senescence in the wild is important because, in contrast with studies in laboratory conditions, selection acts on multiple traits simultaneously. These phenotypic traits evolve under natural selection, where variable

environments may influence genes that lead to age-dependent phenotypic variation and in turn shape fitness in a natural setting (Charmantier et al., 2014; Partridge and Gems, 2007). However, among these wild populations there are species that are not currently thought to show any evidence of senescence. For example, naked mole-rats (*Heterocephalus glaber*) defy the Gompertzian law by showing no increase in the probability of mortality at older ages (Ruby et al., 2018). It is currently not understood why some species have evolved patterns of senescence while other species may not have. For species that do exhibit senescence, there is considerable variation between species (Jones et al., 2014) and within species (e.g. Dugdale et al., 2011b; Nussey et al., 2009) in the onset and rate of senescence, and current studies focus on determining factors that explain this individual variation in senescence patterns.

### 1.4 Factors contributing to individual variation in senescence patterns

There is increasing understanding about how natural variation in extrinsic environments shapes individual senescence patterns (Cooper and Kruuk, 2018; Nussey et al., 2013; Lemaitre and Gaillard, 2017). Since an optimal distribution of resources within individuals is favoured by selection, this subsequently optimises individual fitness (Stearns, 1992). Thus, whenever reproduction is favoured at the expense of somatic investment, individuals will senesce more rapidly (Kirkwood and Rose, 1991). For example, female red deer (*Cervus elaphus*) that produced more offspring in early-life showed faster rates of reproductive senescence (Nussey et al., 2006), whereas males with larger harems and therefore more resource investment in reproduction in early adulthood exhibited faster rates of senescence in harem size and rut duration (Lemaitre et al., 2014). Additional empirical evidence for trade-offs between early-life reproduction and somatic maintenance exists in wild birds (Charmantier et al., 2006; Reed et al., 2008).

Trade-offs between reproductive and somatic investment also differ between the sexes. For example, male European badgers (*Meles meles*) show a later onset but faster rate of senescence than females (Dugdale et al., 2011b). An explanation for such patterns initially stems from anisogamy (Bateman, 1948; Trivers, 1972), and that in polygynandrous species males benefit from numerous matings, whereas females have fewer reproductive benefits from many matings and show less risky behaviours (Bonduriansky et al., 2008; Singh and Punzalan, 2018). Males may therefore exhibit greater intra-sexual competition than females, which results in a male-biased mortality rate (Bonduriansky et al., 2008; Maklakov and Lummaa, 2013; Promislow, 2003). This could result in a differential weakening of the forces of selection against deleterious mutations or antagonistic pleiotropic genes between the sexes, leading to faster rates of senescence in males than in females (Andersson, 1994; Williams, 1957; Hamilton, 1966). A study in a wild population of European badgers, which exhibit male-biased mortality (McDonald et al., 2014), supports this view because males exhibited higher rates of body mass senescence due to greater intra-sexual competition in early adulthood (Beirne et al., 2015).

Senescence rates have also been hypothesised to be faster in adverse early-life environments which induce high mortality rates (Williams, 1957), such as greater resource competition or lower food availability (Nussey et al., 2007a; Hammers et al., 2013; Campbell et al., 2017; Douhard et al., 2016). Besides these effects of the mean environmental conditions, the variation around this mean among years and variability within years could shape senescence patterns (Nussey et al., 2007a; Reid et al., 2003). Individuals living in temporally stochastic environments should adopt a bet-hedging strategy with higher somatic than reproductive investment (Morris et al., 2008; Wilbur and Rudolf, 2006; ; but see Shpak, 2007), which results in longer lifespans in variable conditions. However, variable environmental conditions can lead to maladaptation and may have age-specific effects, due to divergent strengths of natural

selection, that differentially affect genotypes, causing faster senescence rates in variable environmental conditions (Cotto and Ronce, 2014).

Variation in individual responses to environmental conditions provides another source for variation in senescence patterns. These plastic responses in morphological and life-history traits can be the result of a differential investment in reproduction or the soma, and are fundamental for a population to cope with environmental change (Nussey et al., 2007b). However, individuals can be physiologically constrained to provide a plastic response (Ricklefs and Wikelski, 2002; Bateson et al., 2004). For individuals experiencing similar environments, this might result in an individual-specific phenotypic response that shapes individual life-history and therefore senescence patterns (Ricklefs and Wikelski, 2002). Additionally, constraints in adaptation may also depend on the similarities in experienced environments throughout life (Bateson et al., 2004; Gluckman et al., 2005a; Nettle et al., 2013a). For example, individuals born in favourable conditions may always outperform those born in adverse conditions, known as the 'silver spoon hypothesis' (Lindstrom, 1999; Douhard et al., 2014; van de Pol et al., 2006; Cooper and Kruuk, 2018; Grafen, 1988). However, a mismatch between early- and later-life environmental conditions, and therefore incorrectly predicting the adult environment, adaptive strategy and response, can result in detrimental effects on individual life-history, known as predictive adaptive response (PAR) hypotheses (Nettle et al., 2013a).

Even though there is increasing understanding of the factors that contribute to individual variation in senescence patterns, the effects of environmental conditions can be difficult to measure. Understanding the consequences of such conditions on individual senescence patterns can be improved by quantification of these extrinsic conditions through biomarkers.

### **1.5 Telomeres**

A biomarker which reflects the physiological consequences of within-individual experiences and facilitates between-individual comparisons is telomere length (Monaghan and Haussmann, 2006). Telomeres are non-coding hexameric repeats (5'-TTAGGG-3') which form a nucleoprotein structure with associated shelterin complexes (Blackburn, 1991; Figure 1.2). These structures are located at interstitial chromosome sites and at the terminal ends of all eukaryotic chromosomes, where they prevent end-to-end fusion of linear chromosomes through the formation of t-loops and maintain genomic integrity (Blackburn, 2000; de Lange, 2004). Telomeres shorten with age due to successive cell divisions where DNA-replication at the 3'-end of the DNA-strand is incomplete, known as the end-replication problem (Olovnikov, 1973). Consequently, telomeres shorten more rapidly in early-life due to higher levels of cell division during growth (Frenck et al., 1998; Hall et al., 2004). However, other metabolically demanding activities such as reproduction, disease and stress also contribute to the rate of change in telomere length (Heidinger et al., 2012; Epel et al., 2004; Willeit et al., 2010). The amount of telomeric DNA lost in each cell division also depends on the cellular conditions (Monaghan and Ozanne, 2018). While in vitro evidence exists that oxidative stress contributes to telomere shortening (von Zglinicki, 2002; Richter and von Zglinicki, 2007), whether oxidative stress is a mechanism that explains telomere shortening in vivo remains currently unclear (Reichert and Stier, 2017; Boonekamp, 2017).



Figure 1.2: Structure of telomeres: a) a chromosome before cell division with telomeres at the terminal ends; b) the linear telomere structure and sequence in eukaryotic chromosomes, where the DNA-strand has an overhang at the 3'-end due to the end-replication problem; and c) the telomere T-loop that prevents fusion of linear chromosomes with the single strand invading the double stranded telomeric DNA (D-loop). The shelterin complex aids in T-loop formation and telomere functioning and thus maintaining genomic integrity.

#### 1.6 Oxidative stress

Oxidative stress, which originated from the free radical theory of ageing, is potentially a contributing factor to the shortening of telomeres (Wickens, 2001). During oxygen metabolism in the mitochondria, as a by-product, reactive oxygen species (ROS) are produced which can cause cellular damage (Selman et al., 2012; Beckman and Ames, 1998). Within telomeres the most prevalent nucleobase guanine is especially sensitive to oxidation by ROS (Oikawa and Kawanishi, 1999). Although ROS can be neutralized by antioxidants, reactive molecules that are not will induce oxidative stress (Finkel and Holbrook, 2000; Costantini and Verhulst, 2009). While there is evidence from laboratory studies that oxidative stress contributes to telomere shortening (Liu et al., 2002), where the level of oxidative stress can be modified by both genetic

and environmental conditions (Harman, 1992; Martin et al., 1996), it remains currently unclear if this occurs in whole organisms (Reichert and Stier, 2017; Boonekamp, 2017).

Oxidative stress provides a potential pathway by which adverse conditions can detrimentally affect telomere length. A proximate mechanism that could mediate this link between the adverse environment and telomeres, through the stress response, are glucocorticoids (Angelier et al., 2018). The response to unpredictable events that induce stress is the secretion of glucocorticoids (Romero, 2004). Elevated levels of glucocorticoids are positively linked with oxidative stress (Costantini et al., 2011), which could result in greater DNA damage and shorter telomere lengths when energy investment promotes immediate survival at the expense of demanding other activities. However, such elevation of telomere shortening only occurs when telomerase is inactive (Choi et al., 2008).

### 1.7 Telomerase, alternative lengthening pathways and cellular senescence

Telomeres can be restored or even elongated by telomerase, the telomere-elongating enzyme, which is highly prolific in stem cells (Blackburn et al., 1989). Even though telomerase activation can slow-down genomic instability from dysfunctionally short telomeres (Kim et al., 1994), it can also confer immortality on cells which increases the likelihood of cancer (Robin et al., 2014; Kim et al., 2016). This is why telomerase is transcriptionally repressed later in development (Blackburn et al., 1989) and other tumour suppression mechanisms (Peto, 2015; Caulin and Maley, 2011; Risques and Promislow, 2018), for example additional p53 pseudogenes (Vazquez et al., 2018), have evolved. However, alternative pathways for telomere lengthening do exist (Cesare and Reddel, 2010; Mendez-Bermudez et al., 2012).

Another potential explanation for telomere lengthening in mammals, in contrast with birds, is that telomere length is measured from DNA in leukocytes. Since granulocytes have

longer telomeres than agranulocytes in humans and baboons (Baerlocher et al., 2007; Kimura et al., 2010), a change in leukocyte cell composition with age may appear as a positive change in mean telomere length and thus be inferred as telomere lengthening. Leukocytes are involved in the immune system, and environmental conditions may shape sex-specific leukocyte cell compositions (Klein and Flanagan, 2016; Restif and Amos, 2010). The immune system can be broadly divided into the innate and adaptive immune responses, where declines in performance of the adaptive immune response (i.e. immunosenescence) occur in wild animals (Nussey et al., 2012; Palacios et al., 2011; Schneeberger et al., 2014; Peters et al., 2019; Cheynel et al., 2017). Such immunosenescent declines are the consequence of microbial exposure, nutrition and the developed microbiome (McDade, 2012; Klein and Flanagan, 2016), and may be subject to other environmental conditions which can lead to the appearance of telomere lengthening but is merely a change in leukocyte cell composition. Telomere shortening occurs until cells enter a state of arrest, inducing replicative senescence, where the accumulation of senescent cells, due to progressive loss of regenerative capacity (Campisi and di Fagagna, 2007), can impair tissue functioning (Campisi, 2005; Armanios and Blackburn, 2012).

#### **1.8 Telomere length and life-history**

Telomere length is a biomarker of senescence (Monaghan and Haussmann, 2006; Wilbourn et al., 2018), that may reflect an individual's somatic state linked to the cumulative stress that the individual has experienced during its life (Monaghan, 2010). Telomere length has been associated with life-history parameters, such as survival to adulthood, annual adult survival probability and lifespan in both captive and wild populations (Wilbourn et al., 2018). Even though some studies tested for, but did not find such relationships (Beaulieu et al., 2011; Sudyka et al., 2014), a meta-analysis in non-human vertebrates reported an overall association between short

telomeres and a higher mortality risk (Wilbourn et al., 2018). However, it remains currently unclear whether telomere length plays a direct causal role in senescence, where short telomeres induce senescence, or whether telomeres reflect the damage to other biological structures that have deleterious effects on fitness (Simons, 2015; Young, 2018). Nevertheless, the challenge is to determine the genetic, epigenetic and environmental factors that generate individual variation in telomere length and their implications for life-history strategies and senescence.

### 1.9 Intrinsic and extrinsic factors linked to telomere length

Since sex differences in life-history and senescence patterns occur (Bonduriansky et al., 2008; Beirne et al., 2015) these sex differences are expected to be found in telomere length. In humans and laboratory rodents, adult females have longer telomere lengths than adult males (Barrett and Richardson, 2011; Gardner et al., 2014), which correlates with the sex-specific differences in lifespan in these species (Stindl, 2004). Explanations for such sex differences in telomere length could be that in species with sexual dimorphism there is increased cell proliferation in the larger sex, heterogametic disadvantage or effects of sex hormones (Stindl, 2004; Barrett and Richardson, 2011). The development of secondary sexual characteristics requires an additional energetic investment which, for example, in polygamous males may result in faster telomere shortening (Andersson, 1994; Monaghan, 2010). These results indicate that in species with similar lifespans in males and females no sex differences in telomere length exists (e.g. Cram et al., 2017), whereas in species with sex differences in lifespan and development of secondary characteristics age-dependent sex differences in telomere length can be found (Watson et al., 2017).

Adverse early-life environmental conditions can have deleterious effects on telomere length. Adverse early-life conditions usually require additional energy investment, and in

combination with faster growth in early-life this can exponentially shorten telomeres. There is extensive evidence that increased conspecific competition for resources among juvenile siblings is reflected in shorter telomere length (Cram et al., 2017; Nettle et al., 2015; Boonekamp et al., 2014; Stier et al., 2015). This finding is supported by other studies using different metrics for environmental quality (Mizutani et al., 2013; McLennan et al., 2016; Watson et al., 2015; Wilbourn et al., 2017), where a lower environmental quality in early-life was reflected in shorter telomeres.

Social cues in early-life may also change the trade-off between reproductive investment and somatic maintenance, through developmental plasticity that may be reflected in early-life telomere length (Bretman et al., 2016; Kasumovic and Brooks, 2011). The differential effects of early-life conditions also become apparent through the strong cohort effects found in studies that link telomere length with age, indicating that early-life conditions are reflected in individual telomere length and dynamics (Fairlie et al., 2016; Spurgin et al., 2017).

Besides environmental conditions, transgenerational effects, such as parental age at conception, can also affect telomere length (Eisenberg and Kuzawa, 2018). Paternal, but not maternal, age at conception is predicted to affect offspring telomere length because sperm is produced continuously whereas oocytes are produced prenatally (Eisenberg and Kuzawa, 2018). A positive relationship between paternal age at conception and offspring telomere length has been reported in humans (Hjelmborg et al., 2015; Kimura et al., 2008; Njajou et al., 2007) and chimpanzees (Eisenberg et al., 2017). Explanations for this positive effect is that telomerase activity in the germ line is high to compensate for telomere loss, and might overshoot the original telomere length (Kimura et al., 2008; Aviv and Susser, 2013). Another explanation is that there is selective loss of germ cells with shorter telomeres, making the stem cells with longer telomeres more abundant (Kimura et al., 2008; Hjelmborg et al., 2015). However, studies into the

associations between paternal or maternal age at conception effects and offspring telomere length in other taxa have shown parental age effects in different directions (Noguera et al., 2018; Dupont et al., 2018; Bouwhuis et al., 2018; Eisenberg and Kuzawa, 2018; Asghar et al., 2015a; Olsson et al., 2011; Froy et al., 2017). These different results might be related to the mating system in the associated species (Bouwhuis et al., 2018).

The proportion of additive genetic variance out of the total phenotypic variance in telomere length defines whether telomere length is heritable. With the associated strength of selection, this theoretically indicates the evolutionary potential of a trait such as telomere length (Lynch and Walsh, 1998). Heritability of telomere length has been determined in a variety of species (Olsson et al., 2011; Horn et al., 2011; Voillemot et al., 2012; Reichert et al., 2015), however this is usually based on parent–offspring regressions which cannot decompose shared environments between offspring and parents (Dugdale and Richardson, 2018). Three recent studies in non-human vertebrates have used the 'animal model', an extension of the mixed model that takes into account relatedness, providing no or high heritability estimates of telomere length in semi-feral cattle and wild birds (Seeker et al., 2018; Becker et al., 2015; Asghar et al., 2015a).

Most studies into telomere dynamics in wild populations come from avian studies. However, studies into the effects of environmental conditions on individual telomere length are emerging in wild mammals (Izzo et al., 2011; Lewin et al., 2015; Cram et al., 2017; Beirne et al., 2015), but longitudinal studies remain relatively rare (Fairlie et al., 2016; Beirne et al., 2014). Longitudinal studies are required for interpretation of within-individual telomere length as, for example, recent evidence suggests that telomere length can both increase and decrease with age, independent of any measurement error (Spurgin et al., 2017). Studying the association between telomere length and life-history and any contributing genetic, environmental and parental effects in divergent taxa will improve understanding of individual variation in telomere length and senescence patterns.

#### 1.10 Structuring samples for analysis in long-term studies

Understanding the relationships between telomere dynamics, life-history strategies and environmental conditions requires long-term studies. These studies measure individuals repeatedly across their lifetimes and among generations, providing data over adequate periods of time (Clutton-Brock and Sheldon, 2010). However, the statistical analyses of such comprehensive biological datasets can be complex due to the hierarchical natural of biology. When all observations fall within a single observation at a higher hierarchical level, a nested design, this can be analysed with statistical mixed models (Gelman and Hill, 2006; Bolker et al., 2009). However, a discrepancy between the longitudinal collection of data and the associated laboratory analysis of, for example, blood samples for telomere length, often results in crossclassified data structures. These structures arise when observations are associated with multiple observations at a higher hierarchical level, and require a different interpretation of the statistics and variance components (Schielzeth and Nakagawa, 2013). Cross-classified data structures can be turned into a nested design when longitudinal samples from a single individual are analysed in the same batch (e.g. qPCR-plate), but this results in complicated re-ordering of samples and the potential for human error (Beirne et al., 2014; Nettle et al., 2015). Additionally, the intervals between laboratory analyses in the same long-term study can result in confounding effects with current approaches such as sequential analysis or randomisation (Takizawa et al., 2004; Spurgin et al., 2017; Swanson et al., 2015; Dantzer et al., 2013). The often used randomisation approach in long-term studies confounds analyses that are randomised separately, which commonly occurs, and does not allow flexible inclusion of currently analysed data in future analyses. The

approach to structuring samples for analysis in long-term studies and the associated statistical analyses requires consideration to cope with cross-classified data structures and confounding effects.

#### **1.11 Study species: European badgers (Meles meles)**

This thesis examines the relationships between environmental, genetic and parental effects and telomere length and associated life-history in a wild population of European badgers (*Meles meles*). European badgers are medium-sized carnivores that belong to the mustelid family (Kruuk, 1978a). Badgers are primarily nocturnal and live in underground dens, termed setts (Thornton, 1988). They are a facultatively social species and form large social groups (mean group size: 11.3, range 2–29; da Silva et al., 1994; Macdonald et al., 2015) in high-density populations (Johnson et al., 2000). Badger social groups, a collection of setts, have clearly demarcated territories (Buesching et al., 2016; Delahay et al., 2000), although badgers do cross these borders when foraging and meet amicably with neighbouring groups (Ellwood et al., 2017; Noonan et al., 2015).

In high-density populations, European badgers have a polygynandrous mating system (Dugdale et al., 2011a). Multiple breeding males and females are present in each social group, but reproductive skew exists among males and females within a social group (Dugdale et al., 2008). Reproductive activity occurs during a post-partum oestrus, and while matings can occur throughout the year a secondary mating peak exists in late summer (Buesching et al., 2009; Sugianto et al., 2019b). Mating and pregnancy are decoupled because females exhibit embryonic diapause, where the fertilised eggs cease development and are implanted in mid-winter (Yamaguchi et al., 2006). Female badgers are also capable of conception during pregnancy (i.e. superfetation), and within a single litter cubs can be sired by different fathers due to fertilisation

of a second ovum (i.e. superfecundation; Yamaguchi et al., 2006). Implantation occurs in midwinter with changes in photo-period (Canivenc and Bonnin, 1981) and cubs are born in February, with a mean litter size of 1.4 (±0.06 SE; range = 1–4; Dugdale et al., 2007). Cubs emerge from the underground den at 6–8 weeks old, are weaned at 12 weeks and reach independence at 14–16 weeks (Fell et al., 2006). Badgers exhibit two developmental strategies, with early developers reaching sexual maturity at 11 months old and late developers at 22–26 months old (Sugianto et al., 2019b). While cub growth rates and maturation depend on natal social conditions, these effects appear to be stronger for male cubs (Sugianto et al., 2019b; Sugianto et al., 2019a). Dispersal from the natal social group is low and within-group relatedness is high therefore, as a mechanism to reduce inbreeding, high rates of extra-group paternity occur (48%; Annavi et al., 2014b; Dugdale et al., 2007) which increases with fewer within-group candidate fathers.

Male badgers experience density-dependent increases in bite wound frequency (Macdonald et al., 2004a). There is male-biased sexual dimorphism (Johnson and Macdonald, 2001) and male-biased mortality (Bright Ross, unpublished data). Badgers mainly feed on earthworms (*Lumbricus terrestricus*; Johnson et al., 2001; Kruuk and Parish, 1981); thus, high badger densities occur in areas with mild and damp conditions where earthworms are available (Kruuk, 1978a; Macdonald et al., 2015; Newman et al., 2017). Earthworms are highly sensitive to microclimatic conditions (Edwards and Bohlen, 1996; Gerard, 1967; Newman et al., 2017), making their abundance highly dependent on weather patterns. While badgers preferentially eat earthworms, they do change to other food sources when earthworms are scarcely available (Macdonald et al., 2010).

Badgers undergo reproductive senescence, where the onset of reproductive senescence is later and steeper in males compared to females (Dugdale et al., 2011b). Additionally, male badgers show higher body mass senescence than females which is attributable to downstream effects of intra-sexual competition in early adulthood (Beirne et al., 2015). While badgers showed within-individual age-related declines in telomere length, these sex differences in senescence were not reflected in telomere length or the rate of shortening (Beirne et al., 2014). Badgers are detrimentally affected by early-life exposure to coccidia infection (Newman et al., 2001), oxidative stress (Bilham et al., 2018) and unseasonable weather variation (Macdonald et al., 2010; Noonan et al., 2014; Nouvellet et al., 2013). These detrimental effects may be linked to telomere length and therefore shape senescence patterns.

#### 1.12 Study site and trapping

Wytham Woods, Oxfordshire, UK (51°46′24″N, 1°20′04″W) is a 424 ha mixed semi-natural woodland site surrounded by mixed arable and permanent pasture (Macdonald and Newman, 2002; Macdonald et al., 2004b; Savill, 2010). The resident badger population has been continuously trapped since 1987, providing a life-history dataset on approximately 1600 badgers. The badger population density has increased since 1987 to a relatively constant current population density (range = 20.5–49.5 badgers/km<sup>2</sup>; Macdonald et al., 2015). This site has a mean of 19±2 (95% CI; range = 14–26; Dugdale et al., 2008) mixed-sex social groups (Johnson et al., 2002; Newman et al., 2011). The residing badger population is discrete geographically with a stable range (Macdonald et al., 2009) and <3% annual immigration/emigration (Macdonald and Newman, 2002). Cub survival probability ranges from 0.61–0.94 (mean±SE = 0.67±0.03; Macdonald et al., 2009), with a mean annual adult survival rate in this population of 0.83 (±0.01 SE; Macdonald et al., 2009) and a mean lifespan of 3.31 years (±3.51 SD; Bright Ross, J., Pers. Comm.). The annual recapture rate is 84% (SE = 1.3%; Macdonald et al., 2009).

Trapping was undertaken three or four times per year since 1987, over two weeks in May–June (Spring), August–September (Summer) and November (Autumn) with trapping in

January (Winter) in focal years. Badgers were trapped for two to three consecutive days per social group, with trapped badgers anaesthetised using an intra-muscular injection of 0.2 ml ketamine hydrochloride per kg body weight (McLaren et al., 2005) and identified by a unique tattoo number on the left inguinal region. Capture date, sett, social group (comprising several setts, i.e. burrow systems), sex, age-class (cub <1 year old; adult ≥1 year old) and morphometric measurements (i.e. length, weight, tooth wear; da Silva and Macdonald, 1989; Macdonald et al., 2009) were recorded for each badger. The age of a badger was defined as the number of days elapsed since the 14<sup>th</sup> of February in their respective birth year (reflecting the February birth peak; Yamaguchi et al., 2006). Badgers first caught as adults were aged through tooth wear, with a tooth wear 2 indicating a 1-year old adult (da Silva and Macdonald, 1989; Macdonald et al., 2009). Blood was collected by jugular venipuncture into vacutainers with an EDTA anticoagulant and stored at -20°C immediately. Badgers were released at their setts, after full recovery from anaesthesia. Bait-marking was conducted periodically to delimit group size ranges and calculate group sizes (Delahay et al., 2000; Annavi et al., 2014b; Macdonald et al., 2008).

### 1.13 Thesis aim and outline

In this thesis, I aim to examine the factors that contribute to individual variation in senescence patterns through telomere length as a biomarker of senescence, with extensive data on a wild population of European badgers (*Meles meles;* Figure 1.3). Specifically, I aim to: *i*) explore the link between telomere length and age, sex and life-history, and examine within-individual telomere dynamics; *ii*) investigate the change in immune cell profiles with age and any sexspecific associations with group size; *iii*) examine whether and how early-life intra-sexual group sizes and resource availability are reflected in early-life telomere length; *iv*) investigate parental age at conception effects and the contribution of additive genetic variance to the phenotypic
variance in telomere length; v) examine the importance of early-life conditions on fitness and the developing soma and the potential for adaptive life-history strategies in anticipation of the adult environment; and, vi) explore cross-classified data structures and confounding effects which are introduced by structuring samples for molecular analyses in long-term studies, and develop a novel approach for such analyses. I describe each of these chapters briefly below:

**Chapter 2** provides a comprehensive picture of the relationship between telomere length and age, telomere length and sex, within-individual telomere dynamics, whether any within-individual increase in telomere length is due to measurement error, and how telomere length is related to individual life-history in European badgers.

**Chapter 3** explores the change in leukocyte cell composition with age as a possible explanation for increases in telomere length with age, and examines whether leukocyte cell composition is associated with sex-specific responses to social group size.

**Chapter 4** investigates individual variation in early-life telomere length and whether effects of intra-sexual group sizes in early adulthood, natal group sizes and early-life weather conditions, as a proxy for resource availability, are reflected in early-life telomere length.

**Chapter 5** examines parental age at conception effects on offspring telomere length. Additionally, it explores how phenotypic variance in telomere length is separated into additive genetic and environmental variance using the 'animal model'.

**Chapter 6** explores whether silver-spoon effects are reflected in lifespan, and whether individuals are capable of an adaptive response based on the anticipated future somatic state (i.e. internal PAR). Additionally, it tests whether adaptive life-history strategies occur based on the similarity between the natal environment and adult environment (i.e. external PAR).

**Chapter 7** examines the potential for confounding effects and cross-classified data structures in long-term studies which arise through the inability to separate variation in variables

20

of interest from confounding effects, and describes a novel method to structuring samples for analyses that overcomes these issues.

Finally, **Chapter 8** provides a general discussion and consideration of the work contained within this thesis.



Figure 1.3: Schematic of PhD chapters. Representation of specific factors within fields that may be linked to telomere length and therefore an individual's biological state or senescence patterns.

# Chapter 2: Individual variation in early-life telomere length and survival in a wild mammal

The following paper, van Lieshout S.H.J., Bretman, A., Newman, C., Buesching, C.D., Macdonald, D.W.M, Dugdale, H.L. (2019) Individual variation in early-life telomere length and survival in a wild mammal. Molecular Ecology, 28, 4152 – 4165, is a modified version of this chapter.

I was responsible for conception and development of the study and I conducted laboratory work, statistical analyses and manuscript writing. Co-authors provided advice on data analysis and comments on draft manuscripts.

# 2.1 Abstract

Individual variation in survival probability due to differential responses to early-life environmental conditions is important in the evolution of life-histories and senescence. A biomarker allowing quantification of such individual variation, and which links early-life environmental conditions with survival by providing a measure of conditions experienced, is telomere length. Here, we examined telomere dynamics among 24 cohorts of European badgers (*Meles meles*). We found a complex cross-sectional relationship between telomere length and age, with no apparent loss over the first 29 months, but with both decreases and increases in telomere length at older ages. Overall, we found low within-individual consistency in telomere length across individual lifetimes. Importantly, we also observed increases in telomere length within individuals, which could not be explained by measurement error alone. We found no significant sex differences in telomere length, and provide evidence that early-life telomere length predicts lifespan. However, while early-life telomere length predicted survival to adulthood ( $\geq 1$  year old), early-life telomere length did not predict adult survival probability. Furthermore, adult telomere length did not predict survival to the subsequent year. These results show that the relationship between early-life telomere length and lifespan was driven by conditions in early-life, where early-life telomere length varied strongly among cohorts. Our data provide evidence for associations between early-life telomere length and individual life-history, and highlight the dynamics of telomere length across individual lifetimes due to individuals experiencing different early-life environments.

# 2.2 Introduction

Species from most taxa exhibit a loss of performance in later-life that increases the probability of mortality (Medawar, 1952; Williams, 1957). This process of senescence is common, but highly variable across taxa (Jones et al., 2014) and even within species (Campbell et al., 2017; Dugdale

et al., 2011b; Nussey et al., 2009). Pioneering laboratory studies using controlled environments have provided important insights into senescence patterns, but cannot explain the remarkable variation in the onset and rate of senescence in wild populations, where selection acts under naturally varying conditions (Partridge and Gems, 2007). Hence, studies of wild populations have informed understanding of how early-life environments shape individual senescence patterns (Cooper and Kruuk, 2018; Lemaitre et al., 2015; Nussey et al., 2013). This understanding has been further improved by quantification of extrinsic effects through biomarkers that reflect ecological effects that are otherwise difficult to measure (Bebbington et al., 2016; Spurgin et al., 2017).

Telomere length, which reflects the physiological consequences of within-individual experiences and facilitates between-individual comparisons, is a biomarker of senescence (Monaghan and Haussmann, 2006). Telomeres are non-coding hexameric repeats (5'-TTAGGG-3') that, with associated shelterin proteins, prevent end-to-end fusion of linear chromosomes and maintain genomic integrity (Blackburn, 2000; de Lange, 2004). Telomeres shorten with age due to incomplete DNA-replication at the 3'-end of the DNA-strand (Olovnikov, 1973). This occurs more rapidly in early-life due to higher levels of cellular division during growth (Frenck et al., 1998; Hall et al., 2004), or in response to metabolically demanding activities (e.g. reproduction; Heidinger et al., 2012; coping with stress/disease; Epel et al., 2004; Willeit et al., 2010). The amount of telomeric DNA lost in each cell division depends on cellular conditions (Monaghan and Ozanne, 2018) and oxidative stress (Reichert and Stier, 2017; von Zglinicki, 2002; but see Boonekamp, 2017). Telomeres can, however, be replenished by telomerase, the telomere-elongating enzyme (Blackburn et al., 1989). Telomerase is transcriptionally repressed later in development (Blackburn et al., 1989), but alternative pathways for telomere lengthening do exist (Cesare and Reddel, 2010; Mendez-Bermudez et al., 2012). Telomere shortening occurs until cells enter a state of arrest, inducing replicative senescence, where the accumulation of senescent cells, due to progressive loss of regenerative capacity (Campisi and di Fagagna, 2007), can impair tissue functioning (Armanios and Blackburn, 2012; Campisi, 2005).

Variation in the rate of telomere shortening occurs among organisms (Monaghan, 2010). For example, mean human leukocyte telomere length shows a biphasic decline with age, with rapid shortening in early-life followed by slower attrition in adulthood (Aubert and Lansdorp, 2008). Correlations among within-individual telomere measurements in humans were high (0.82–0.93; Benetos et al., 2013), which corroborates the high individual repeatability (i.e. 81– 83%) in telomere length in wild populations using TRF (telomere restriction fragment) methods (Bauch et al., 2013; Boonekamp et al., 2014). However, longitudinal studies in wild populations using a qPCR (quantitative-PCR) approach across individual lifetimes reported much lower (i.e. 7–13%) individual repeatability in telomere length (Fairlie et al., 2016; Spurgin et al., 2017), indicating that telomeres are highly dynamic over individual lifetimes. Indeed, telomere length can both decrease and increase with age (Bateson and Nettle, 2016), which has been attributed to measurement error (Steenstrup et al., 2013) but cannot be explained by measurement error alone (Spurgin et al., 2017). Telomere length can therefore exhibit complex relationships with age, explained by within-individual changes, and provide a measure of conditions experienced that links to individual life-history.

Telomere length has been linked positively to survival to adulthood and/or annual adult survival probability in both captive (Heidinger et al., 2012) and wild populations (Asghar et al., 2015b; Barrett et al., 2013; Cram et al., 2017; Fairlie et al., 2016; Haussmann et al., 2005). Even though other studies have tested for, but not found such associations (Beaulieu et al., 2011; Sudyka et al., 2014), a meta-analysis in nonhuman vertebrates reported an overall association between short telomeres and higher mortality risk (Wilbourn et al., 2018). While this provides evidence for a link between telomere length and life-history, whether telomere length plays a direct causal role in senescence, because telomeres are integral to organismal function, or acts as a noncausal biomarker of somatic integrity remains currently unclear (Simons, 2015; Young, 2018).

Compelling evidence exists that early-life conditions such as maternal effects, developmental stress and competition for resources (e.g. Asghar et al., 2015a; Cram et al., 2017; Haussmann et al., 2012) can be particularly influential in shaping telomere length. The greater strength of early-life than late-life effects could be due to stronger forces of selection, since natural selection acts on the proportion of a cohort that is alive, which is greatest in early-life (Hamilton, 1966). However, greater selection in early-life is affected by a trade-off between parental and offspring survival (Lee, 2003; Lee, 2008), causing the evolutionary paradigm around early-life telomere length to remain relatively poorly understood (Vedder et al., 2017). Nevertheless, early-life telomere length might be an important predictor of life-histories (Monaghan, 2010; Wilbourn et al., 2018; Young, 2018). While studies into the effects of the environment on telomeres are emerging in wild mammals (Cram et al., 2017; Izzo et al., 2011; Lewin et al., 2015), longitudinal studies in wild mammals remain relatively rare (Beirne et al., 2014; Fairlie et al., 2016). Gaining a better understanding of telomere dynamics, its relationship with survival, and early-life effects requires more comprehensive longitudinal studies in wild populations.

The European badger (*Meles meles*; henceforth 'badger') provides an informative mammalian model species for studying the effects of early-life conditions on telomere length and senescence patterns. We benefit here from a long-term study of badgers at Wytham Woods (Oxford, UK; Macdonald et al., 2015); an almost closed population (see Macdonald et al., 2008) with a high and relatively consistent annual recapture rate of 84% (SE = 1.3%; Macdonald et al., 2009) over 1726 life-histories monitored seasonally since 1987. In this population, badgers live

27

in polygynandrous social groups (mean group size: 11.3, range: 2–29; da Silva et al., 1994), and show reproductive senescence (Dugdale et al., 2011b). Badgers have one litter per year (mean litter size 1.4±0.06 SE; range 1–4; Dugdale et al., 2007), where cubs emerge from underground dens at 6–8 weeks of age, are weaned at 12 weeks, and reach independence at 14–16 weeks old (Fell et al., 2006). Cub survival probability ranges from 61–94% (mean±SE = 67%±3%; Macdonald et al., 2009), and cub cohorts are negatively impacted by early-life exposure to endo-parasitic coccidia infection (Newman et al., 2001), oxidative stress (Bilham et al., 2018) and unseasonable weather variation (Macdonald et al., 2010; Noonan et al., 2014; Nouvellet et al., 2013). We therefore posit that strong selection pressures on badger cubs may be reflected in their telomere length and survival probability.

Here, we investigate longitudinal telomere dynamics among 24 cohorts in wild badgers. Relative leukocyte telomere length (RLTL) measurements were used to test: (i) age-related variation in RLTL and the extent to which this was driven by within-individual changes, and both cohort and sex effects; (ii) the repeatability of RLTL and whether within-individual changes in telomere length are attributed to measurement error; and (iii) whether early-life and adult RLTL predict survival and lifespan.

#### 2.3 Methods

# 2.3.1 Study system

We conducted this study in Wytham Woods, Oxfordshire, UK (51°46'24"N, 1°20'04"W), a 424 ha mixed semi-natural woodland site surrounded by mixed arable and permanent pasture (Macdonald and Newman, 2002; Macdonald et al., 2004b; Savill, 2010). The resident high-density badger population (range = 20.5–49.5 badgers/km<sup>2</sup>; Macdonald et al., 2015) forms large social groups (Johnson et al., 2000). Badger social groups have clearly demarcated territories (Buesching et al., 2016; Delahay et al., 2000), although badgers do cross these borders when

foraging and meet amicably with neighbouring groups (Ellwood et al., 2017; Noonan et al., 2015). Mean annual adult survival rates in this population are 0.83 (±0.01 SE; Macdonald et al., 2009) with a mean adult lifespan of 4.96 years (±3.21 SD; Bright Ross, J., Pers. Comm.).

Trapping has been undertaken three or four times per year since 1987, for two to three consecutive days per social group. Trapped badgers were anaesthetised using an intra-muscular injection of 0.2 ml ketamine hydrochloride per kg body weight (McLaren et al., 2005) and identified by a unique tattoo number on the left inguinal region. Capture date, sett, social group (comprising several setts, i.e. burrow systems), sex, age-class (cub <1 year old; adult  $\geq$ 1 year old) and morphometric measurements (i.e. length, weight, tooth wear; da Silva and Macdonald, 1989; Macdonald et al., 2009) were recorded for each badger. Badger age was defined as the number of days elapsed since the 14<sup>th</sup> of February in their respective birth year (reflecting the February birth peak; Yamaguchi et al., 2006). Blood was collected by jugular venipuncture into vacutainers with an EDTA anticoagulant, and stored at -20°C immediately. Badgers were released at their setts, after full recovery from anaesthesia.

#### 2.3.2 Telomere analyses

We selected 1248 blood samples from 612 individuals, representing 308 males and 304 females, comprising individuals varying in lifespan (range: 14–233 months; mean±SE = 97.2±1.88 months) and from different cohorts (n = 24). Only badgers for which age could be determined, either trapped as a cub (n = 545) or inferred through low tooth wear, were included (n = 67; males = 26, females = 41; tooth wear 1 indicates a cub and tooth wear 2 indicates a 1-year-old adult (da Silva and Macdonald, 1989; Macdonald et al., 2009), where young individuals also had to have length <685 mm and weight <8 kg). Individuals were either sampled once (n = 163) or more (n = 449 badgers; 2–9 times per individual) for telomere length analyses. Only badgers which were

considered dead at the time of analysis were included. All analyses were also run without the 67 individuals for which age was determined through tooth wear, to confirm that inclusion of these samples did not bias the results (see supporting results S1).

Genomic DNA was extracted from whole blood using the DNeasy Blood & Tissue kit (Qiagen, Manchester, UK) according to the manufacturer's protocol, with adjustments using 125  $\mu$ l of anticoagulated blood and a double elution step (2x 75  $\mu$ l AE buffer). DNA integrity was assessed by running a random selection of DNA extracts (ca. 20%) on agarose gels to check for high molecular weight. DNA concentration of all samples was quantified using the Fluostar Optima fluorometer (BMG Labtech, Ortenberg, Germany) and standardized to 20 ng/ $\mu$ l, after which samples were stored at -20 °C.

30

were loaded manually with initial reaction volumes of 20 µl. Each well contained 10 µl of SYBR<sup>®</sup> Select Master Mix (Applied Biosystems, Warrington, UK), 4.9 µl of nuclease free water, 0.9 µM of both the forward and reverse primers (900 nM) and 1.5 µl of 20 ng/µl DNA sample (which was replaced with 1.5 µl of nuclease free water in controls) and sealed with PCR-plate film adhesive. Cycling conditions in the Quantstudio 12K flex real-time PCR system (Applied Biosystems, Warrington, UK) were: 50°C for 2 min and 95°C for 2 min, followed by 2 cycles at 94°C for 15 sec and 49°C for 15 sec, then 40 cycles at 94°C for 15 sec, at 60°C for 10 sec, at 74°C for 15 sec, at 84°C for 10 sec and 86°C for 15 sec. A serially diluted (4x from 80 to 0.3125 ng/µl) 'reference' sample was included on each qPCR plate to produce a standard curve to calculate plate efficiencies, where the 20 ng/µl dilution was used as a calibrator. The reference sample was collected from a badger in 2005 and was subject to the same capture methods and long-term storage as the other samples that we analysed.

Samples were randomly allocated to qPCR plates and run in duplicate in adjacent wells, after which amplicon lengths and telomeric sequences were confirmed on the Agilent TapeStation 4200 and 3730 DNA Analyzer (Applied Biosystems, Warrington, UK) with the Big Dye 3.1 cycle sequencing kit (Applied Biosystems, Warrington, UK). Cq-values on the 34 qPCR plates declined in a log-linear fashion (r<sup>2</sup>>0.99). Using LinRegPCR 2017.1 (Ruijter et al., 2009) we corrected for baseline fluorescence, determined the windows of linearity for the amplification curves (0.432 for IRBP and 0.694 for telomeres) and calculated efficiencies and Cq-values for each well. Reaction efficiencies were (mean±SE) 1.793±0.004 for IRBP and 1.909±0.004 for telomeres, and we calculated RLTL according to Pfaffl (2001):

$$RLTL = \frac{(E_{tel}^{(Cq_{tel(calibrator)} - Cq_{tel(sample)}))}}{(E_{IRBP}^{(Cq_{IRBP}(calibrator) - Cq_{IRBP(sample)}))}$$

where  $E_{tel}$  and  $E_{IRBP}$  represent the mean well efficiencies for each of the amplicons,  $Cq_{tel(calibrator)}$ and  $Cq_{IRBP(calibrator)}$  are the mean Cq-values for the calibrators (20 ng/µl) for each amplicon and  $Cq_{tel(sample)}$  and  $Cq_{IRBP(sample)}$  are the mean Cq-values for both amplicons in each sample.

Inter-plate repeatability (intraclass correlation coefficient), calculated with rptR 0.9.2 (Stoffel et al., 2017), was calculated with the reference sample by comparing variance among duplicates of the reference sample within a plate, to variance of the reference sample among plates and estimated at 0.82 (95% CI = 0.76-0.87; n = 142 samples; 34 plates). Intra-plate repeatability was calculated with duplicates of the same sample on the same plate, while controlling for plate effects, and estimated at 0.90 (95% CI = 0.86-0.93; n = 1248 samples; 34 plates) for IRBP, 0.84 (95% CI = 0.79-0.90; n = 1248 samples; 34 plates) for telomere Cq-values and 0.87 (95% CI = 0.82-0.91; n = 1248 samples; 34 plates) for RLTL measurements (for further details on quality control see supporting methods).

#### 2.3.3 Statistical analyses

Statistical analyses were conducted in R 3.3.1 (R Development Core Team, 2019), with RLTL measurements square-root transformed to meet the assumptions of Gaussian error distributions in models with RLTL as the response variable.

# 2.3.3.1 Age, sex and cohort effects on telomere length

We assessed the relationship between RLTL and age (months), and the interaction with cohort, following Fairlie et al. (2016) and Spurgin et al. (2017). We tested a variety of age functions in General Linear Mixed Models (GLMMs; Bates et al., 2015) that included individual ID, plate ID and year as random effects, and sex, sample storage time (months), and in some models cohort, as fixed effects. We checked for collinearity and found that sample storage time and cohort were

collinear (VIF>3), since sample storage time is similar within cohorts. We therefore first determined that sample storage time was not associated with telomere length ( $\beta$  = -0.006±0.010 SE,  $X^2$  = 0.383, d.f. = 1, *P* = 0.536) and then excluded it from subsequent models. We considered a null model (without the age terms), polynomial age terms (linear, quadratic, cubic), a full-factorial age term and a variety of threshold functions. Visual inspection of the data indicated inflection points, with further specification of inflection points through comparison of AIC values, at 29, 65 and 112 months of age. These threshold models (with either a single, double or triple threshold) were compared to all other models. We ran additional models to test whether adding a cohort fixed effect and an interaction between age and cohort improved the model, using AIC values. We did not fully apply model selection or averaging, as we aimed to compare a set of specifically defined models, where the model with the lowest AIC fits these data best, but we considered all plausible models with  $\Delta$ AIC <7.

We then tested age-specific sex differences in telomere length through an interaction between age and sex in the best fitting age model and all non-significant interactions were dropped. In the same model we included age at last capture ( $\alpha_i$ ), as a measure of lifespan (van de Pol and Verhulst, 2006), to test if selective disappearance of individuals contributed to the age pattern observed. We also compared, in the same model, within-individual ( $\beta_W$ ) to betweenindividual ( $\beta_B$ ) slopes, where the difference between these slopes is exactly the effect of selective disappearance (van de Pol and Verhulst, 2006). In a separate model we tested the significance of the between-individual component by replacing age parameters by within-group deviation scores (age -  $\alpha_i$ ).

2.3.3.2 Individual repeatability and telomere elongation

Individual repeatability (across multiple samples from the same individual) was calculated by dividing the variance explained by individual identity by total phenotypic variance, in a Gaussiandistributed model (identity link function), across all samples (n = 1248) and then only for adult samples (n = 779). These models included RLTL as the response variable and the best fitting age variable and cohort as fixed effects, with individual ID and plate ID as random effects. The variance explained by plate ID was then excluded from the total phenotypic variance as it is a source of experimental measurement error and therefore not biologically relevant phenotypic variance; thus, it could lead to underestimation of repeatability (Dochtermann et al., 2015). Additionally, we determined the correlation between within-individual telomere measurements, using the marginal  $R^2$  (Nakagawa and Schielzeth, 2013), in a Gaussian-distributed model (identity link function) with RLTL as the response variable, RLTL at t+1, cohort and age (months) as fixed effects and individual ID as a random effect.

We examined increases in RLTL with age by estimating differences in telomere lengths among technical replicates, i.e. duplicates next to each other within a plate, and among withinindividual samples, i.e. difference in RLTL between within-individual samples. We used MCMCgImm (Hadfield, 2010) with an inverse Wishart prior (v = 1, nu = 0.002), 600,000 iterations, a thinning of 300 and burn-in period of 15,000 iterations, to test whether within-individual changes in RLTL were greater than measurement error. We randomly selected two samples per individual, and built a model with RLTL as the response variable and individual ID and plate ID as random effects (n = 898 samples; 449 individuals). We then randomly selected one set of duplicates per individual, and constructed a model with RLTL for each of the technical replicates as the response variable and individual ID as a random effect (n = 898 samples; 449 individuals). We compared the explained variance by the random effect for individual ID between these two models and whether the 95% credible intervals overlapped. Additionally, we separated the dataset into groups that either increased or decreased in RLTL and ran these models again for these groups separately. We also tested if the residual error variance ( $\bar{\sigma}_{\varepsilon}^2$ ) was smaller than the error variance in RLTL, when RLTL can increase or decrease ( $\sigma_{\varepsilon}^{'2}$ ), following Simons et al. (2014), which would reject the hypothesis that RLTL shows no elongation.

### 2.3.3.3 Telomere length, survival and lifespan

We used GLMMs to test the relationship between early-life RLTL (<1 year old) and lifespan (n =435). In the following models, we conducted model averaging, using an information theoretic approach to select plausible models and estimate the relative importance of fixed effects for models with ΔAIC <7 with the "natural average method" (Burnham et al., 2011). All four models included sex as a fixed factor, and plate ID and natal social group as random effects. Early-life RLTL did not vary with age (n = 435,  $\beta = -0.002 \pm 0.006$  SE,  $X^2 = 0.160$ , d.f. = 1, P = 0.690); therefore, age was not included in GLMMs with early-life RLTL as a fixed effect. Firstly, early-life RLTL as a predictor of lifespan was modelled with lifespan as the response variable (n = 435), including early-life RLTL and cohort as additional fixed effects in a Poisson-distributed model (log link function). We also controlled for overdispersion by including observation (for each unique measure) as a random effect (Harrison, 2014). Lifespan was determined as the age at last capture. To ensure the different survival probabilities for cubs and adults did not alter the results we also ran a model (see Table S2.1) with lifespan calculated in months as the difference between the date of birth and last capture, with 24 months added when last captured as adults, due to a 95% recapture interval of 2 years (Dugdale et al., 2007), and 12 months as cub, due to their different survival rates (Macdonald et al., 2009). Secondly, we modelled survival to adulthood ( $\geq 1$  year old) using a binary term in a binomial (logit link function) mixed-effects model with early-life RLTL (n = 435) and cohort as additional fixed effects. Thirdly, we used a Cox mixedeffects model to test whether early-life RLTL predicts annual adult survival probability over the lifetime of individuals that survived their first year. The model included early-life RLTL (n = 336) as an additional fixed effect, and cohort as an additional random effect. Finally, we tested the relationship between adult RLTL (n = 779) and survival to the subsequent year, in a binomially-distributed model (logit link function) with RLTL interacting with age (based on the best fitting model) as an additional fixed effect and individual ID (correcting for multiple measures per individual), cohort, current social group and year as additional random effects.

#### 2.4 Results

# 2.4.1 Age, sex and cohort effects on telomere length

Across all samples, after no change up to and including 29 months of age, RLTL increased up to and including 65 months, followed by a decline up to and including 112 months, with a second increase in RLTL in older age (Table 2.1; Figure 2.1). Two models had ΔAIC <7, with the top model including all thresholds, and the second-best model with thresholds at 65 and 112 months, where both models included a fixed factor for cohort (Table S2.2 and Figure S2.1). Males and females had similar telomere lengths (Table 2.1) and there was no evidence for different age patterns by sex. Cohorts from earlier years (1987–1992) had lower and more variable early-life RLTL measurements than those from subsequent years (Figure 2.2a). We thus repeated these analyses where these cohorts were omitted, which showed that these cohorts did not alter the results (see supporting results S2).

Table 2.1: Parameter estimates from the models that best explained the relationship between telomere length and age, when accounting for selective disappearance (n = 1248 samples; 612 individuals).  $\beta_W$  = within-individual slope,  $\beta_s$  = selective disappearance according to age at last capture,  $\beta_B$  = between-individual slope,  $\alpha_i$  = between-individual component, S.E. = standard error, d.f. = degrees of freedom. *P*-values from log-likelihood ratio tests, where significant parameters are in bold.

Parameters	β	S.E.	d.f.	p-value	β <sub>B</sub> (β <sub>S</sub> + β <sub>W</sub> )
Model 1 <sup>+</sup> :					
Intercept	0.6259	0.0527			
Age ( $\leq$ 29 months) ( $\beta_W$ )	0.000029	0.00054	1	0.958	0.000199
(>29, $\leq$ 65 months) ( $\beta_{W}$ )	0.002130	0.00051	1	<0.001	0.002301
(>65, ≤ 112 months) (β <sub>w</sub> )	-0.00210	0.00063	1	<0.001	-0.001924
(> 112 months) (β <sub>w</sub> )	0.004008	0.00143	1	0.005	0.004179
Sex (male)	0.008045	0.00687	1	0.242	
Cohort <sup>§</sup>			23	<0.001	
Lifespan (β <sub>S</sub> )	0.000171	0.000093	1	0.068	
Model 2 <sup>+</sup> :					
Intercept	0.6259	0.0527			
Age ( $\leq$ 29 months) ( $\beta_{W}$ )	0.000029	0.00054	1	0.958	
(>29, ≤ 65 months) (β <sub>W</sub> )	0.002130	0.00051	1	<0.001	
$(>65, \le 112 \text{ months})$ ( $\beta_{W}$ )	-0.00210	0.00063	1	<0.001	
(> 112 months) (β <sub>w</sub> )	0.004008	0.00143	1	0.005	
Sex (male)	0.008045	0.00687	1	0.242	
Cohort <sup>§</sup>			23	<0.001	
α <sub>i</sub> (β <sub>B</sub> )	0.004242	0.00138	1	0.004	

Random effect estimates (variance): <sup>†</sup>Individual ID (4.851\*10-5), Plate (1.067\*10-3), Social group (6.062\*10-5), Year (3.731\*10-3), Residual (1.295\*10-2); <sup>§</sup>Estimates  $\pm$  S.E. for 24 cohorts are in the supporting information (Figure S2.1).

Selective disappearance of individuals was accounted for by including age at last capture  $(\beta_S)$  in the best fitting age model, which was borderline significant (Table 2.1). However, there was a between-individual effect  $(\beta_B)$  and a within-individual effect  $(\beta_W)$  for individuals aged 29 months or older, where the difference between these slopes is due to selective disappearance of individuals with shorter telomeres (Table 2.1). Consequently, selective disappearance of individuals with shorter telomeres did contribute to the age pattern observed.



Figure 2.1: Age-related variation in relative leukocyte telomere length (RLTL), with inflection points at 29, 65 and 112 months of age. Raw data points (n = 1,248) are shown with fitted lines representing the model prediction for RLTL (T/S ratio) with 95% confidence intervals.

### 2.4.2 Individual repeatability and telomere elongation

Individual repeatability was 0.017 (95% CI = 0.001–0.098) including cub and adult RLTL estimates, and 0.026 (95% CI = 0.001–0.143) using only RLTL measurements from adulthood. These repeatabilities changed to 0.022 (95% CI = 0.001–0.103) and 0.039 (95% CI = 0.001–0.154), respectively, when plate variance (measurement error) was removed from the phenotypic variances, so 2.2% of the variance in RLTL was explained by within-individual consistency among samples. There was no significant correlation between RLTL measured at different time points in the same individual (marginal  $R^2 = 0.067$ ;  $X^2 = 0.92$ , P = 0.336; Figure 2.2b).



Figure 2.2: Telomere dynamics in European badgers. a) Variation in early-life relative leukocyte telomere length (RLTL) among cohorts. b) Longitudinal telomere dynamics for 41 individuals that were measured at least four times. c) Within-individual variation in RLTL over consecutive time points (t and t+1). Dashed line represents parity, thus data points above and below this line represent increases and decreases in telomere length, respectively. d) Scaled density plots of changes in RLTL among technical replicates (dark grey) and among individual samples (light grey) with a dotted line representing no change. Areas left of the dotted line represent decreases in RLTL, while to the right represent increases.



Figure 2.3: Early-life (<1 year old) relative leukocyte telomere length (RLTL) predicts lifespan. Raw data (n = 435) are shown as open circles, the regression from the GLMM as a black line, and the 95% confidence interval as the shaded area.

Increases (in the range of 0.004–5.829% per month) in RLTL were identified in 61.2% of within-individual changes (Figure 2.2c) for individuals with  $\geq$ 2 samples (n = 449). When accounting for plate effects using MCMCglmm, the random effect estimate for individual ID with technical replicates was 0.0331 (95% CI = 0.0290–0.0376), whereas for within-individual samples the random effect estimate was 0.0014 (95% CI = 0.0003–0.0044; Figure 2.2d). For the group that exhibited increases in RLTL the random effect estimate for individual ID with technical replicates was 0.0345 (95% CI = 0.0289–0.0424), whereas for within-individual samples this estimate was 0.0016 (95% CI = 0.0003–0.0058). The random effect estimate for technical replicates in the group that exhibited decreases in RLTL was 0.0359 (95% CI = 0.0310–0.0452)

and for within-individual samples this estimate was 0.0006 (95% CI = 0.0003–0.0045), where none of the 95% credible intervals from the technical replicates and within-individual samples overlapped. Additionally, residual variance among samples was smaller ( $\bar{\sigma}_{\varepsilon}^2$  = 0.041) than the overall change in RLTL ( $\sigma_{\varepsilon}'^2$  = 0.922; F<sub>31,40</sub> = 22.48, *P* <0.001). These within-individual increases in RLTL were therefore not solely due to measurement error.



Figure 2.4: Parameter estimates and 95% confidence intervals of fixed effects from models investigating the effect of: a) Early-life RLTL (relative leukocyte telomere length) on lifespan; b) Early-life RLTL on survival to adulthood; and, c) Adult RLTL on survival to the next year. Age parameters in plot c) refer to threshold model where Age 1  $\leq$ 29 months old, Age 2 >29 and  $\leq$ 65 months old, Age 3 >65 and  $\leq$ 112 months old and Age 4 >112 months old. Scale differs in plot c). For cohort effects see Figure S2.2. \* represents an interaction.

# 2.4.3 Telomere length, survival and lifespan

Early-life RLTL (<1 year old) was positively associated with lifespan (Figure 2.3 and 2.4a; Table S2.3 and S2.4), where individuals with longer telomeres in early-life had longer lifespans, such that an increase of 1 T/S ratio was associated with 13.3% greater longevity. However, this association was underpinned by survival benefits in early-life and not in adulthood as early-life RLTL only predicted survival to adulthood (Figure 2.5 and 2.4b; Table S2.4 and S2.5). In contrast, early-life RLTL showed no relationship with annual adult survival probability (Table S2.4) and adult RLTL showed no association with survival to the subsequent year (Figure 2.4c; Table S2.4

and S2.6), but all models indicated an effect of cohort on survival and lifespan (Figure S2.2; Table S2.4).



Figure 2.5: Early-life (<1 year old) relative leukocyte telomere length (RLTL) predicts survival to adulthood ( $\geq$ 1 year old). The regression line from a binomial GLMM is shown, with associated 95% confidence interval as a shaded area, and raw jittered data as open circles (n = 435).

# 2.5 Discussion

We found complex telomere dynamics with no apparent change ( $\leq$ 29 months of age), decreases (i.e. between >65 and  $\leq$ 112 months) and increases in RLTL with age (>29 and  $\leq$ 65, and >112 months). This pattern was mainly due to within-individual changes. However, selective disappearance of individuals with shorter telomeres contributed to the age pattern observed when age at last capture was included (as a measure of selective disappearance) and within- and

between-individual slopes were compared. While the lack of change in RLTL in early-life contrasts with previous studies that have reported rapid declines in RLTL with age in early-life (Aubert and Lansdorp, 2008; Baerlocher et al., 2003), we are unable to sample individuals until at least 3 months of age, due to welfare legislation (Protection of Badgers Act, 1992), and therefore we may miss the period where the greatest changes in RLTL occur. The combination of selective mortality and within-individual changes in RLTL was also reported in wild Soay sheep (*Ovis aries*; Fairlie et al., 2016), providing evidence for complex relationships between telomere length and age.

Male and female badgers had similar telomere lengths across all ages, corroborating recent findings in wild meerkats (*Suricata suricatta*) and European badgers in Woodchester (Beirne et al., 2014; Cram et al., 2017), but contrasting with age-specific sex differences in telomere length in Soay sheep (Ovis aries; Watson et al., 2017). The lack of age-specific sex differences in badgers and meerkats could be due to males and females having similar lifespans, whereas in Soay sheep females live much longer than males (Cram et al., 2017; Fairlie et al., 2016; Macdonald and Newman, 2002).

Individual repeatability in RLTL was only 2.2% throughout an individual's lifespan. The point estimate was higher (3.9%) when only including RLTL measurements in adulthood, but the 95% confidence intervals overlapped greatly, and within-individual RLTL measurements were not correlated. Within-individual RLTL correlations in humans were high (0.82–0.93; Benetos et al., 2013) and individual repeatability in RLTL in avian TRF studies was also high (81%–83%; Bauch et al., 2013; Boonekamp et al., 2014). In contrast, lifelong qPCR studies in wild populations provide substantially lower repeatability estimates (7%; Spurgin et al., 2017; 13%; Fairlie et al., 2016). The individual repeatability estimate in RLTL in our system is in the lower spectrum of qPCR-studies. Such a low individual repeatability indicates that the within-individual slopes in

RLTL across ages are different. RLTL is therefore highly variable within individuals across their lifetimes, where positive within-individual changes indicate some active process in increasing telomere length.

Telomere elongation, particularly in qPCR-based studies, is often attributed to measurement error (Steenstrup et al., 2013; Verhulst et al., 2015). It is, however, becoming more apparent in wild population studies that telomeres do elongate (Fairlie et al., 2016; Hoelzl et al., 2016a; Hoelzl et al., 2016b; Kotrschal et al., 2007; Spurgin et al., 2017). Our study supports this, using monochrome multiplex qPCR that, in principle, reduces measurement error due to reactions occurring in the same well. Additionally, we found that residual variance among samples was smaller than the overall change in RLTL, and variance among technical replicates was smaller than among-sample variation, indicating that increases in mean telomere length with age were not due to measurement error alone.

Aside from actual telomere elongation, however, we acknowledge the potential for competing mechanisms that could alter mean RLTL, notably changes in leukocyte cell composition with age (Kimura et al., 2010; Linton and Dorshkind, 2004; Pawelec et al., 2010; Weng, 2012). Mammalian leukocytes are nucleated and different leukocyte cell types have different telomere lengths due to their respective functional capacities to proliferate and express telomerase (Aubert and Lansdorp, 2008; Weng, 2001), and these vary in ratio over time with health/immune status (see Davis et al., 2008). For instance, an innate immune response can cause a granulocyte-biased leukocyte ratio, where in humans and baboons the granulocytes have longer telomeres than lymphocytes (Baerlocher et al., 2007; Kimura et al., 2010). While a previous study of RLTL in wild Soay sheep did not find changes in leukocyte cell composition with age (Watson et al., 2017), leukocyte cell composition in badgers does vary between similar aged cubs and across an individual's lifespan due to changes in immune system activation (Montes,

2007). A greater metabolic rate while clearing infection could also modify leukocyte cell composition and potentially affect mean RLTL directly. For instance, badger cubs are typically infected with coccidia (Newman et al., 2001), causing a strong innate immune response and oxidative stress (Bilham et al., 2013; Bilham et al., 2018). A change in an individual's immunological status, along with age, may therefore alter individual leukocyte cell composition and might contribute to RLTL elongation in this study.

Our study shows a positive relationship between early-life RLTL and lifespan, driven by survival benefits of long telomeres in early-life, rather than in adulthood. This is congruent with previous studies reporting that early-life RLTL predicts lifespan more strongly than RLTL in adulthood (Fairlie et al., 2016; Heidinger et al., 2012) and where early-life RLTL predicts survival to adulthood in nonhuman mammals (Cram et al., 2017; Fairlie et al., 2016). Early-life RLTL in badgers does predict survival to adulthood, but not adult survival probability. Cubs have higher mortality rates than adults (Macdonald et al., 2009), which could drive this association between early-life RLTL and lifespan. In contrast, adult RLTL in badgers did not predict survival to the following year, whereas other studies found that adult RLTL does predict survival to the next year (e.g. Barrett et al., 2013). The lack of such an association in our study system could be due to, for example, most of our RLTL measurements in later adulthood ( $\geq 2$  years) being from longlived individuals, indicating a sampling bias with fewer samples in later adulthood from individuals with shorter lifespans. The interplay between adult RLTL and the adult environment, or in combination with the early-life environment, also requires understanding to explain the link between adult RLTL and adult survival to the next year. Even though early-life RLTL predicts survival probability in badgers, it remains currently unclear how RLTL and life-history are linked (Simons, 2015; Young, 2018). A direct link might exist through delayed cellular senescence when telomeres are longer (von Zglinicki et al., 2001). However, an indirect link exists when telomeres function as a biomarker of somatic redundancy and reflect the accumulated damage to other biological structures that have deleterious effects on fitness (Boonekamp et al., 2013; Young, 2018).

The early-life environment clearly exerted a strong effect on early-life RLTL, apparent from the pronounced variation in early-life RLTL we noted among cohorts, which corroborates the variation in survival rate and lifespan among cohorts in our study system (Macdonald and Newman, 2002; Macdonald et al., 2010). Badgers in our study are exposed to variable environmental conditions and have a limited tolerance for, for example, cohort-specific weather conditions (i.e. higher cub recruitment and survival probability with intermediate levels of rainfall and restricted deviation from the mean temperature; Nouvellet et al., 2013; Macdonald et al., 2010) and exposure to diseases (i.e. lower cub survival probability with higher intensities of coccidia; Newman et al., 2001). These variable environmental conditions may be reflected in the variation in early-life telomere length seen in our study system. Similarly, previous studies in birds have shown that higher levels of early-life competition can accelerate telomere shortening (Boonekamp et al., 2014; Nettle et al., 2015), although studies that do not find stressors affecting early-life telomere length do exist (reviewed in Vedder et al., 2017). In mammals, studies on social and ecological effects on telomere dynamics are emerging (Cram et al., 2017; Izzo et al., 2011; Lewin et al., 2015; Watson et al., 2017; Wilbourn et al., 2017), showing that, for example, socially dominant spotted hyaenas (Crocuta crocuta) have longer telomeres (Lewin et al., 2015) and that meerkat pups experiencing more intense early-life competition have shorter telomeres (Cram et al., 2017).

As well as environmental effects, variation in early-life RLTL can also be caused by additive genetic effects (Dugdale and Richardson, 2018). In wild populations, using a quantitative genetic 'animal model', no heritability of telomere length was found in white-throated dippers (*Cinclus cinclus*; Becker et al., 2015), and high heritability (0.35–0.48) was found in the great reed warbler (Acrocephalus arundinaceus; Asghar et al., 2015a). Even though we currently have no heritability estimates from wild mammals, the likelihood for additive genetic effects in our study system to contribute to early-life RLTL is small given that individual repeatability, which sets the upper limit for heritability (unless indirect genetic effects occur), in RLTL is low. This indicates that the individual variation in RLTL in our study system is likely driven by early-life environmental conditions.

Our findings demonstrate that telomeres reflect the effects of early-life conditions on individual life-history, and elaborate on the dynamic way that telomeres function as a biomarker of senescence in a wild mammal, where within-individual telomere length is highly variable. Further work on how specific early-life environment conditions impact telomere lengths in wild mammals and quantifying the relative contribution of environmental effects (e.g. cohort, year and social group) on telomere length will provide insight into the evolution of senescence.

# Supplemental information Chapter 2: Individual variation in early-life telomere length and survival in a wild mammal

# **Supplementary methods**

#### Quality control of telomere length estimation through quantitative PCR

LinRegPCR 2017.1 (Ruijter et al., 2009) was used to correct for baseline fluorescence, to determine the window of linearity for each amplicon (i.e. separate windows for IRBP and telomere reactions) and to calculate amplification efficiencies for each well. Subsequently, Cq-values for each sample were calculated in R 3.3.1 (R Development Core Team, 2019). Across plates (n = 34), fluorescence thresholds (Nq) were set to a constant value within the window of linearity for the amplification curves: 0.432 for IRBP and 0.694 for telomeres. Mean amplification efficiency across wells for each amplicon group per plate, excluding outliers (outside the 5<sup>th</sup> and 95<sup>th</sup> percentiles), were used as our estimates of reaction efficiency (as recommended by Ruijter et al., 2009).

Further quality control was applied, where samples were excluded from further analyses if the standard deviation across their duplicate Cq values for either amplicon group was greater than 5% of the mean Cq for that sample (n = 25). We also excluded any sample if the standard deviation across the duplicate well-specific efficiencies for either amplicon was greater than 5% of the overall mean efficiency for that amplicon group (n = 44). Lastly, samples with a Cq-value >28 for telomere, or >29 for IRBP, were excluded from the analysis (n = 24), assuming that these were failed reactions. In order to determine failed reactions for control samples, we applied a similar rule where samples with a standard deviation of the duplicate T/S ratios >8% of the mean T/S ratio for that sample were excluded, as at least one of the duplicate samples was assumed to have failed (n = 19; <12% of samples).

Reaction efficiencies differed between our IRBP and telomere reactions (mean efficiencies across all samples on all plates run: IRBP = 1.793±0.004 SE; Telomere: 1.909±0.004 SE). Assuming constant amplification efficiencies across plates can bias qPCR results when these actually differ, we therefore calculated relative leukocyte telomere length (RLTL) using a method that does not assume consistent efficiencies across plates (Pfaffl, 2001):

$$RLTL = \frac{(E_{tel}^{(Cq_{tel(calibrator)} - Cq_{tel(sample)}))}{(E_{IRBP}^{(Cq_{IRBP}(calibrator) - Cq_{IRBP(sample)}))}$$

In this equation,  $E_{tel}$  and  $E_{IRBP}$  represent the mean well efficiencies for each of the amplicons, calculated in LinRegPCR,  $Cq_{tel(calibrator)}$  and  $Cq_{IRBP(calibrator)}$  are the mean Cq-values for the calibrators (20 ng/µl) of the reference sample for each amplicon and  $Cq_{tel(sample)}$  and  $Cq_{IRBP(sample)}$  are the mean Cq-values for both amplicons in each sample.

Only 69 of 1324 samples did not pass the initial quality control and these samples were repeated. 17 repeated samples passed the quality control, meaning that 52 samples (<4%) were excluded. Additionally, as 24 samples had a Cq-value >28 for TL or Cq-value >29 for IRBP, which we considered to be failed reactions, these were excluded from the analyses. This resulted in a total of 1248 RLTL measurements from 612 individuals (308 males and 304 females), with 163 individuals having 1 sample (early-life samples to reduce bias from viability selection), 408 individuals with 2 samples, 5 individuals with 5 samples, 17 individuals with 6 samples, 12 individuals with 7 samples, 5 individuals with 8 samples and 2 individuals with 9 samples.

Inter-plate repeatability (intraclass correlation coefficient), calculated with rptR 0.9.2 (Stoffel et al., 2017), was 0.82 (95% CI = 0.76-0.87). Intra-plate repeatability was 0.90 (95% CI = 0.86-0.93) and 0.84 (95% CI = 0.79-0.90) for IRBP and telomere Cq values, respectively, with an intra-plate repeatability of 0.87 (95% CI = 0.82-0.91; n = 1248 samples; 34 plates) for RLTL measurements.

#### Results S1 - summary of analyses excluding individuals aged based on tooth wear

The following summary results represent the exact same analyses, but without the 67 individuals whose age was determined based on tooth wear.

Individual repeatability was 0.014 (95% CI = 0.001–0.100) including cub and adult RLTL and 0.026 (95% CI = 0.001-0.158) with only RLTL measurements in adulthood (marginal  $R^2$  = 0.072;  $X^2$  = 0.930, P = 0.335). These repeatabilities changed to 0.020 (95% CI = 0.001-0.101) and 0.032 (95% CI = 0.001-0.156), respectively, when plate variance was removed. This did not differ from the estimates including the 67 individuals (0.017, 95% CI = 0.001-0.098, all samples; 0.026, 95% CI = 0.001-0.143, adult samples).

Telomere elongation was observed in 60.9% of within-individual changes (versus 61.2% including the 67 individuals). The random effect estimate for individual ID with technical replicates was 0.0369 (95% CI = 0.0320-0.0429), whereas for within-individual samples the random effect estimate was 0.0009 (95% CI = 0.0003-0.0045) without overlapping 95% credible intervals. For the group that increased in RLTL, the random effect estimate for technical replicates was 0.0417 (95% CI = 0.0345-0.0516) and for within-individual samples the estimate was 0.0012 (95% CI = 0.0002-0.0054). For individuals that exhibited decreases in RLTL the random effect estimate for technical replicates was 0.0417 (95% CI = 0.0002-0.0054). For individuals that exhibited decreases in RLTL the random effect estimate for technical replicates was 0.0317–0.0470) and for

within-individual samples the estimate was 0.0014 (95% CI = 0.0003–0.0065), where neither group showed overlapping 95% credible intervals. Residual variance ( $\sigma_{\varepsilon}^{-2}$ ) was smaller (0.041) than the overall change ( $\sigma_{\varepsilon}^{\prime 2}$ ) in RLTL (0.922; F<sub>31,40</sub> = 22.48, *P* < 0.001). Removing the 67 individuals therefore did not alter our conclusions on telomere elongation.

Removing the 67 individuals also did not alter our conclusions on the relationship between RLTL and survival/lifespan: Early-life RLTL predicted lifespan ( $\beta$  = 0.132, 95% CI = 0.028– 0.236; *n* = 424), while early-life RLTL also showed a positive relationship with survival to adulthood ( $\beta$  = 0.434, 95% CI = 0.132–0.734; *n* = 424). Early-life RLTL ( $\beta$  = 0.043, SE = 0.350, *P* = 0.900; *n* = 325) and corresponding RLTL ( $\beta$  = -0.028, 95% CI = -0.329–0.276; *n* = 663) did not predict adult survival probability.

The addition of individuals aged using tooth wear did therefore not alter our results or conclusions.

### Results S2 – summary of analyses when first cohorts (1987 – 1992) are omitted

The following summary results represent the exact same analyses, but without the six (1987– 1992) cohorts where early-life RLTL was lower and more variable than other cohorts.

Individual repeatability was 0.030 (95% CI = 0.001–0.123; including all samples) and 0.052 (95% CI = 0.001–0.206) with only RLTL measurements in adulthood, (marginal  $R^2$  = 0.060;  $X^2$  = 1.501, P = 0.220). These repeatabilities changed to 0.035 (95% CI = 0.001–0.126) and 0.063 (95% CI = 0.001–0.220), respectively, when plate variance was removed.

Telomere elongation was observed in 59.2% of within-individual changes. The random effect estimate for individual ID with technical replicates was 0.0340 (95% CI = 0.0288-0.0388), whereas for within-individual samples the random effect estimate was 0.0018 (95% CI = 0.0002-0.0044) without overlapping 95% credible intervals. For the group that increased in RLTL, the

random effect estimate for technical replicates was 0.0410 (95% CI = 0.0328–0.0515) and for within-individual samples the estimate was 0.0008 (95% CI = 0.0003–0.0055). For individuals that exhibited decreases in RLTL the random effect estimate for technical replicates was 0.0315 (95% CI = 0.0264–0.0413) and for within-individual samples the estimate was 0.0012 (95% CI = 0.0002– 0.0059), where neither group without overlapping 95% credible intervals. Residual variance  $(\sigma_{\varepsilon}^{-2})$  was smaller (0.038) than the overall change  $(\sigma_{\varepsilon}'^{2})$  in RLTL (0.872; F<sub>20,27</sub> = 23.01, *P* < 0.001).

Early-life RLTL predicted lifespan ( $\beta$  = 0.119, 95% CI = 0.019–0.219; *n* = 389), while earlylife RLTL also showed a positive relationship with survival to adulthood ( $\beta$  = 0.430, 95% CI = 0.118–0.742; *n* = 389). Early-life RLTL ( $\beta$  = -0.125, SE = 0.369, *P* = 0.730; *n* = 299) and corresponding RLTL did not predict adult survival probability ( $\beta$  = -0.070, 95% CI = -0.363–0.221; *n* = 594).

The addition of individuals from cohorts 1987–1992 did not alter any results or conclusions.

Table S2.1: The different survival probabilities of cubs and adults, based on age at last capture and when correcting the lifespan model for the different survival probabilities between cubs and adults (+12 months last captured as cubs, +24 months for adults). Model averaged parameters of models.  $\Sigma$  = relative variable importance,  $\beta$  = direction and magnitude of effect, S.E. = standard error, 95% CI = 95% confidence interval; with reference terms in brackets = reference level for factors. Parameters where the 95% CI do not overlap zero are italicised and underlined.

Parameter (reference level)	Σ	β	S.E.	95% CI					
Lifespan (corrected for differential survival probability)									
Intercept		4.059	0.469	3.141 to 4.984					
<u>Early-life RLTL</u>	<u>0.86</u>	<u>0.084</u>	<u>0.034</u>	<u>0.016 to 0.152</u>					
Sex (female)	0.27	-0.031	0.065	-0.158 to 0.097					
<u>Cohort</u>	<u>1.00</u>								
Lifespan (based on age of last capture)									
Intercept		3.531	0.702	2.158 to 4.916					
<u>Early-life RLTL</u>	<u>0.86</u>	<u>0.125</u>	<u>0.052</u>	<u>0.024 to 0.227</u>					
Sex (female)	0.25	-0.030	0.097	-0.220 to 0.161					
<u>Cohort</u>	<u>1.00</u>								

Table S2.2: Comparison of models describing the relationship between relative leukocyte telomere length and age, with a variety of age functions (0 = no age function, 1 = linear age function, 2 = log age function, 3 = quadratic age function, 4 = cubic age function, F = factorial age function, T1 = single threshold, T2 = double threshold, T3 = triple threshold) and cohort, including the interaction of cohort with age (cohort \* age), with plate, year and individual ID as random effects and sex as a fixed effect. Models were ordered and numbered by AICc, and the difference from the top model (lowest AICc) is stated in the column termed ' $\Delta$ AICc', with models within  $\Delta$ AICc <7 in bold.

Mod	Functi	Thres	Thres	Thres	Cohort	Cohort*Age	Degrees of	AICc	ΔAICc
el	el on h		hold 2	hold 3			freedom		
1	Т3	29	65	112	Yes	No	34	-1704.412	
2	T2	65	112		Yes	No	33	-1701.832	2.580
3	T2	29	65		Yes	No	33	-1695.173	9.239
4	T1	65			Yes	No	32	-1694.749	9.663
5	1				Yes	No	31	-1691.114	13.298
6	3				Yes	No	32	-1690.745	13.667
7	2				Yes	No	31	-1689.680	14.732
8	T1	112			Yes	No	32	-1689.574	14.838
9	T1	29			Yes	No	32	-1689.344	15.068
10	4				Yes	No	33	-1689.256	15.156
11	Т3	29	65	112	No	No	11	-1688.943	15.469
12	T2	29	112		Yes	No	33	-1688.306	16.106
13	0				Yes	No	30	-1684.658	19.754
14	Т2	65	112		No	No	10	-1682.605	21.807
15	Т2	29	65		No	No	10	-1681.564	22.848
16	1				No	No	8	-1679.276	25.136
17	T1	112			No	No	9	-1679.217	25.195
18	T1	29			No	No	9	-1678.154	26.258
19	T1	65			No	No	9	-1678.106	26.306
20	0				No	No	7	-1678.082	26.330
21	2				No	No	8	-1677.796	26.616
22	Т2	29	112		No	No	10	-1677.428	26.984
23	3				No	No	9	-1677.272	27.140
24	4				No	No	10	-1675.252	29.160
25	2				Yes	Yes	54	-1663.010	41.402
26	1				Yes	Yes	54	-1658.236	46.176
27	Т2	65	112		Yes	Yes	74	-1656.381	48.031
28	T1	112			Yes	Yes	62	-1655.049	49.363
29	T1	65			Yes	Yes	67	-1649.490	54.922
30	T1	29			Yes	Yes	75	-1639.517	64.895
31	Т3	29	65	112	Yes	Yes	95	-1635.637	68.775
32	Т2	29	112		Yes	Yes	83	-1633.420	70.992
33	3				Yes	Yes	78	-1632.109	72.303
34	T2	29	65		Yes	Yes	88	-1630.728	73.684
35	4				Yes	Yes	102	-1623.823	80.589
36	F				Yes	No	118	-1620.230	84.182
37	F				No	No	95	-1609.840	94.572
38	F				Yes	Yes	380	-1219.151	485.261

Table S2.3: Model selection of factors linked to lifespan. Models retained for subsequent model averaging are in bold.  $\checkmark$  = categorical term included in the model, Int = intercept (±SE), RLTL = relative leukocyte telomere length (±SE), d.f. = degrees of freedom,  $\triangle$ AlCc = change in Akaike Information Criterion (AICc) relative to best supported model,  $\omega$  = adjusted weight based on AICc.

Model	Int	RLTL	Sex	Cohort	d.f.	ΔAICc	ω
1	3.534 ± 0.701	0.126 ± 0.052	-	$\checkmark$	24	0.00	0.641
2	3.547 ± 0.703	$0.125 \pm 0.052$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	25	2.16	0.218
3	3.491 ± 0.706			$\checkmark$	23	3.63	0.105
4	3.506 ± 0.707		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	24	5.75	0.036
5	3.499 ± 0.088				4	43.02	0.000
6	3.497 ± 0.088	0.062 ± 0.053			5	43.68	0.000
7	3.522 ± 0.104		$\checkmark$		5	44.91	0.000
8	3.519 ± 0.105	0.062 ± 0.053	$\checkmark$		6	45.59	0.000
Table S2.4: Model averaged parameters.  $\Sigma$  = relative variable importance,  $\beta$  = direction and magnitude of effect, S.E. = standard error, 95 % CI = 95 % confidence interval; reference terms in brackets = reference level; for cohort effect estimates see Figure S2.2. \* = interaction. Parameters where the 95% CI do not overlap zero are italicised and underlined.

Parameter (reference level)	Σ	β	S.E.	95% CI
Lifespan model <sup>+</sup>				
Intercept		3.531	0.702	2.158 to 4.916
<u>Early-life RLTL</u>	<u>0.86</u>	<u>0.125</u>	<u>0.052</u>	<u>0.024 to 0.227</u>
Sex (female)	0.25	-0.030	0.097	-0.220 to 0.161
<u>Cohort</u>	1.00			
Survival to adulthood model $^{\ddagger}$				
Intercept		0.053	1.478	-2.847 to 2.965
<u>Early-life RLTL</u>	<u>0.95</u>	<u>0.408</u>	<u>0.153</u>	<u>0.108 to 0.708</u>
Sex (female)	0.25	0.102	0.264	-0.417 to 0.622
<u>Cohort</u>	1.00			
Parameter (reference level)		β	S.E.	P-value
Annual adult survival model§				
Early-life RLTL		0.032	0.346	0.930
<u>Sex (female)</u>		<u>0.352</u>	<u>0.127</u>	<u>0.006</u>
Parameter (reference level)	Σ	β	S.E.	95% CI
Adult survival to following year				
model <sup>1</sup>				
luck a wara wat				
Intercept		2.325	0.466	1.400 to 3.235
Adult RLTL	0.37	2.325 -0.026	0.466 0.135	1.400 to 3.235 -0.290 to 0.242
Adult RLTL <u>Sex (female)</u>	<u>0.94</u>	-0.026 <u>-0.664</u>	0.135 <u>0.280</u>	-0.290 to 0.242 <u>-1.214 to -0.114</u>
Adult RLTL	<u>0.94</u> 0.28	-0.026	0.135	-0.290 to 0.242
Adult RLTL <u>Sex (female)</u>	<u>0.94</u>	-0.026 <u>-0.664</u>	0.135 <u>0.280</u>	-0.290 to 0.242 <u>-1.214 to -0.114</u>
Adult RLTL <u>Sex (female)</u> Age (≤ 29 months)	<u>0.94</u> 0.28	-0.026 <u>-0.664</u> 0.084	0.135 <u><i>0.280</i></u> 0.160	-0.290 to 0.242 <u>-1.214 to -0.114</u> -0.227 to 0.411
Adult RLTL <u>Sex (female)</u> Age (≤ 29 months) (>29 and ≤ 65 months)	<u>0.94</u> 0.28 0.31	-0.026 <u>-0.664</u> 0.084 -0.131	0.135 <u>0.280</u> 0.160 0.191	-0.290 to 0.242 <u>-1.214 to -0.114</u> -0.227 to 0.411 -0.528 to 0.246
Adult RLTL <u>Sex (female)</u> Age (≤ 29 months) (>29 and ≤ 65 months) <u>(&gt;65 and ≤ 112 months)</u>	<u>0.94</u> 0.28 0.31 <u>0.99</u>	-0.026 <u>-0.664</u> 0.084 -0.131 <u>-0.501</u>	0.135 <u>0.280</u> 0.160 0.191 <u>0.171</u>	-0.290 to 0.242 <u>-1.214 to -0.114</u> -0.227 to 0.411 -0.528 to 0.246 <u>-0.836 to -0.158</u>
Adult RLTL <u>Sex (female)</u> Age ( $\leq$ 29 months) (>29 and $\leq$ 65 months) <u>(&gt;65 and <math>\leq</math> 112 months)</u> (> 112 months)	<u>0.94</u> 0.28 0.31 <u>0.99</u> 0.32	-0.026 <u>-0.664</u> 0.084 -0.131 <u>-0.501</u> -0.089	0.135 <u>0.280</u> 0.160 0.191 <u>0.171</u> 0.125	-0.290 to 0.242 <u>-1.214 to -0.114</u> -0.227 to 0.411 -0.528 to 0.246 <u>-0.836 to -0.158</u> -0.344 to 0.156
Adult RLTL <u>Sex (female)</u> Age ( $\leq$ 29 months) (>29 and $\leq$ 65 months) <u>(&gt;65 and <math>\leq</math> 112 months)</u> (> 112 months) Age ( $\leq$ 29 months*RLTL)	0.94 0.28 0.31 <u>0.99</u> 0.32 0.01	-0.026 <u>-0.664</u> 0.084 -0.131 <u>-0.501</u> -0.089 -0.064	0.135 <u>0.280</u> 0.160 0.191 <u>0.171</u> 0.125 0.129	-0.290 to 0.242 <u>-1.214 to -0.114</u> -0.227 to 0.411 -0.528 to 0.246 <u>-0.836 to -0.158</u> -0.344 to 0.156 -0.320 to 0.225
Adult RLTL <u>Sex (female)</u> Age ( $\leq$ 29 months) (>29 and $\leq$ 65 months) (>65 and $\leq$ 112 months) (> 112 months) Age ( $\leq$ 29 months*RLTL) (>29 and $\leq$ 65 months)*RLTL	0.94 0.28 0.31 <u>0.99</u> 0.32 0.01 0.03	-0.026 <u>-0.664</u> 0.084 -0.131 <u>-0.501</u> -0.089 -0.064 -0.107	0.135 <u>0.280</u> 0.160 0.191 <u>0.171</u> 0.125 0.129 0.091	-0.290 to 0.242 <u>-1.214 to -0.114</u> -0.227 to 0.411 -0.528 to 0.246 <u>-0.836 to -0.158</u> -0.344 to 0.156 -0.320 to 0.225 -0.357 to 0.133

Model averaged random effect estimates (variance): <sup>†</sup>Observation (0.8730), Plate (4.330\*10<sup>-15</sup>), Natal social group (0.1751); <sup>‡</sup>Plate (0.000), Natal social group (0.3193); <sup>§</sup>Cox mixed model random effect estimates: Cohort (0.2816), Plate (0.0481), Natal social group (0.3963); <sup>¶</sup>Individual ID (0.4620), Cohort (0.1415), Year (0.8757), Plate (0.2894), Natal social group (1.919\*10<sup>-6</sup>), Current social group (1.2300).

Table S2.5: Model selection of factors linked to survival to adulthood. Models retained for subsequent model averaging are in bold.  $\checkmark$  = categorical term included in the model, Int = intercept (±SE), RLTL = relative leukocyte telomere length (±SE), d.f. = degrees of freedom,  $\Delta$ AICc = change in Akaike Information Criterion (AICc) relative to best supported model,  $\omega$  = adjusted weight based on AICc.

Model	Int	RLTL	Sex	Cohort	d.f.	ΔAICc	ω
1	0.072 ± 1.476	0.407 ± 0.153	-	$\checkmark$	23	0.00	0.694
2	0.022 ± 1.484	0.410 ± 0.153	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	24	2.09	0.244
3	-0.064 ± 1.471			$\checkmark$	22	5.42	0.046
4	-0.099 ± 1.478		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	23	7.57	0.016
5	$1.271 \pm 0.140$	0.254 ± 0.122			4	16.18	0.000
6	1.201 ± 0.185	0.256 ± 0.122	$\checkmark$		5	17.89	0.000
7	1.254 ± 0.138				3	18.62	0.000
8	$1.189 \pm 0.184$		$\checkmark$		4	20.37	0.000

Table S2.6: Model selection of factors linked to adult survival probability. Models retained for subsequent model averaging are in bold.  $\checkmark$  = categorical term included in the model, \* interaction between two terms, Int = intercept (±SE), RLTL = relative leukocyte telomere length (±SE), Age parameters (±SE) refer to threshold model where Age 1 ≤ 29 months old, Age 2 > 29 months and ≤ 65 months old, Age 3 > 65 months and ≤ 112 months old and Age 4 > 112 months old, d.f. = degrees of freedom,  $\triangle$ AlCc = change in Akaike Information Criterion (AIC) relative to best supported model,  $\omega$  = adjusted weight based on AICc. Table only includes models with  $\triangle$ AlCc ≤ 7 (not showing 159 models).

Model	Int	RLTL	Age 1	Age 2	Age 3	Age 4	Sex	Age 1* RLTL	Age 2* RLTL	Age 3* RLTL	Age 4* RLTL	d.f.	ΔAICc	ω
1	2.342	-		-	-0.532	-	$\checkmark$		-	-	-	9	0.00	0.16
	±				±									
	0.461				0.157									
2	2.362				-0.488	-0.078	$\checkmark$					10	1.62	0.07
	±				±	±								
	0.465				0.170	0.119								
3	2.348			-0.097	-0.489		$\checkmark$					10	1.75	0.069
	±			±	±									
	0.464			0.176	0.175									
4	2.338		0.053		-0.537		$\checkmark$					10	1.92	0.064
	±		±		±									
	0.459		0.143		0.157									
5	2.348	-0.034			-0.537		$\checkmark$					10	1.99	0.06
	±	±			±									
	0.464	0.136			0.160									
6	2.341		0.141	-0.188	-0.459		$\checkmark$					11	3.15	0.034
	±		±	±	±									
	0.459		0.174	0.209	0.176									
7	2.371			-0.114	-0.432	-0.088	$\checkmark$					11	3.27	0.032
	±			±	±	±								
	0.469			0.178	0.191	0.121								
8	2.358		0.049		-0.494	-0.076	$\checkmark$					11	3.56	0.028
	±		±		±	±								
	0.462		0.143		0.170	0.119								
9	2.366	-0.026			-0.493	-0.076	1					11	3.64	0.027

	±	±			±	±						
	0.467	0.137			0.173	0.120						
10	2.362	-0.023			-0.531		$\checkmark$	-0.0!	59	11	3.72	0.026
	±	±			±			±				
	0.465	0.137			0.160			0.10	5			
11	2.354	-0.030		-0.094	-0.494		$\checkmark$			11	3.76	0.025
	±	±		±	±							
	0.467	0.137		0.177	0.178							
12	2.344	-0.032	0.052		-0.542		$\checkmark$			11	3.92	0.023
	±	±	±		±							
	0.461	0.135	0.143		0.159							
13	2.003				-0.504					8	4.16	0.021
	±				±							
	0.413				0.153							
14	2.364		0.146	-0.208	-0.399	-0.091	$\checkmark$			12	4.64	0.016
	±		±	±	±	±						
	0.463		0.174	0.210	0.192	0.120						
15	2.349	-0.032			-0.488	-0.132	$\checkmark$		0.104	12	5.00	0.014
	±	±			±	±			±			
	0.465	0.137			0.173	0.138			0.128			
16	2.345	-0.020	0.139	-0.185	-0.463		$\checkmark$			12	5.20	0.012
	±	±	±	±	±							
	0.461	0.136	0.175	0.210	0.179							
17	2.374	-0.019		-0.112	-0.436	-0.087	$\checkmark$			12	5.31	0.012
	±	±		±	±	±						
	0.470	0.138		0.179	0.195	0.122						
18	2.368	-0.017		-0.099	-0.485		$\checkmark$	-0.00	52	12	5.48	0.011
	±	±		±	±			±				
	0.468	0.139		0.177	0.179			0.10	6			
19	2.063	-0.019		-0.085	-0.464		$\checkmark$	-0.108		12	5.52	0.010
	±	±		±	±			±				
	0.001	0.001		0.001	0.001			0.001				
20	2.373	-0.019			-0.500	-0.062	$\checkmark$	-0.04	15	12	5.54	0.010
	±	±			±	±		±				

21	0.467 2.362	0.138 -0.025	0.048		0.174 -0.500	0.124 -0.074	$\checkmark$			0.109		12	5.59	0.010
	± 0.464	± 0.136	± 0.143		± 0.173	± 0.120								
22	2.358	-0.021	0.054		-0.535	0.120	$\checkmark$			-0.060		12	5.65	0.010
	±	±	±		±		•			±				
	0.463	0.137	0.143		0.159					0.105				
23	2.352	-0.035	0.052		-0.539		$\checkmark$	-0.064				12	5.73	0.009
	±	±	±		±			±						
	0.463	0.136	0.143		0.159			0.129						
24	2.009		0.090		-0.514							9	5.79	0.009
	±		±		±									
	0.411		0.137		0.152									
25	2.019				-0.461	-0.076						9	5.79	0.009
	±				±	±								
20	0.416	0.017			0.167	0.118	,			0 1 5 2	0 202	12	F 04	0.000
26	2.352 ±	-0.017 ±			-0.487 ±	-0.142 ±	$\checkmark$			-0.152 ±	0.202 ±	13	5.84	0.009
	т 0.463	± 0.137			± 0.173	± 0.139				т 0.139	± 0.157			
27	0.403 2.001	0.157		-0.062	-0.474	0.139				0.139	0.157	9	6.07	0.008
21	±			-0.002 ±	-0.474 ±							5	0.07	0.000
	0.414			0.169	0.173									
28	2.009	-0.041		0.105	-0.509							9	6.11	0.008
	±	±			±							5	0.22	0.000
	0.415	0.135			0.156									
29	2.368	-0.007	0.141	-0.172	-0.471		$\checkmark$		-0.110			13	6.45	0.007
	±	±	±	±	±				±					
	0.465	0.137	0.175	0.211	0.180				0.122					
30	2.356	-0.025		-0.111	-0.431	-0.143	$\checkmark$				0.104	13	6.68	0.006
	±	±		±	±	±					±			
	0.468	0.138		0.179	0.194	0.139					0.128			
31	2.366	-0.009	0.145	-0.207	-0.401	-0.090	$\checkmark$					13	6.70	0.006
	±	±	±	±	±	±								
	0.464	0.137	0.175	0.212	0.196	0.121								

32	2.391	-0.009		-0.096	-0.453	-0.072	$\checkmark$	-0.100		13	6.75	0.006
	±	±		±	±	±		±				
	0.473	0.139		0.181	0.197	0.123		0.126				
33	2.360	-0.006	0.146	-0.194	-0.452		$\checkmark$	-0.067		13	6.86	0.005
	±	±	±	±	±			±				
	0.462	0.138	0.175	0.211	0.179			0.105				
34	2.264			-0.307		-0.218	$\checkmark$			10	6.93	0.005
	±			±		±						
	0.426			0.153		0.108						
35	2.345	-0.030	0.045		-0.493	-0.129	$\checkmark$		0.102	13	6.98	0.005
	±	±	±		±	±			±			
	0.463	0.137	0.143		0.173	0.138			0.127			



Figure S2.1: Parameter estimates (±SE) for cohort effects from the best-fitting age model (Table 2.1; main text), with telomere length across all ages as the response variable, relative to 1987.



Figure S2.2: Parameter estimates and associated 95% confidence intervals for cohort effects (relative to 1987) in models of: a) Lifespan – early-life RLTL (relative leukocyte telomere length) and b) Survival to adulthood – early-life RLTL mixed models.

## Chapter 3: Social effects on age-related and sexspecific immune cell profiles in a wild mammal

#### 3.1 Abstract

Evidence for age-related changes in innate and adaptive immune responses is increasing in wild populations. Such changes have been linked to fitness, and understanding the factors driving variation in immune responses is important for the evolution of immunity and senescence. Age-related changes in immune profiles may be due to sex-specific behaviour, physiology and responses to environmental conditions. Social conditions may also contribute to variation in immunological responses, for example, through transmission of pathogens and stress from resource and mate competition. Yet, the impact of the social environment on age-related changes in immune cell profile requires further investigation in the wild. Here, we tested the relationship between leukocyte cell composition (agranulocyte proportion, i.e. adaptive and innate immunity) and age, sex, and group size in a wild population of European badgers (*Meles meles*). We found that the proportion of agranulocytes decreased with age only in males living in small groups. In contrast, females in larger groups exhibited a greater age-related decline in the proportion of agranulocytes compared to females in smaller groups. Our results provide evidence for age-related changes in immune cell profiles in a wild mammal, which are influenced by both the sex of the individual and their social environment.

#### 3.2 Introduction

The immune system involves multiple mechanisms that protect the host against pathogens (Hoebe et al., 2004). The functioning of the immune system is related to sex (Restif and Amos, 2010; Klein and Flanagan, 2016) and changes throughout life (Nussey et al., 2012; Cheynel et al., 2017; Peters et al., 2019; Palacios et al., 2011; Schneeberger et al., 2014; Froy et al., 2019). Since age-related changes in immune responses have been linked to mortality in the wild (Froy et al., 2019), understanding the factors driving differences in immune responses can provide insight into the evolution of immunity and senescence.

The immune system comprises two components: innate and adaptive immunity (Hoebe et al., 2004). The innate immune response is the first defence against pathogens,

involving phagocytic cells (e.g. neutrophils, macrophages and dendritic cells) to detect antigens and produce cytokines that trigger other parts of the immune system (Weiskopf et al., 2009; Akira et al., 2006; Nathan, 2006; Mantovani et al., 2011; Vivier et al., 2011). The activation of adaptive immunity includes the cell-mediated immune response, with the stimulation of T lymphocytes and humoral immunity, which is controlled by activated B lymphocytes that can differentiate to produce immunoglobulins against specific antigens (Mantovani et al., 2011; Iwasaki and Medzhitov, 2010). The relative components of adaptive and innate immunity are therefore reflected in agranulocytes (i.e. lymphocytes and monocytes) and granulocytes (i.e. neutrophils, eosinophils and basophils), respectively (Fest et al., 2018; Hu et al., 2014; Templeton et al., 2014; van der Willik et al., 2019).

The adaptive immune system generally undergoes an age-related decline in performance, i.e. immunosenescence, and evidence for this process has been emerging in wild populations (Nussey et al., 2012; Cheynel et al., 2017; Peters et al., 2019; Palacios et al., 2011; Schneeberger et al., 2014; Froy et al., 2019). In contrast, the innate immune response is usually maintained, or even enhanced with age (Nussey et al., 2012; Cheynel et al., 2017; Peters et al., 2012; Cheynel et al., 2017; Peters et al., 2019; Palacios et al., 2011; Schneeberger et al., 2012; Cheynel et al., 2017; Peters et al., 2019; Palacios et al., 2011; Schneeberger et al., 2014; Froy et al., 2019). This enhanced innate immune response can be a consequence of overstimulation of the immune system, due to a reduced T cell repertoire and bias towards CD8+ effector memory cells, leading to chronic inflammation and accelerated immunosenescence, as seen in humans (Sansoni et al., 2014; Franceschi et al., 2018).

The innate and adaptive immune responses, mediated by genes and hormones, are sex-specific (Klein and Flanagan, 2016; Restif and Amos, 2010). For example, in the human innate immune response, males have higher frequencies of natural killer cells and higher phagocytic activity of neutrophils and macrophages than females (Abdullah et al., 2012; Spitzer, 1999), whereas in the adaptive immune response, females have stronger antibody responses and have higher basal immunoglobulin levels and B cell numbers than males (Abdullah et al., 2012; Furman et al., 2014). Such sex differences in immune responses may be exacerbated with age (Klein and Flanagan, 2016; Campo and Davila, 2002). For example, male Soay sheep (*Ovis aries*) exhibit steeper sex-specific changes in leukocyte cell composition with age (Watson et al., 2017). However, such changes may be species-specific since no sex differences in the rate of change in leukocyte cell composition with age were detected in roe deer (*Capreolus capreolus*; Cheynel et al., 2017).

Social stress is emerging as a potential driver of variation in immune responses in the wild (Côté and Poulin, 1995; Creel et al., 2013; Altizer et al., 2003), where gregarious species often experience greater stress due to social interactions or increased mate competition (Blumstein et al., 2018; Creel et al., 2013; Martin, 2009). For instance, polygynous males have more circulating testosterone than conspecific females or monogamous males, which has a suppressive effect on the immune system (Klein, 2000; Hillgarth and Wingfield, 1997), indicating a potential role for the social system and the environment in sex-specific immune cell profiles. Moreover, social species may experience the costs of increased pathogen exposure due to group-living compared with solitary species (Altizer et al., 2003). For example, greater early-life exposure to pathogen variety and intensity within social groups could prime the immune system and result in enhanced later-life immunity with the risk of late-life auto-immunity (Olszak et al., 2012; von Mutius, 2007). However, to date, there has been no clear evidence for the effects of the social environment on sex-specific immune cell profiles and their age-related changes.

Here, we use blood samples collected across 2017 and 2018 from a wild population of European badgers (*Meles meles*; hereafter 'badger') to explore longitudinal changes in sex-specific immune cell profiles and how this relates to social conditions. We quantify the relative components in the immune system through the proportion of agranulocytes out of the total number of leukocytes, which reflect the relative balance between adaptive and innate immunity (Fest et al., 2018; Hu et al., 2014; Templeton et al., 2014; van der Willik et

al., 2019). Specifically, we test whether the proportion of agranulocytes: (i) changes with age, (ii) exhibits sex differences, and (iii) is linked to group size.

#### 3.3 Methods

#### 3.3.1 Study species and data collection

We conducted this study in Wytham Woods, Oxfordshire, UK (51°46'24"N, 1°20'04"W), a 424 ha semi-natural woodland surrounded by mixed arable pasture (Macdonald and Newman, 2002). The resident high-density badger population (mean±SE = 36±3 badgers/km<sup>2</sup>; Macdonald et al., 2009) is segregated into large mixed-sex social groups (mean group size = 11, range = 2–29; da Silva et al., 1994). Badgers have a polygynandrous mating system with high extra-group paternity (Dugdale et al., 2007; Annavi et al., 2014b), where males exhibit seasonal peaks in testosterone levels (Buesching et al., 2009; Sugianto et al., 2019b). Badgers are exposed to pathogens such as coccidia which negatively impacts development and causes juvenile mortality (Newman et al., 2001; Anwar et al., 2000; Sin et al., 2014).

Trapping was undertaken three times per year, for three consecutive days per social group. Trapped badgers were anaesthetised using an intra-muscular injection of 0.2 ml ketamine hydrochloride per kg body weight (McLaren et al., 2005). Individuals were identified by a unique tattoo number on the left inguinal region, with capture date, social group affiliation and sex recorded. Age was determined as the difference between capture date and the 14<sup>th</sup> of February in the respective birth years. Badgers first caught as adults were aged through tooth wear (van Lieshout et al., 2019), where a tooth wear score of 2 typically indicates a 1-year old adult. Blood was collected through jugular venipuncture into vacutainers with EDTA anticoagulant. Badgers were released at their setts, after full recovery from anaesthesia. Additionally, bait-marking was conducted periodically to delimit social group range sizes (Delahay et al., 2000) and calculate group sizes using appropriate dispersal rules (see supporting information).

Immediately after blood collection, one drop of blood from the vacutainers was smeared on a glass microscope slide. Slides were air-dried for one hour and subsequently stained using a Kwik-Diff staining kit (Thermo Scientific, Manchester, UK) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Leukocyte cell counts were conducted by the same observer (blind to group size and sex) by counting 100 cells per slide (4 repeats per slide, not consecutively to avoid bias; n = 82 slides, 23 individuals; 9 females, 14 males), at 40x magnification using the 'battlement technique' (Schalm, 1965). Cells were identified as neutrophils, eosinophils and basophils (i.e. granulocytes) or lymphocytes and monocytes (i.e. agranulocytes; Bain, 2015). From these data we calculated the proportion of agranulocytes out of the total number of leukocytes. Slides containing less than 100 white blood cells were turned into proportions (n = 7 repeats, 5 slides).

#### 3.3.2 Statistical analyses

Statistical analyses were conducted in R 3.3.1 (R Development Core Team, 2019), using a loglikelihood ratio test to determine significance of predictors, set at p < 0.05, in *Ime4* 1.1-14 (Bates et al., 2015). The mixed model had a binomial error distribution (link = logit) with the proportion of agranulocytes in the leukocytes as the response variable. We first tested which age transformation (linear or logarithmic) best fitted these data using AICc values, where the relationship between the proportion of agranulocytes and age followed a negative logarithmic pattern ( $\Delta$ AICc = 2.9). Logarithmic age was included in the mixed model along with sex, group size, and the interactions between the three. Season was included as a fixed factor and body condition index (log<sub>10</sub>weight/log<sub>10</sub>body length; Noonan et al., 2014; Sugianto et al., 2019b) as a fixed covariate since body size and season may affect immune cell concentrations (Downs et al., 2019; Møller et al., 2003; Beaulieu et al., 2017). Body condition index can be interpreted as body-size adjusted body condition (Freckleton, 2002). Cohort, social group, and slide nested within individual ID were included as random effects. We used

parametric bootstrapping (n = 5000) to obtain 95% confidence intervals.

Table 3.1: Parameter estimates and 95% confidence intervals of fixed effects from a mixed model testing age, sex and group size effects on the proportion of agranulocytes in European badgers.  $\beta$  = direction and magnitude of effect, S.E. = standard error, 95% CI = 95% confidence interval from parametric bootstrapping,  $\chi^2$  = chi-squared value with associated p-value; reference terms in brackets = reference level for factors; \* = interaction. Significant parameters (p < 0.05) are in bold.

Parameter (reference level)	β	S.E.	95% CI	χ²	p-value
Intercept	-1.892	0.098	-2.087 to -1.703		
Log age	-0.031	0.097	-0.218 to 0.156	0.143	0.741
Sex (female)	0.099	0.104	-0.111 to 0.313	0.873	0.350
Group size	-0.047	0.086	-0.218 to 0.124	0.300	0.584
Season (Spring)				5.341	0.069
Summer	0.027	0.099	-0.163 to 0.219		
Autumn	0.346	0.154	0.042 to 0.651		
Body condition index	-0.246	0.074	-0.388 to -0.102	9.831	0.002
Log age * Sex (female)	-0.014	0.102	-0.211 to 0.185	0.019	0.889
Log age * Group size	-0.052	0.091	-0.230 to 0.119	0.312	0.556
Sex (female) * Group size	0.255	0.117	0.036 to 0.472	4.176	0.041
Log age * Sex (female) * Group size	0.225	0.104	0.027 to 0.430	4.380	0.036

Random effect estimates (variance): Individual ID ( $1.169^{*}10^{-2}$ ), Slide nested in individual ID ( $1.249^{*}10^{-1}$ ), Social group (< $1.000^{*}10^{-12}$ ), Cohort ( $5.026^{*}10^{-3}$ )

#### 3.4 Results

There was an interaction between age, group size and sex on the proportion of agranulocytes (Table 3.1). In males, the strength of the logarithmic decrease in the proportion of agranulocytes with age depended on group size: males living in smaller groups had a higher proportion of agranulocytes in early-life which declined with age, whereas there was no clear change with age in males living in larger groups (Figure 3.1). In contrast, in females the proportion of agranulocytes in early-life was similar when living in smaller and larger groups, but with a stronger decrease with age for females living in larger groups (Figure 3.1).



Figure 3.1: The interplay between age and group size on the proportion of leukocytes that are agranulocytes for males and females. Raw data points are shown. Group size was modelled as a continuous variable in the mixed model, but for visualisation is shown for males in small (range = 1-9; n = 99 repeats; 25 slides; 9 individuals; brown triangles and dashed line) and large (range = 10-16; n = 96 repeats; 24 slides; 8 individuals; blue circles and solid line) groups, and for females in small (range = 1-9; n = 52 repeats; 13 slides; 4 individuals; brown triangles and dashed line) and large (range s and dashed line) and large (range = 10-16; n = 79 repeats; 20 slides; 6 individuals; blue circles and solid line) groups. X-axis scales differ between plots. Fitted lines represent the model prediction for age interacting with sex and group size, with associated 95% confidence intervals as shaded areas.

#### 3.5 Discussion

We found a relative decrease in the proportion of agranulocytes with age. This may have arisen due to there being quantitatively fewer acquired immunity cells, or because of a greater number of innate cells being produced. In humans, this pattern has been associated with age-related reduction in thymus size (Flores et al., 1999; George and Ritter, 1996), reducing the number of naïve T cells (Fagnoni et al., 2000) and CD4<sup>+</sup> T and CD8<sup>+</sup> subpopulations with age, which has detrimental implications for effective immune responses to new antigens (Goronzy and Weyand, 2005; Effros et al., 2003; Pfister et al., 2006; Kohler et al., 2005; Haynes et al., 2003; Weiskopf et al., 2009). Alternatively, innate immune mechanisms may become more active with age through increased production of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Fagiolo et al., 1993). Such low-grade chronic inflammation in older

individuals has detrimental effects on health and contributes to biological ageing and the development of age-related pathologies (Franceschi et al., 2018). While we cannot provide direct evidence of immunosenescence due to the relative nature of the proportion of agranulocytes, the relative decrease in adaptive immune cells and increase in innate immune cells with age accords with previous studies in the wild (Nussey et al., 2012; Cheynel et al., 2017; Peters et al., 2019). Furthermore, understanding changes in immune cell profiles with age in badgers is important for the interpretation of leukocyte telomere dynamics (van Lieshout et al., 2019). Since granulocytes have longer telomeres than agranulocytes in humans and baboons (Baerlocher et al., 2007; Kimura et al., 2010), any change in telomere length with age in mammals could be due to a change in leukocyte cell composition, or selective loss of leukocytes, with age, and lead to spurious inferences on telomere shortening.

We also provide evidence that social conditions (i.e. group size) have sex-specific effects on changes in individual immune cell profiles with age. In larger groups, early-life exposure to a greater diversity, or higher intensity, of pathogens or greater stress associated with resource or mate competition led to a stronger bias toward innate over adaptive immune cell ratios by age. According to the 'hygiene-hypothesis' (Olszak et al., 2012; von Mutius, 2007; Frölich et al., 2012; Altizer et al., 2003; Côté and Poulin, 1995; Newman et al., 2001), this could subsequently alleviate the detrimental consequences of such pathogens in later-life and thus slow age-related changes in immune cell profiles. In smaller groups, lower exposure to pathogens in early-life can have the opposite effect (Shaw et al., 2010; Goksor et al., 2011), accelerating changes in immune cell profiles with age. Indeed, we found that the proportion of agranulocytes in early-life was greater in male badgers living in smaller social groups. Moreover, if fewer conspecifics share the pathogen burden, this could lead to a stronger pressure on the immune response and rapid changes in the proportion of agranulocytes.

Even though female badgers exhibited a relative decrease in the proportion of agranulocytes with age, this was not as strong as in males. Possibly, females develop a stronger immune response against pathogens in early-life (i.e. smaller change in the proportion of agranulocytes with age), which would corroborate previous findings in Soay sheep (*Ovis aries*), where males had a steeper decline in agranulocyte proportion with age than did females (Watson et al., 2017). Males, given the polygynandrous mating system of badgers, have high levels of testosterone, particularly compared to other species (Sugianto et al., 2019b), leading to immunosuppression and stronger decreases in adaptive immunity (i.e. agranulocytes) with age (Klein, 2000; Hillgarth and Wingfield, 1997). This accords with sex-specific responses to environmental conditions and associated sex differences in immune responses seen in other species (Klein and Flanagan, 2016; Restif and Amos, 2010).

While males showed stronger relative decreases in the proportion of agranulocytes with age in smaller groups, for females this effect was stronger in larger groups. Since badgers exhibit high levels of extra-group paternity (48%), increasing in proportion to a deficit of within-group candidate fathers, males in smaller groups may be exposed to higher extra-group competition and higher pathogen diversity (Dugdale et al., 2007; Annavi et al., 2014b). In contrast, females compete for resources with other females within their social group (Woodroffe and Macdonald, 1995b), which could lead to detrimental effects of larger group sizes on the proportion of agranulocytes. We were, however, unable to sample individuals until at least three months of age, due to welfare legislation (Protection of Badgers Act, 1992), and thus we cannot rule out the possibility of selective disappearance of individuals with poor innate immune responses. Nonetheless, our results indicate that age-related changes in immune profiles are associated with the social environment and these effects differ between the sexes.

## Supplemental information Chapter 3: Social effects on age-related and sex-specific immune cell profiles in a wild mammal

#### Group size estimation:

Group sizes were determined by the number of individuals (cubs and adults) that were present in a social group in a given year. Given high natal philopatry (75.8%), low permanent dispersal rates (19.1%), and high levels of inter-group movements leading to extra-group paternity in badgers (Macdonald et al., 2008), individuals (n = 1726) were assigned as a resident of a social group each year, according to the following rules adapted from (Annavi et al., 2014b; Macdonald et al., 2008):

- Badgers first caught as cub (n = 1241) were considered resident in the social group they were first caught, until they subsequently satisfied dispersal rules or were considered dead.
- 2. Badgers first caught as adults (n = 490) were assigned to the lifetime modal social group, until dispersal rules applied. If an individual was captured equally between two groups (n = 29), they were assigned to the social group they were initially captured in until dispersal rules applied.
- 3. Dispersal rules were satisfied when the two most recent captures of an individual (>30 days apart), as well as 1 of 2 captures before, were made in a different social group than the current residential social group. Individuals were resident in the new social group until dispersal rules applied again.

The number of individuals per social group were then calculated as the sum of individuals present in the social group in a given year.

# Chapter 4: The effects of weather conditions and group size on telomere lengths in a wild mammal

#### 4.1 Abstract

Early-life environmental conditions can provide a source of individual variation in senescence patterns, with a potential interplay between the mean of and variability in environmental conditions. Quantification of the consequences of adverse early-life conditions can be achieved using telomere length as a biomarker of senescence. Here, we investigate whether the mean of and variability in early-life weather conditions and group size are associated with early-life telomere length in a wild population of European badgers (Meles meles). Cubs experiencing higher mean daily temperatures and higher mean daily rainfall with low variability, had longer early-life telomere lengths (<1 year old), coinciding with food availability and foraging success. We also found an effect of season, where cubs have shorter early-life telomere lengths in winter. Additionally, cubs born in groups with more cubs had longer early-life telomere length, providing no evidence of resource competition, but indicating a social cue for future competition that changes the trade-off between reproductive and somatic investment (which is reflected in early-life telomere length). After sexual maturity, in early adulthood (i.e. 12-36 months) we found no association between telomere length and same-sex adult group size (i.e. intra-sexual competition). We demonstrate that early-life conditions can impact developmental stress, through both the mean of and variability in weather and social conditions, which can have implications for lifehistory strategies and senescence patterns.

#### 4.2 Introduction

The early-life environment has lasting effects on individual fitness (Lindstrom, 1999), and may provide a source of variation in individual senescence patterns. Senescence, the decline in performance in older age, has been hypothesised to be faster in individuals living in adverse early-life environments due to different energy allocation trade-offs between earlyand later-life in response to the environment (Williams, 1957; Medawar, 1952; Kirkwood and Rose, 1991). A lower mean quality of the early-life environment, as a particularly sensitive period, might trigger reproductive investment at the expense of somatic maintenance, leading to faster rates of senescence (Kirkwood and Rose, 1991; Lemaitre et al., 2015). Empirical evidence for such detrimental effects of lower mean quality of the early-life environments on senescence, as a consequence of developmental stress, has been found in wild animal populations (Hammers et al., 2013; Reed et al., 2008; Cooper and Kruuk, 2018).

Environmental variability is another form of environmental quality that can shape individual life-history (Nouvellet et al., 2013). It has been hypothesised that individuals in temporally stochastic environments should adopt a bet-hedging strategy, with higher somatic than reproductive investment, resulting in longer lifespans in variable conditions (Morris et al., 2008; Wilbur and Rudolf, 2006; but see Shpak, 2007). However, environmental fluctuations may have age-specific effects on different genotypes, and faster rates of senescence have been predicted in variable environmental conditions (Cotto and Ronce, 2014). Since variability in weather conditions is predicted to increase in the future (IPCC, 2014), it is important to understand the implications of variable early-life conditions on lifehistories. The mean early-life conditions experienced may interact with the variability around the mean where, for example, high variability around a low mean temperature accelerates malaria transmission in mosquitos (Paaijmans et al., 2010), or where the interaction between the mean of and variability in temperature impacts population growth and survival in Drosophila melanogaster (Bozinovic et al., 2011). The interplay between the mean of and variability in early-life environmental conditions, such as the abundance and variation in food, foraging success and thermal stress for young individuals (Webb and King, 1984; Noonan et al., 2015; Nouvellet et al., 2013), can potentially impact developmental stress, longevity and senescence.

Social conditions in early-life can also shape life-history due to increased competition for food. For example, female red deer (*Cervus elaphus*) that experienced high levels of

resource competition in early-life showed faster rates of reproductive senescence (Nussey et al., 2007a). Such competition for food may be even stronger in group living species due to a greater number of offspring competing for food and foraging space. Additionally, developing individuals can use the number of contemporaries as a cue for future competition and anticipate development accordingly through developmental plasticity (Bretman et al., 2016; Brown and Brown, 2003; Lemaitre et al., 2011; Kasumovic and Brooks, 2011). However, more parents and parental care can alleviate detrimental effects of competition for food in offspring, and enhance offspring development with slower senescence rates (Ridley, 2007; Russell et al., 2007).

The effects of social conditions on senescence may also become apparent after sexual maturity, when individuals compete for mating opportunities (Beirne et al., 2015; Andersson, 1994). In polygynous species, sex differences in senescence may be attributable to intense intra-sexual competition between males (Williams, 1957; Promislow, 1992; Clutton-Brock and Isvaran, 2007). Males invest in intra-sexual competition and reduce investment in self-maintenance (Kirkwood and Rose, 1991). This may select for shorter lifespan and faster senescence in males, compared to females (Williams, 1957; Clutton-Brock and Isvaran, 2007). While this prediction has been challenged (Promislow, 2003; Graves, 2007; Bonduriansky et al., 2008), and sex-specific senescence may be trait-dependent with respect to the underlying physiological processes (Nussey et al., 2009), increases in male-biased actuarial senescence in polygynous and sexual dimorphic species exist (Promislow, 1992; Clutton-Brock and Isvaran, 2007). While social effects may also contribute to senescence in females (Woodroffe and Macdonald, 1995b; Sharp and Clutton-Brock, 2011), such sex-specific social effects on senescence are expected to be greater in males (Clutton-Brock and Isvaran, 2007; Maklakov and Lummaa, 2013; Bonduriansky et al., 2008).

One way to quantify the effects of early-life environmental conditions on senescence is through telomere length, which functions as a biomarker of senescence (Monaghan and

Haussmann, 2006; Monaghan, 2010). Telomeres are highly conserved nucleoprotein structures at the end of chromosomes consisting of a non-coding sequence (5'-TTAGGG-3') and shelterin proteins (Blackburn, 2000). Telomeres maintain genomic integrity by preventing chromosome degradation and fusion of ends by forming T-loops (de Lange, 2004). Generally, telomeres shorten with each cell replication due to the end-replication problem (Olovnikov, 1973), but telomere shortening can be accelerated through stressors (Heidinger et al., 2012; Epel et al., 2004) and potentially oxidative damage (Reichert and Stier, 2017; von Zglinicki, 2002; but see Boonekamp, 2017). Telomeres can, however, also elongate due to the enzyme telomerase (Blackburn et al., 1989) and other telomere-elongation pathways (Cesare and Reddel, 2010; Mendez-Bermudez et al., 2012). Cells with critically short telomeres then enter replicative senescence, where the accumulation of senescent cells can impair tissue function due to reduced renewal capacity (Campisi, 2005; Campisi and di Fagagna, 2007).

Extensive evidence links adverse early-life conditions to shorter telomeres (McLennan et al., 2016; Watson et al., 2015; Mizutani et al., 2013), which are associated with reduced survival probability (Wilbourn et al., 2018). Additionally, there is evidence for conspecific resource competition in early-life leading to greater telomere shortening (Boonekamp et al., 2014; Nettle et al., 2015; Stier et al., 2015), and shorter telomere lengths (Cram et al., 2017). However, little is known about the effects of the mean of and variability in early-life weather conditions on early-life telomere length. Additionally, whether increased intra-sexual competition (e.g. higher local densities of same-sex individuals) is associated with shorter telomere lengths remains to be tested.

To test the effects of early-life environmental conditions on telomere length, we use a long-term dataset from a wild population of European badgers (*Meles meles*; henceforth 'badgers'). Badgers show reproductive senescence with males having a later onset, but faster rate of senescence than females (Dugdale et al., 2011b). Additionally, early-life telomere

length is a biomarker of senescence in badgers (van Lieshout et al., 2019). Badgers are natally philopatric and form large social groups (mean group size = 11.3, range = 2-29; da Silva et al., 1994) with latrine-marked borders (Buesching et al., 2016; Delahay et al., 2000), although they do transgress these borders when foraging (Ellwood et al., 2017; Noonan et al., 2015) without any sex difference in foraging niche (Robertson et al., 2014). In terms of food availability, badgers mainly feed on earthworms (Lumbricus terrestris; Kruuk and Parish, 1981; Johnson et al., 2001). Earthworms are sensitive to microclimatic conditions (Gerard, 1967; Edwards and Bohlen, 1996; Newman et al., 2017), making their abundance and distribution highly dependent on weather conditions and resulting in high-population densities in areas with damp conditions where earthworms are available (Kruuk, 1978b; Macdonald et al., 2015; Newman et al., 2017). Badgers preferentially forage on earthworms, but do change to alternative food sources (e.g. berries) when weather patterns make earthworms scarcely available (Macdonald et al., 2010). Foraging success in adverse weather conditions is lower, either due to thermal stress when foraging in cold and wet conditions or due to remaining in thermally-stable setts (Nouvellet et al., 2013; Noonan et al., 2014; Noonan et al., 2018). Higher mean daily temperature and mean daily rainfall have been positively associated with both juvenile and adult survival probability as well as recruitment, whereas the variability in these metrics has detrimental consequences for survival and recruitment (Nouvellet et al., 2013; Macdonald et al., 2010).

Badger cub growth rates and maturation depend on natal social conditions, with early developers reaching sexual maturity at 11 months old and late developers at 22–26 months old (Sugianto et al., 2019b). However, the effects of the numbers of cubs in the natal group appear to be stronger for male cubs (Sugianto et al., 2019a; Sugianto et al., 2019b). Badgers are polygynandrous and have high levels of extra-group paternity (48%), with 86% of extra-group offspring sired by neighbouring group males (Dugdale et al., 2007; Annavi et al., 2014b). There is reproductive skew, where 27% (±6% SE) and 31% (±6% SE) of adult males and females, respectively, breed per year (Dugdale et al., 2007; Dugdale et al., 2008). Badgers exhibit male-biased mortality (Bright Ross; unpublished data) and a slight male-biased sexual dimorphism that can be ascribed to differential patterns of development among males and females (Noonan et al., 2016; Sugianto et al., 2019a).

Here, we investigate the relationships between early-life conditions and relative leukocyte telomere length (RLTL), by testing whether: (i) adverse weather conditions, as a proxy for food availability and the thermal stresses cubs are exposed to, are associated with shorter early-life RLTL; (ii) adverse early-life social conditions, i.e. cubs born in groups with more cubs, as a proxy for food competition, are associated with shorter early-life RLTL, and whether such effects are stronger for males; and (iii) adverse social conditions after sexual maturity, i.e. larger same-sex adult group size for females and, for males, more within-group and neighbouring-group adult (>1 year old) males, are associated with shorter RLTL in early adulthood.

#### 4.3 Methods

#### 4.3.1 Study population and trapping

We conducted this study in a high-density population of European badgers (mean $\pm$ SE = 36.4 $\pm$ 2.55 badgers/km<sup>2</sup>; Macdonald et al., 2009) in Wytham Woods, Oxfordshire, UK (51°46′24″N, 1°20′04″W); a 424 ha mixed semi-natural woodland surrounded by mixed arable and permanent pasture (Macdonald and Newman, 2002). Wytham Woods had a mean annual temperature of 10.6 °C ( $\pm$ 5.5 SD) and mean annual precipitation of 684 ( $\pm$ 129 SD) mm between 1987–2010. The population consisted of 19 $\pm$ 2 (mean  $\pm$  95% Cl; range = 14–26; Dugdale et al., 2008) mixed-sex social groups (Johnson et al., 2002; Newman et al., 2011) during the period that we analysed, 1987–2010. The Wytham badger population is geographically discrete (Macdonald et al., 2009) with only ca. 3% annual immigration/emigration per year (Macdonald and Newman, 2002).

The badger population has been trapped systematically since 1987 over two weeks in May–June (Spring), August–September (Summer) and November (Autumn), with trapping in January (Winter) in focal years. Badgers were anaesthetised using an intra-muscular injection of 0.2 ml ketamine hydrochloride per kg body weight (McLaren et al., 2005). Upon first capture, badgers were tattooed with a unique number on the left inguinal region for permanent identification. Sex, age class (cub <1 year old; adult  $\geq$ 1 year old), capture date and social group were recorded. Age of badgers was defined by the number of days since the 14<sup>th</sup> of February, reflecting the February birth peak (Yamaguchi et al., 2006). Age of badgers first caught as adults was inferred from tooth wear (da Silva and Macdonald, 1989; Macdonald et al., 2009); badgers with a tooth wear of 2 were assumed to be 1-year old adults (van Lieshout et al., 2019). Whole blood samples were collected from anaesthetised badgers through jugular venipuncture into vacutainers with an EDTA anticoagulant, and stored immediately at -20°C. Badgers were released after full recovery from anaesthesia. Additionally, bait-marking (Macdonald and Newman, 2002; Delahay et al., 2000) was conducted periodically to delimit group range sizes and configure social groups.

#### 4.3.2 Telomere analyses

Genomic DNA was extracted from whole blood samples (n = 841 samples; 562 badgers) using the DNeasy Blood & Tissue kit (Qiagen, Manchester, UK) according to the manufacturer's protocol, with adjustments using 125 µl of anticoagulated blood and a double elution step (2x 75 µl AE buffer). We checked DNA integrity by running a random selection of DNA extracts (ca. 20%) on agarose gels to ensure high molecular weight. DNA concentration of all samples was quantified using the Fluostar Optima fluorometer (BMG Labtech, Ortenberg, Germany) and standardized to 20 ng/µl, after which samples were stored at -20 °C. We used monochrome multiplex quantitative PCR (MMqPCR; Cawthon, 2009) analysis to measure relative leukocyte telomere lengths. This measure represents the mean telomere length

across cells in a sample, which is calculated as the abundance of telomeric sequences relative to a reference gene where both are analysed in the same well. A detailed description of the MMqPCR analysis is given in van Lieshout et al. (2019).

#### 4.3.3 Weather conditions

Weather metrics, as a proxy for developmental stress in terms of earthworm food availability and thermoregulatory costs while foraging (Nouvellet et al., 2013; Noonan et al., 2014; Macdonald et al., 2010), were calculated using weather data (mean daily temperature and total daily rainfall) from the Radcliffe Meteorological Station, School of Geography, University of Oxford. No critical window for weather predictors in relation to early-life RLTL could be differentiated from the candidate windows using the sliding window approach (van de Pol et al., 2016; Table S4.1), and we therefore used a biologically sensible window that reflects the strongest developmental stress on individuals (February–May). This period was selected as cubs are born in February (Yamaguchi et al., 2006) and exhibit high growth rates depending on food availability and social conditions (Sugianto et al., 2019a).

Weather metrics were calculated from 1987 to 2010, where two metrics for temperature were calculated as the: i) mean of mean daily temperature over February to May; and, ii) variability in daily temperature over February to May – since daily temperatures within a year follows a sinusoidal pattern, variability in temperature was calculated as the sum of squared residuals in deviation around the daily predicted temperatures (i.e. distance from sinusoidal curve to the daily temperature). Rainfall did not follow clear seasonal trends and was characterised simply as the: i) mean daily rainfall over February to May, and ii) coefficient of variation in daily rainfall over February to May (see Nouvellet et al., 2013 for a detailed description).

#### 4.3.4 Group sizes

Group sizes were determined by the number of individuals (cubs and adults) that were present in a social group in a given year. Given high natal philopatry (35.8%), low permanent dispersal rates (19.1%), and high levels of inter-group movements (Macdonald et al., 2008), individuals (n = 1726) were assigned as a resident of a social group each year, according to the following rules adapted from Annavi et al. (2014b) and Macdonald et al. (2008):

- Badgers first caught as cubs (n = 1241) were considered resident in the social group they were first caught in, until they subsequently satisfied dispersal rules or were considered dead.
- 2. Badgers first caught as adults (n = 490) were assigned to their lifetime modal social group, until dispersal rules applied. If an individual was captured equally between two groups (n = 29), they were assigned to the social group they were initially captured in until dispersal rules applied.
- 3. Dispersal rules were satisfied when the two most recent captures of an individual (>30 days apart), as well as 1 of 2 captures before, were made in a different social group than the current resident group. Individuals were then resident in the new social group until dispersal rules applied again.

The number of individuals per social group were then calculated as the sum of individuals present in the social group in a given year. These measures were separated by age class (i.e. cub/adult) and sex (i.e. male/female) to determine sex- and age-specific group sizes.

To measure intra-sexual competition in females, we calculated female adult group sizes, as females compete with other within-group females (Woodroffe and Macdonald, 1995b). However, for males, extra-group paternity is high (48%) and affected by the number of within-group and extra-group candidate fathers (Annavi et al., 2014b), so we combined both the number of within-group males and neighbouring-group males. The mean number of cubs in a social group was 4.2 (±2.2 SD; range 1–10), the mean number of female adults in

a social group was 7.1 ( $\pm$ 3.4 SD; range 1–17) and the mean number of male adults in focal plus neighbouring social groups was 30.0 ( $\pm$ 11.1 SD; range 3–59).

#### 4.3.5 Statistical analyses

Statistical analyses were conducted in R 3.3.1 (R Development Core Team, 2019) with RLTL as the response variable, which was first square-root transformed and then turned into Z-scores (Verhulst, 2019). All General Linear Mixed Models (GLMMs) included natal social group, qPCR-plate and row on qPCR-plate as random effects. Significance of fixed effects was determined with log-likelihood ratio tests, set at P <0.05. Model fit was assessed using standard residual plot techniques and fixed effects were checked for collinearity (VIF < 3).

We first tested whether conditions experienced as a cub (<1 year old) affected earlylife RLTL. In a GLMM with early-life RLTL as the response variable and age (months), cohort and season as fixed effects, we determined that early-life RLTL did not vary with age (n = 435,  $X^2 = 0.060$ , d.f. = 1, P = 0.806), and excluded age from the subsequent analysis. The effects of first-year conditions on early-life RLTL were then modelled with early-life RLTL as the response variable (n = 435, samples; 435 badgers) and the number of cubs in the natal group, sex and its interaction as fixed effects due to sex-specific developmental pathways (Sugianto et al., 2019a). We also included the number of adult females in the social group as a covariate to account for the number of mothers that may provide care for offspring, and season as a fixed factor. In the same model, to test effects of early-life conditions, we included an interaction between mean daily temperature and variability in daily temperature, and an interaction between mean daily rainfall and the coefficient of variation in daily rainfall as fixed effects, and cohort as an additional random effect. To confirm whether the number of contemporary cubs provide a social cue we then removed the interaction between sex and the number of cubs in the natal group. Badgers generally reach sexual maturity at 1-year old (Dugdale et al., 2007), but may not become reproductively active until 2 years of age (Sugianto et al., 2019b) and therefore first produce offspring when they are 3 years of age, due to delayed implantation. We therefore examined whether same-sex adult group sizes were reflected in RLTL in early adulthood (i.e. 12–36 months old). In a GLMM with RLTL in early adulthood as the response variable with age thresholds (see van Lieshout et al., 2019), cohort and season as fixed effects and year and individual ID as additional random effects, we determined that RLTL did not vary with age (n = 406, age threshold 1,  $X^2 = 2.561$ , d.f. = 1, P = 0.110; age threshold 2,  $X^2 =$ 3.321, d.f. = 1, P = 0.068), and excluded age from the subsequent analysis. The effects of same-sex adult group size on RLTL in early adulthood were modelled with RLTL in early adulthood as the response variable (n = 406 samples; 329 individuals). Same-sex adult group size (within-group for females and within- plus neighbouring-group for males), sex and its interaction (to model differential strength in intra-sexual competition among the sexes) age at last capture (to control for selective disappearance), and season were included as fixed effects, and cohort, year and individual ID as additional random effects.



Figure 4.1: The interaction between mean daily temperature and variability in daily temperature from February to May on early-life relative leukocyte telomere length (RLTL). Raw data points (n = 435) are shown; these were modelled as continuous fixed effects but for visualisation are shown for cubs experiencing low (n = 223; brown, triangle, dashed) or high temperature variability (n = 212; blue, circle, solid). Fitted lines represent the model prediction for mean daily temperature interacting with variability in daily temperature, with associated 95% confidence intervals as shaded areas.

#### 4.4 Results

#### (a) Effects of weather and group size on early-life RLTL

We found a positive interaction between mean daily temperature and variability in daily temperature on early-life RLTL (Figure 4.1; Table S4.2). Cubs experiencing colder conditions had shorter early-life RLTL compared to warmer conditions (Figure 4.1; Table S4.2). Yet, cubs experiencing higher mean daily temperatures benefitted from high variation in daily temperature, whereas with lower mean daily temperatures, variation in daily temperature had a detrimental effect on early-life RLTL (Figure 4.1; Table S4.2). There was also an effect

of season, with cubs having shorter early-life telomere length in winter compared to spring (Table S4.2; Figure S4.1).

We also found a negative interaction between mean daily rainfall and the coefficient of variation in daily rainfall on early-life RLTL (Figure 4.2; Table S4.2). Cubs experiencing lower mean daily rainfall benefitted from high variation in daily rainfall, whereas with higher mean daily rainfall, variation in daily rainfall had a detrimental effect on early-life RLTL (Figure 4.2; Table S4.2).



Figure 4.2: The interaction between mean daily rainfall and the coefficient of variation in daily rainfall from February to May on early-life relative leukocyte telomere length (RLTL). Raw data points (n = 435) are shown and modelled as a continuous variable in the mixed model, but for visualisation are shown for cubs shown experiencing low (n = 211; brown, triangle, dashed) or high variation in daily rainfall (n = 224; blue, circle, solid). Fitted lines represent the model prediction for mean daily rainfall interacting with coefficient of variation in daily rainfall, with associated 95% confidence intervals as shaded areas.

We found no evidence for a sex-specific effect of the number of cubs in the natal group on early-life RLTL (Table S4.2). However, we found a positive relationship between the number of cubs in the natal group and early-life RLTL, while accounting for the number of adult females in the group and early-life weather conditions, indicating that the number of cubs provides a social cue of future competition (Figure 4.3; Table S4.3).

#### (b) Effects of same-sex group size on RLTL in early adulthood

We found no evidence of same-sex adult group size effects on RLTL in early adulthood for females or males (Table S4.4).



### Number of cubs in natal group

Figure 4.3: The relationship between the number of cubs in the natal group and early-life relative leukocyte telomere length (RLTL). Raw data (n = 435) are shown as open circles with number of cubs in natal group as integers, but jittered for clarity on the amount of data. The fitted line represents the regression from the mixed model, and the 95% confidence intervals as the shaded area.

#### 4.5 Discussion

Our results show that badger cubs born in warm and wet conditions, with little variation in rainfall, had longer early-life RLTL. We also found no evidence for sex-specific effects of the number of cubs in the natal group on early-life RLTL, but we found that cubs born in groups with more cubs had longer early-life RLTL. Additionally, we found no evidence of intra-sexual competition effects (in terms of the number of within-group adult females, or both withingroup and extra-group adult males) on RLTL in early adulthood.

Cubs that experienced higher mean daily temperatures, independent of daily temperature variability or with high temperature variability, had longer early-life RLTL, whereas the benefits of mean daily rainfall were dependent on the variation in daily rainfall for early-life RLTL. Since badgers feed mainly on earthworms, which are available in warm and wet conditions, high mean daily temperature and rainfall result in greater food availability (Kruuk, 1978b; Newman et al., 2017). Even though weather conditions experienced as cubs can affect early-life RLTL through thermoregulatory costs while foraging (Webb and King, 1984; Nouvellet et al., 2013), accelerometry tracking has shown that, particularly fatter, badgers will remain in the thermally-stable setts during adverse weather conditions and avoid a net-negative energy return of foraging (Noonan et al., 2015; Noonan et al., 2018; Tsunoda et al., 2018) by going into torpor (Noonan et al., 2014). Individuals born in relatively warm and wet conditions may therefore achieve a positive energy balance, which can be invested in either growth or somatic maintenance (Kirkwood, 1977; Kirkwood and Rose, 1991), and result in slower patterns of senescence (e.g. Hammers et al., 2013). Additionally, we found seasonal effects, with shorter early-life telomere length in the winter season because of sub-optimal foraging conditions and food availability (Macdonald and Newman, 2002; Newman et al., 2017), and when badgers go into torpor (Noonan et al., 2014). Thus, favourable weather conditions, i.e. higher mean daily temperature and rainfall, associated with longer early-life RLTL indicate reduced developmental stress, greater longevity and slower senescence patterns.

The effect of the mean of early-life environmental conditions on early-life RLTL (i.e. mean daily temperature and mean daily rainfall) depended on the variability in early-life environmental conditions. In environments with a higher mean daily temperature or daily rainfall, greater weather variability can reduce the predictability of food availability and impact foraging activity (Noonan et al., 2018), and result in maladaptation which has been associated with faster rates of senescence (Cotto and Ronce, 2014). This is in line with previous findings where badgers showed higher cub recruitment and survival probability in conditions with restricted deviation from the mean yearly temperature (Nouvellet et al., 2013). However, in conditions with lower mean daily rainfall, variability may benefit the individual by providing a temporal increase in resource availability and foraging conditions. Individuals can then modulate their energy trade-offs in response to the mean of and variability in environmental conditions (Erikstad et al., 1998; Weimerskirch et al., 2001; Reid et al., 2003) and adopt a bet-hedging strategy until environmental conditions are favourable (Morris et al., 2008; Wilbur and Rudolf, 2006). The interplay between variability and mean environmental conditions changes the quality of the environment which shapes individual fitness, and since variability is likely to increase under current climate change (IPCC, 2014), this can impact ecological and individual resilience. Understanding the consequences of variability, depending on the mean environmental conditions, on RLTL and life-history is not only important in terms of climate change and habitat fragmentation, but may also provide a source of variation in senescence patterns.

Besides weather conditions related to food availability, we show no sex-specific effects of the number of cubs on early-life telomere length. There is therefore no clear evidence that males are more susceptible to social stress than females. However, we found that cubs born in groups with more cubs had longer early-life RLTL, after controlling for the
potential for greater care in groups with more mothers (Dugdale et al., 2010). This is in contrast with the current consensus around early-life social conditions that competition for food has detrimental consequences for telomere length and telomere shortening (Cram et al., 2017; Boonekamp et al., 2014; Nettle et al., 2015). While badger cubs may have access to sufficient food that does not lead to developmental constraint, these studies were also able to measure telomere length within the first month of life. In contrast, we were unable to sample individuals until at least 3 months of age, due to welfare legislation (Protection of Badgers Act, 1992), when the weakest cubs could have already succumbed and therefore result in different group sizes; thus, we measured RLTL from three to twelve months of age. With little knowledge of pre-emergence group dynamics in badgers, underground resource competition before capture may lead to similar patterns of early-life RLTL as found in our results. However, cubs may also use the number of contemporaries as a cue of future competition (Bretman et al., 2016; Kasumovic and Brooks, 2011). Such socially cued anticipatory plasticity may be reflected in early-life telomere length, where a smaller number of cubs can provide a cue to accelerate development to sexual maturity to utilise the opportunity to reproduce, as a form of developmental plasticity (Bateson et al., 2004; Stevenson and Bancroft, 1995; Bretman et al., 2016). This is in line with badger cubs, particularly males, born in groups with fewer cubs having faster development, growth rates and reaching sexual maturity earlier (Sugianto et al., 2019b). Such reproductive investment at the expense of somatic maintenance, reflected in early-life RLTL, indicates that social cues in early-life have consequences for senescence through developmental plasticity.

Social conditions in early adulthood, however, indicated no association between same-sex adult group size and RLTL in early adulthood. While in polygynous species a stronger competition among males for mating opportunities can be expected (Trivers, 1972; Clutton-Brock and Isvaran, 2007), Wytham badgers only exhibit a slight sexual dimorphism (Johnson and Macdonald, 2001) and male-biased mortality (Bright Ross; unpublished data).

Intra-sexual competition may therefore not be strong in badgers, where the high levels of polygynandry, promiscuity and repeated mounting behaviour may have evolved to reduce male-male aggression and infanticide from males (Dugdale et al., 2011a; Wolff and Macdonald, 2004). The post-copulatory mechanisms in badgers regarding cryptic female choice (i.e. delayed implantation, superfecundation and superfetation) may promote sperm competition, mask paternity and increase genetic diversity and compatibility rather than direct intra-sexual competition (Birkhead and Pizzari, 2002). Such genetic diversity is enhanced in badgers by high levels of extra-group paternity, where particularly the number of within-group and extra-group fathers (neighbouring groups) define the relative proportion of extra-group offspring (Annavi et al., 2014b; Dugdale et al., 2007). Additionally, although there is reproductive skew in males, where males with a higher body condition index attain reproductive success, this is not strong and achieving reproductive success may thus depend on other biological or environmental factors (Dugdale et al., 2008). Even though there is substantial variation in reproductive senescence between male and female badgers (Dugdale et al., 2011b), we found no evidence that variation in senescence patterns, reflected in earlylife telomere length, is due to intra-sexual competition in early adulthood. Our study contrasts with a study in a badger population studied at Woodchester Park (Beirne et al., 2015), where males show higher rates of body mass senescence than males due to downstream effect of intra-sexual competition in early adulthood. While there is no evidence of direct effects of intra-sexual competition in early adulthood on telomere length, there may be downstream effects on body mass senescence.

In conclusion, our findings support the view that the mean weather conditions experienced, and the interaction with variability in weather conditions, can impact on RLTL and senescence. Further studies investigating individual variation in senescence should therefore not only focus on the mean conditions but also the variability therein to understand the selective pressures on senescence. Additionally, social conditions in early-

life can constrain development when food is limited (Boonekamp et al., 2014; Nettle et al., 2015), but we provide evidence that social cues in early-life can lead to plastic responses in anticipation of future competition. Such developmental plasticity is important in shaping life-history trade-offs and as a consequence can impact the rates of senescence. However, we found no evidence for effects of intra-sexual competition on RLTL in early adulthood. The mean early-life conditions, the variability therein, and the potential for plastic responses in anticipation of such conditions under current climate change has strong implications for developmental stress and senescence patterns.

# Supplemental information Chapter 4: The effects of weather conditions and group size on telomere lengths in a wild mammal

### **Supplementary tables**

Table S4.1: Estimates for the optimal climatic window from the baseline model (without climatic predictors), with early-life relative leukocyte telomere length (RLTL; <1 year old) as the response variable, the number of cubs in the natal social group, female adult group size and season as fixed effects, and cohort, natal social group, qPCR plate and row on qPCR plate as random effects. Windows were estimated for mean ( $\mu$ ) daily temperature, variability ( $\sigma^2$ ) around daily predicted temperature, total ( $\Sigma$ ) daily rainfall and coefficient of variation (*CV*) in total daily rainfall. Absolute windows were tested, with a range of 333–0 days before the 31<sup>st</sup> of December in the corresponding year of measurement, with daily intervals. The response function was linear (n = 435 samples, 435 badgers over 20 years). The top models for each variable are shown, with 'Open' indicating the start of the climatic window, and 'Close' as the end of the window.  $\Delta$ AlCc compared to the null model (a lower value represents a better model fit), with  $\beta$  = model estimate and S.E = standard error. Randomisations (n = 100) were conducted to determine the likelihood (p-value) of candidate signals occurring by chance, where p > 0.05 indicates that the model could not differentiate an optimal window out of all candidate windows.

Model	Variable	ΔAICc	Open	Close	в	S.E.	p-value
1	μ temp.	-7.20	214	175	0.05938	0.00306	0.268
2	σ² temp.	-2.46	252	40	0.35969	0.00315	0.903
3	Σ rainfall	-10.87	183	179	-0.02596	0.00308	0.866
4	CV rainfall	-4.93	183	179	-0.00023	0.00306	0.461

Table S4.2: Parameter estimates and 95% confidence intervals of fixed effects from a mixed model testing group size and weather effects on early-life relative leukocyte telomere length (Z-score) in European badgers.  $\theta$  = direction and magnitude of effect, S.E. = standard error, 95% CI = 95% confidence interval,  $\chi^2$  = chi-squared value; reference terms in brackets = reference level for factors; \* = interaction. Significant parameters (p < 0.05) are in bold.

Parameter (reference level)	β	S.E.	95% CI	X <sup>2</sup>	p-value
Intercept	-0.050	0.113	-0.219 to 0.169		•
Number of cubs in natal group	0.093	0.070	-0.045 to 0.225	1.842	0.171
Sex (Female)	-0.026	0.089	-0.188 to 0.159	0.027	0.871
Number of adult females in	-0.042	0.048	-0.134 to 0.060	0.638	0.424
natal group					
Season (Spring)				12.61	0.006
Summer	0.095	0.105	-0.125 to 0.287		
Autumn	-0.038	0.189	-0.458 to 0.279		
Winter	-0.827	0.269	-1.416 to -0.375		
Mean temperature	0.250	0.078	0.138 to 0.377	11.79	<0.001
Daily temperature variability	0.129	0.080	0.009 to 0.255	4.320	0.038
Mean daily rainfall	0.256	0.083	0.121 to 0.385	11.72	<0.001
Coefficient of variation in daily rainfall	0.181	0.082	0.061 to 0.315	7.106	0.008
Number of cubs in natal group * Sex (Female)	0.028	0.089	-0.142 to 0.204	0.122	0.726
Mean temperature * Daily temperature variability	0.258	0.065	0.168 to 0.381	14.97	<0.001
Mean daily rainfall * Coefficient of variation in daily rainfall	-0.355	0.113	-0.555 to -0.187	11.89	<0.001

Random effect estimates (variance): Plate (4.622\*10<sup>-2</sup>), Row (6.316\*10<sup>-3</sup>), Natal social group (1.010\*10<sup>-2</sup>), Cohort (5.694\*10<sup>-2</sup>), Residual (7.733\*10<sup>-1</sup>)

Table S4.3: Parameter estimates and 95% confidence intervals of fixed effects from a mixed model testing group size and weather effects on early-life relative leukocyte telomere length (Z-score) in European badgers, but without the interaction between the number of cubs in the natal group and sex.  $\beta$  = direction and magnitude of effect, S.E. = standard error, 95% CI = 95% confidence interval,  $\chi^2$  = chi-squared value with associated p-value; reference terms in brackets = reference level for factors; \* = interaction. Significant parameters (p < 0.05) are in bold.

Parameter (reference level)	β	S.E.	95% CI	<b>X</b> <sup>2</sup>	p-value
Intercept	-0.051	0.114	-0.219 to 0.169		
Number of cubs in natal group	0.109	0.049	0.014 to 0.202	5.111	0.024
Sex (Female)	-0.026	0.088	-0.188 to 0.159	0.027	0.869
Number of adult females in natal	-0.042	0.048	-0.134 to 0.060	0.654	0.419
group					
Season (Spring)				12.70	0.005
Summer	0.096	0.105	-0.123 to 0.288		
Autumn	-0.039	0.189	-0.459 to 0.278		
Winter	-0.827	0.269	-1.418 to -0.377		
Mean temperature	0.250	0.078	0.138 to 0.377	11.75	<0.001
Daily temperature variability	0.129	0.080	0.010 to 0.256	4.357	0.037
Mean daily rainfall	0.256	0.084	0.120 to 0.385	11.67	<0.001
Coefficient of variation in daily rainfall	0.182	0.082	0.061 to 0.316	7.146	0.008
Mean temperature * Daily temperature variability	0.258	0.065	0.168 to 0.382	14.94	<0.001
Mean daily rainfall * Coefficient of variation in daily rainfall	-0.355	0.113	-0.557 to -0.188	11.91	<0.001

Random effect estimates (variance): Plate (4.659\*10<sup>-2</sup>), Row (6.313\*10<sup>-3</sup>), Natal social group (9.930\*10<sup>-3</sup>), Cohort (5.734\*10<sup>-2</sup>), Residual (7.714\*10<sup>-1</sup>)

Table S4.4: Parameter estimates and 95% confidence intervals of fixed effects from a mixed model testing same-sex group size effects on relative leukocyte telomere length in early adulthood (Z-score) in European badgers.  $\beta$  = direction and magnitude of effect, S.E. = standard error, 95% CI = 95% confidence interval,  $\chi^2$  = chi-squared value with associated p-value; reference terms in brackets = reference level for factors; \* = interaction. Significant parameters (p < 0.05) are in bold.

Parameter (reference level)	β	S.E.	95% CI	X²	p-value
Intercept	-0.094	0.280	-0.639 to 0.445		
Number of same-sex adults	-0.081	0.289	-0.648 to 0.476	0.151	0.770
in group					
Sex (Female)	0.185	0.276	-0.345 to 0.729	0.476	0.490
Season (Spring)				0.769	0.857
Summer	-0.055	0.111	-0.274 to 0.157		
Autumn	0.117	0.200	-0.276 to 0.505		
Winter	-0.040	0.305	-0.634 to 0.552		
Age at last capture	0.043	0.052	-0.058 to 0.143	0.693	0.405
Number of same-sex adults	0.034	0.296	-0.539 to 0.614	0.016	0.898
in group * Sex (Female)					

Random effect estimates (variance): Plate ( $4.315^{*}10^{-2}$ ), Row (< $1.000^{*}10^{-12}$ ), Social group ( $8.914^{*}10^{-9}$ ), Cohort ( $2.297^{*}10^{-2}$ ), Year ( $1.721^{*}10^{-1}$ ), Individual ID ( $2.359^{*}10^{-8}$ ), Residual ( $8.397^{*}10^{-1}$ )



Figure S4.1: Variation in early-life relative leukocyte telomere length (RLTL) among seasons in European badgers. Raw data are shown where the line represents the median, with first and third quartile, and whiskers represent 1.57 times the inter-quartile range.

Chapter 5: Estimation of environmental and genetic contributions to telomere length variation in a wild mammal

#### 5.1 Abstract

Understanding individual variation in senescence patterns requires separating the environmental and genetic determinants. Telomeres are protective caps at the ends of chromosomes that are a biomarker of senescence as their length predicts mortality risk. The relative contribution of genetic and environmental factors to individual variation in telomere length is however unclear, yet important to understand its evolutionary dynamics. In particular, the evidence for transgenerational effects, in terms of parental age at conception, on telomere length is mixed. Here, we investigate the heritability of telomere length, using the 'animal model', and parental age at conception effects on offspring telomere length in a wild population of European badgers (Meles meles). While we found no heritability of telomere length, our power to detect heritability was low, and a repeatability of 2% across individual lifetimes provides a low upper-limit to ordinary heritability. However, year (25%) and cohort (3%) explained greater proportions of the phenotypic variance in telomere length. There was no support for parental age at conception effects, or for longitudinal within-parental age effects on offspring telomere length. Our results indicate a lack of transgenerational effects through parental age at conception effects and a low potential for evolutionary change in telomere length. Instead, we provide evidence that variation in environmental factors drives individual variation in telomere length in this wild mammal.

## 5.2 Introduction

Senescence is the progressive accumulation of damage with age (Medawar, 1952; Williams, 1957), where senescent declines in both cellular and physiological functions lead to agedependent declines in survival probability and reproductive success (Stearns, 1992; Kirkwood and Austad, 2000). Evolutionary theories of senescence have been developed based on the premise that deleterious mutations or antagonistically pleiotropic genes put greater pressure on individual fitness in early-life compared to later-life (Medawar, 1952;

Williams, 1957; Kirkwood and Rose, 1991). Such pressure on fitness in early-life is the consequence of higher extrinsic mortality, leading to weakening forces of selection with age (Hamilton, 1966). These forces of natural selection, acting on the heritability of a trait (the proportion of phenotypic variance explained by additive genetic variance), can describe the evolutionary potential of senescence (Lynch and Walsh, 1998; Charmantier et al., 2014). It is therefore important to separate environmental and genetic components that contribute to individual variation in senescence patterns in order to understand the evolution of senescence (Charmantier et al., 2014; Wilson et al., 2008; Nussey et al., 2013).

Telomeres are a biomarker of senescence (Monaghan and Haussmann, 2006) and understanding the heritability of telomere length provides insight into the evolution of senescence (Dugdale and Richardson, 2018). Telomeres are repetitive non-coding sequences (5'-TTAGGG-3') at the ends of eukaryotic chromosomes that, along with shelterin proteins, maintain genomic integrity and prevent end-to-end fusion of linear chromosomes (Blackburn, 1991). Due to the end-replication problem, telomeres shorten with each cell division (Olovnikov, 1973). Telomere shortening can, however, be accelerated by adverse environmental conditions (e.g. Boonekamp et al., 2014; Nettle et al., 2015) and metabolically demanding activities (Heidinger et al., 2012; Epel et al., 2004). In vitro evidence shows that oxidative damage contributes to telomere shortening (von Zglinicki, 2002), but there is no evidence for such effects in vivo (Reichert and Stier, 2017; Boonekamp, 2017). Telomeres can also be restored by telomerase, although this enzyme is transcriptionally repressed after initial development (Blackburn et al., 1989). However, alternative telomere lengthening pathways exist (Cesare and Reddel, 2010; Mendez-Bermudez et al., 2012). Critically short telomeres can result in replicative senescence, where accumulation of senescent cells can impair tissue functioning (Armanios and Blackburn, 2012; Campisi, 2005) and may lead to organismal senescence (Young, 2018).

Individual variation in telomere length occurs in wild populations (Fairlie et al., 2016; Spurgin et al., 2017; van Lieshout et al., 2019) which is linked to individual life-history (Wilbourn et al., 2018). Understanding the degree to which individual variation in telomere length is due to genetic and environmental effects, in addition to the strength of natural selection acting on telomere length, allows estimation of the potential for evolutionary change (Lynch and Walsh, 1998; Charmantier et al., 2014). Heritability of telomere length has been estimated in over seven wild species and in >26 studies in humans (see Table 1 in Dugdale and Richardson, 2018). These studies primarily used parent–offspring regressions to determine the heritability of telomere length, with estimates ranging from 0 to 1. The majority, however, of these heritability estimates were relatively high, which is unexpected given that heritabilities of traits closely related to fitness are often low (Price and Schluter, 1991; Postma, 2014; Mousseau and Roff, 1987). However, parents and offspring often live in similar environments, and parent–offspring regressions are frequently confounded by these 'shared environment' effects, which can inflate heritability estimates (Kruuk, 2004).

The 'animal model' provides a statistical approach that can overcome the drawbacks of parent–offspring regressions because it allows partitioning of variance components into additive genetic and shared environment sources (Kruuk and Hadfield, 2007; Wilson et al., 2010). Because heritability is the proportion of phenotypic variation due to additive genetic variance, any changes to the amount of environmental variation will impact heritability estimates, even if the additive genetic variance does not itself change (Kruuk and Hadfield, 2007; Dugdale and Richardson, 2018). Environmental effects (e.g. Boonekamp et al., 2014; Nettle et al., 2015) therefore need to be accounted for to derive accurate heritability estimates (Dugdale and Richardson, 2018). The 'animal model' is a mixed-effects model that uses either the expected proportion of the genome that individuals share by descent (from a pedigree) or by state (from genomic data) to partition phenotypic variance into environmental and genetic components (Wilson et al., 2010). The few studies applying an

animal model approach in wild populations of non-human vertebrates found no heritability of telomere length in white-throated dippers (*Cinclus cinclus*; 0.007±0.013 SE; Becker et al., 2015), but high heritability in great reed warblers (*Acrocephalus arundinaceus*; 0.480±0.120 SE; Asghar et al., 2015a). However, although these were pioneering studies, the sample sizes were relatively low for quantitative genetic analyses and the power to detect heritability was not stated. Additionally, neither study had repeated measures to estimate permanent environment effects, which may inflate additive genetic effects (Kruuk and Hadfield, 2007). More studies in wild populations, and from more taxa, with larger sample sizes and repeated measures, are required to disentangle the genetic and environmental contributions to variation in telomere length.

The influence of environmental conditions on variation in telomere length is not only important to account for statistically, but informs about which environmental factors shape individual telomere length. Previous studies have shown that cohort (Hall et al., 2004; Watson et al., 2015; Fairlie et al., 2016), year (Mizutani et al., 2013; Wilbourn et al., 2017), social group (Cram et al., 2017; Boonekamp et al., 2014; Nettle et al., 2015) and parental effects (Asghar et al., 2015a; Cram et al., 2017) affect individual telomere length. Understanding the relative contribution of these different sources of environmental variation on telomere length informs on its evolution.

In addition to these environmental and additive genetic effects, offspring telomere length may also be influenced by paternal age at conception (PAC) according to two mutually non-exclusive hypotheses. First, to compensate for telomere loss due to sperm production and progressive cell replication, telomerase activity in germ stem cells is high. Telomerase expression might, beyond restoring telomere length, overcompensate and result in elongation of telomeres in germ stem cells (Kimura et al., 2008; Aviv and Susser, 2013). Second, stem cells with longer telomeres are better able to withstand repeated cell replication and therefore may become predominant in the stem cell pool with age due to the

selective loss of germ stem cells with shorter telomeres (Kimura et al., 2008; Hjelmborg et al., 2015). In humans, there is cross-sectional evidence that older men produce sperm with longer telomeres (r = 0.127-0.160; Aston et al., 2012; de Meyer et al., 2007; Kimura et al., 2008; Nordfjall et al., 2010).

The evidence for a positive cross-sectional PAC effect is even stronger in captive chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes*; *r* = 0.378) compared to humans (Eisenberg et al., 2017). An explanation for this stronger effect is that chimpanzees have larger testes and higher rates of sperm production than humans, due to their more promiscuous mating system (Birkhead and Møller, 1998). Stronger sperm competition could therefore result in the PAC effect, because stronger postcopulatory competition should select for high quality sperm to be produced at a fast rate (Eisenberg et al., 2017). We would therefore expect that species with high levels of sperm competition and high rates of sperm production, such as in polygynandrous species, should show the strongest PAC effect.

PAC effects are often confounded with maternal age at conception (MAC), as these are typically highly correlated in human populations (Table 1 in Froy et al., 2017). The presence of MAC effects in humans is generally considered to be due to the correlation with PAC instead of a true independent biological effect (de Meyer et al., 2007; Kimura et al., 2008), because oocytes are produced prenatally, while sperm is produced throughout life (Eisenberg and Kuzawa, 2018). Additionally, parental age effects on fitness may be sexspecific (Bouwhuis et al., 2015). For example, male sparrows with older fathers or females with older mothers had lower lifetime reproductive success than sparrows with younger same-sex parents, and a hypothesised potential mechanism is sex-specific telomere shortening (Schroeder et al., 2015), although this was not the case in common terns (Bouwhuis et al., 2018). It is therefore important to test for sex-specific parental age effects.

Studies in wild populations have provided mixed evidence for PAC and MAC effects. Studies from different taxa, with a variety of mating systems, have shown a negative PAC

effect (Bouwhuis et al., 2018; Criscuolo et al., 2017; Olsson et al., 2011), including a longitudinal (Bauch et al., 2019) and an experimental manipulation (Noguera et al., 2018) study. However, other studies have reported no PAC or MAC effect on offspring telomere length (Heidinger et al., 2016; McLennan et al., 2018; Froy et al., 2017; Belmaker et al., 2019) or a positive MAC effect (Asghar et al., 2015a). The variation in PAC and MAC effects on offspring telomere length among species requires more studies to disentangle potential causes and mechanisms underlying such variation in transgenerational effects.

Here, we investigate PAC and MAC effects and the heritability of telomere length in polygynandrous European badgers (Meles meles; henceforth 'badgers'). individual variation in badger telomere length in early-life (<1 year old) is associated with survival probability (van Lieshout et al., 2019). However, little heritability is expected, as within-individual repeatability in telomere length is very low (0.022, 95% CI = 0.001 – 0.103; van Lieshout et al., 2019). While this sets the upper limit for ordinary heritability (Bijma, 2011), understanding the relative importance of environmental (i.e. cohort, year, social group, maternal and paternal effects) and genetic variance components is important to understand the evolution of telomere length. Badgers respond to year-specific weather variation with effects on behaviour and fitness (Macdonald et al., 2010; Nouvellet et al., 2013; Noonan et al., 2014) and because they are group-living may be impacted by social group attributes (Woodroffe and Macdonald, 2000; Beirne et al., 2015). Cubs are born in February, which is followed by a post-partum mating peak after which matings can occur throughout the year (Macdonald et al., 2015). Badgers are highly promiscuous, which may promote sperm competition (Dugdale et al., 2011a). However, female badgers are induced ovulators thus requiring long matings (Yamaguchi et al., 2006), and associated testes ascendence in males in autumn/winter (Woodroffe and Macdonald, 1995a), lead to reduced sperm production rates (Sugianto et al., 2019b) that may reduce the potential for transgenerational effects (i.e. PAC/MAC effects) on offspring telomere length.

We therefore test for: (i) sex-specific and longitudinal PAC and MAC effects on offspring relative leukocyte telomere length (RLTL), after assessing whether PAC and MAC are correlated; and (ii) the proportion of variance in juvenile RLTL (≤29 months old) and RLTL across individual lifetimes, that is explained by additive genetic and environmental effects.

### 5.3 Methods

#### 5.3.1 Study system

We conducted this study in Wytham Woods, Oxfordshire, UK (51°46′24″N, 1°20′04″W), a 424 ha mixed semi-natural woodland site surrounded by mixed arable and permanent pasture (Macdonald and Newman, 2002; Macdonald et al., 2004b). The resident badger population forms an almost closed population (immigration/emigration <3%; Macdonald and Newman, 2002), with a mean number of 19 social groups (95% CI = 17–21; range = 14–26; Dugdale et al., 2008) between 1987–2010. Cohort-dependent cub survival probability varies from 0.61 to 0.94 (mean±SE = 0.67±0.03; Macdonald et al., 2009), whereas mean annual adult survival probability in the population is 0.83 (±0.01 SE; Macdonald et al., 2009) with a mean lifespan of 3.31 years (±3.51 SD; Bright Ross, J., Pers. Comm.).

Trappings were conducted three or four times per year over two weeks in May–June (Spring), August–September (Summer) and November (Autumn), with trapping in January (Winter) in focal years, for two to three consecutive days per social group. Trapped badgers were anaesthetised using an intra-muscular injection of 0.2 ml ketamine hydrochloride per kg body weight (McLaren et al., 2005). Badgers were identified by a unique tattoo number on the left inguinal region. Sex, age class, sett (group den system), social group and capture date were recorded for each badger. Badgers were aged by the number of days elapsed since the 14<sup>th</sup> of February in the respective birth year (Yamaguchi et al., 2006). Individuals first caught as adults were aged through tooth wear, where tooth wear 2 indicates a 1-year old adult (van Lieshout et al., 2019). Blood was collected by jugular venipuncture into

vacutainers with an EDTA anticoagulant and stored at -20°C immediately. Badgers were released at their setts, after full recovery from anaesthesia.

#### 5.3.2 Molecular analyses

We extracted genomic DNA from whole blood samples (n = 1248 samples; 612 badgers) using the DNeasy Blood & Tissue kit (Qiagen, Manchester, UK) according to the manufacturer's protocol, with modifications by conducting a double elution step (2x 75 µl AE buffer) and using 125 µl of anticoagulated blood. We checked DNA integrity by running a random selection of DNA extracts (ca. 20%) on agarose gels to ensure high molecular weight. DNA concentration of all samples was quantified using the Fluostar Optima fluorometer (BMG Labtech, Ortenberg, Germany) and standardized to 20 ng/µl, after which samples were stored at -20 °C. We used monochrome multiplex quantitative PCR (MMqPCR) analysis to measure RLTL (Cawthon, 2009). This measure is the abundance of telomeric sequence relative to a reference gene, which are both analysed in the same well and represents the mean telomere length across cells in a sample. A detailed description of the MMqPCR analysis can be found in van Lieshout et al. (2019).

#### 5.3.3 Pedigree

The pedigree was constructed using DNA extracted from blood or guard hair samples, genotyped for 35 microsatellite loci (Dugdale et al., 2007; Annavi et al., 2014a), and *MasterBayes* 2.47 (Hadfield, 2010). The pruned pedigree (which excludes non-informative individuals) contained 753 unique individuals, from 7 generations, trapped between 1987 and 2010 (Table S5.1).

## 5.3.4 Statistical analyses

PAC and MAC effects

Statistical analyses were conducted in R 3.3.1 (R Development Core Team, 2019). PAC and MAC effects were analysed in general linear mixed models (GLMMs), with RLTL measurements square-root transformed to meet assumptions of Gaussian error distributions and subsequently turned into Z-scores (Verhulst, 2019). We checked fixed effects for collinearity through variance inflation factors (VIF < 3).

We first determined the correlation between PAC and MAC to investigate whether analyses for PAC and MAC effects needed to be conducted separately. There were 471 RLTL measurements from 240 offspring (121 females and 119 males; with 108 unique fathers and 120 unique mothers) where MAC and PAC were known. PAC and MAC both spanned ages 1– 12 years and there was a weak positive correlation between PAC and MAC (Pearson's r = 0.160, P < 0.001; Figure S5.1), allowing for PAC and MAC effects to be tested in the same model.

The effects of PAC and MAC on offspring RLTL were subsequently tested using linear mixed effect models in *Ime4* 1.1–14 (Bates et al., 2015). The model included fixed covariates for the best-fitting age relationship with RLTL, which was a threshold model (van Lieshout et al., 2019), and a fixed factor for season. Individual ID, cohort, year, qPCR plate, row on qPCR plate, maternal ID, paternal ID and social group were included as random effects. MAC and PAC were added to this model as fixed effects, and their interaction with sex, where significance was tested using likelihood ratio tests (n = 471 measurements; 240 badgers). We have 80% statistical power, based on our dataset and model structure, to detect a PAC effect of 0.00067 or greater (Figure S5.2) using a simulation-based power analysis in *simr* 1.0.5 (Green and MacLeod, 2016). This is equivalent to a correlation coefficient of 0.131 or greater (with the PAC effect size multiplied by its standard deviation and divided by the standard deviation of RLTL), providing statistical power to detect correlation coefficients found previously in humans (r = 0.127-0.160; de Meyer et al., 2007; Eisenberg et al., 2017; Nordfjall et al., 2010) and chimpanzees (r = 0.378; Eisenberg et al., 2017). Additional models were run,

where only offspring RLTL measurements from cubs (<1 year old) were included, to ensure the inclusion of adults did not mask effects of PAC or MAC. There were 194 measurements from 194 cubs (94 females, 100 males) that had 97 unique fathers and 109 unique mothers. The cub model was similar to the full model, but did not include random effects for individual ID (i.e. no repeat measures) and year (i.e. same as cohort random effect). We then separated, including all offspring RLTL measurements, within- from between-parental effects (n = 441measurements; 210 badgers) for each parent to test for longitudinal PAC and MAC effects, by taking the mean age at reproduction for each parent (between-parent effect) and subtracting this mean from each of the ages at reproduction of the parent (within-parent effect; van de Pol and Wright, 2009).

#### Partitioning variance in RLTL

We determined the relative contribution of environmental and genetic components to variation in RLTL with a quantitative genetic 'animal model' using pedigree relatedness based on parent-offspring assignments (n = 1248 measurements; 612 badgers). We had 80% power to detect a heritability of RLTL of  $\geq 0.27$  (Figure S5.3), estimated using *pedantics* 1.7 (Morrissey and Wilson, 2010). We used a stepwise addition approach to facilitate the detection of confounding random effects (Charmantier et al., 2014), while estimating the changes in heritability in response to addition of random effects. Additionally, we present results without fixed effects, as random effects are conditioned on the fixed effects (Wilson, 2008). We used *MCMCglmm* 2.25 (Hadfield 2010), with the number of iterations set to 600,000, a thinning of 300 and burn-in period of 15,000 iterations. The response variable was untransformed RLTL to gain variance estimates on the scale the trait was measured on (de Villemereuil et al., 2016); only a square-root tranformation of RLTL met Gaussian assumptions, however, a square-root link is not available in *MCMCglmm*. Three thresholds of age at measurement (van Lieshout et al., 2019) were included as fixed covariates and

season as a fixed factor. The random effects included: additive genetic, permanent environment (to account for environmental and non-additive genetic between-individual variation), parental effects (mother and father ID), year effects (cohort and capture years), resident social group, and measurement effects (qPCR-plate and row, to account for variance generated during the laboratory analysis). We present results with qPCR-plate and row included and excluded from the total phenotypic variance when calculating heritability, since qPCR-plate and row represent technical, not biological, variance (de Villemereuil et al., 2018).

Since badgers exhibit increases as well as decreases in RLTL in later life, and juvenile RLTL ( $\leq$ 29 months old) does not vary with age cross-sectionally (van Lieshout et al., 2019), we also estimated variance components and heritability just using a dataset of juvenile RLTL ( $\leq$ 29 months old; n = 837 measurements; 556 badgers). We had 80% power to detect a heritability of  $\geq$ 0.28 (Figure S5.4). The random effects were the same as in the full dataset. For the fixed effects the difference was that age was included as a linear covariate rather than a threshold model (as the first threshold is at 29 months; van Lieshout et al., 2019).

For random effects we used parameter expanded priors (F distribution: V = 1, nu = 1, alpha.mu = 0, alpha.V = 1,000) since variance components were close to zero. Model convergence was checked through low autocorrelation between successive thinned samples (<0.1), Heidelberg and Welch's diagnostics (tests if samples are drawn from stationary distribution), Geweke diagnostic (equality of means of first 10% and last 50% of Markov chain), and whether the effective size was >1000 for both fixed and variance components. Fixed effects were considered significant if the 95% credibility intervals of the posterior mode did not overlap zero.

We also conducted a frequentist analysis in *ASRemI-R* 3 using the same model structure to determine the robustness of our variance component estimates. In *ASRemI-R*, the significance of fixed effects was determined through Wald Z tests, whereas significance

of random effects was determined through twice the difference in log-likelihood (Visscher, 2006).

## 5.4 Results

Neither MAC nor PAC showed an overall or sex-specific association with variation in offspring RLTL at any age (Figure 5.1a & 5.1b, respectively), or as cubs (Figure 5.1c & 5.1d, respectively; Table S5.2). Additionally, within- and between-parental age at conception effects for each parent were not linked to variation in offspring RLTL (Table S5.2).



Figure 5.1: Associations between offspring relative leukocyte telomere length (RLTL) and either maternal (a & c) or paternal (b & d) age at conception (years) in European badgers. Scatterplots show raw data (blue for females and brown for males) for all ages (a & b; n = 417 measurements; 240 badgers) or only offspring measured as cubs (<1 year; c & d; 194 measurements; 194 badgers), and jittered for clarity.

The additive genetic variance explained near zero of the total phenotypic variance in RLTL (Table S5.3, Models 5.1–5.9). Heritability ( $h^2$ ) was < 0.001 (95% CrI = <0.001–0.026) with qPCR plate and row variance included in the phenotypic variance (Table S5.3, Model 5.7) and 0.001 (95% CrI = <0.001–0.028) when qPCR plate and row variance were excluded (Table S5.3, Model 5.8). In contrast, year (0.251, 95% CrI = 0.143–0.459) and cohort (0.030, 95% CrI = 0.007–0.074) explained a greater proportion of the phenotypic variance in RLTL (Figure 5.2; Table S5.3, Model 5.7). Social group (<0.001, 95% CrI = <0.001–0.014), paternal (<0.001, 95% CrI = <0.001–0.030) effects explained near zero variance in RLTL (Figure 5.2; Table S5.3, Model 5.7).



Figure 5.2: Proportion of variance explained in relative leukocyte telomere length (RLTL; models 1–8) in European badgers. Variance components:  $V_A$  = additive genetic,  $V_{PE}$  = permanent environment,  $V_{PLATE}$  = plate,  $V_{ROW}$  = row,  $V_{CO}$  = cohort,  $V_{YEAR}$  = year,  $V_{SG}$  = social group,  $V_{MAT}$  = maternal, and  $V_{PAT}$  = paternal. Model numbers on the x-axis correspond with Table S5.3.

There was also no detectable heritability of juvenile RLTL ( $\leq 29$  months old;  $h^2 < 0.001$ , 95% CrI = < 0.001-0.043), moderate year (0.216, 95% CrI = 0.107-0.431) and cohort (0.037, 95% CrI = 0.003-0.123) effects, and no detectable social group (< 0.001, 95% CrI = < 0.001-0.020), paternal (< 0.001, 95% CrI = < 0.001-0.026) or maternal (< 0.001, 95% CrI = < 0.001-0.032) effects (Table S5.3, Model 5.9).

A frequentist approach in *ASRemI–R* showed similar results with additive genetic variance explaining near zero of the phenotypic variance, but with cohort and year effects explaining variation in RLTL (Table S5.4 & S5.5).

#### 5.5 Discussion

Our study found no evidence for PAC or MAC associations with offspring RLTL in the European badger. Within primates there is extensive evidence for a positive PAC effect (e.g. Njajou et al., 2007; Eisenberg et al., 2017; Kimura et al., 2008). However, previous studies in non-primate vertebrates have reported a variety of relationships between offspring telomere length and PAC or MAC (e.g. Olsson et al., 2011; Asghar et al., 2015a; Heidinger et al., 2016; McLennan et al., 2018; Bouwhuis et al., 2018). Studies in non-primate mammals are limited. The one study in Soay sheep, which also has a promiscuous mating system with likely stronger sperm competition than in badgers (Preston et al., 2003), also found no relationship between offspring RLTL (either measured across all ages or only as lambs) and PAC or MAC (Froy et al., 2017). Our results add to the growing literature of mixed PAC/MAC results in wild populations (Olsson et al., 2011; Heidinger et al., 2016; Eisenberg et al., 2017; Njajou et al., 2007; McLennan et al., 2018), despite positive PAC effects in humans and chimpanzees (Njajou et al., 2007; Eisenberg et al., 2017; Kimura et al., 2008). Variation in PAC and MAC effects among species may be due to differences in mating systems and associated sperm production rates (Bouwhuis et al., 2018). Additionally, variation may be present but masked by sex-specific effects, however, we tested for but did not detect these.

Counter to our expectation for a highly promiscuous species that exhibits multiple and repetitive mounting behaviour (Dugdale et al., 2007; Dugdale et al., 2011a), we found no PAC effect, for which there are several potential reasons. First, telomerase activity may be more tightly regulated, or even lower, in the germline in badgers. However, while we know telomerase activity varies among tissue types and species (Davis and Kipling, 2005; Gomes et al., 2011), we require a better understanding of telomerase activity in species with different mating systems to validate this hypothesis. Secondly, higher sperm competiton may reduce the variability in RLTL among germ stem cells, negating selection for germ stem cells with longer telomeres at older ages and therefore longer offspring RLTL (Kimura et al., 2008). Thirdly, female badgers exhibit various postcopulatory mechanisms (i.e. embryonic diapause, superfetation, superfecundation). Even though replication is suppressed during embryonic diapause, maternal stress could impact offspring RLTL through glucocorticoids (Haussmann et al., 2012; Angelier et al., 2018; Yamaguchi et al., 2006). Additionally, superfetation could benefit the later fertilised egg through less exposure to maternal glucocorticoids. Maternal stress during pregnancy may therefore obscure the relationship between PAC or MAC and offspring RLTL. However, the effects of these postcopulatory mechanisms on PAC and MAC effects are difficult to quantify. Finally, badgers have a much lower life expectancy than humans and chimpanzees (Macdonald and Newman, 2002), as do Soay sheep (Froy et al., 2017). While reproductive senescence is observed in both sexes (Dugdale et al., 2011b), the effects of telomere elongation in sperm may not become apparent due to the shorter life expectancy, compared to humans and chimpanzees. Even though in male badgers the testes ascend in autumn with no spermatogenesis (Sugianto et al., 2019b), sperm production is likely highest in the peak mating season immediately after parturition (Macdonald et al., 2015). Despite the high potential for sperm competition in this species, seasonal mating peaks in badgers may explain the lack of a PAC effect through the

lack of continuity and rate of sperm production in badgers, as recently hypothesised in Bouwhuis et al. (2018).

While our study reveals no heritability of RLTL, we did not have the statistical power to detect heritability of RLTL <0.27. Given that variance in RLTL explained by individual was very low 2%, which forms the upper limit to ordinary heritability, the contribution of additive genetic variance to total phenotypic variance in RLTL in this wild mammal population is low. The low heritability of RLTL is consistent with low heritability of fitness-related traits in other species (Kruuk et al., 2000; Teplitsky et al., 2009). We have previously identified associations between early-life RLTL (<1 year old) and survival probability in this species (van Lieshout et al., 2019), so selection may have eroded genetic variation underlying RLTL in this population (Price and Schluter, 1991; Postma, 2014; Mousseau and Roff, 1987).

Partitioning of variation in RLTL in badgers into genetic and environmental factors showed that variation in RLTL was driven by environmental variation. Of the environmental factors investigated, we found no evidence for social group, maternal or paternal effects explaining variation in RLTL. Even though nest or social group (Nettle et al., 2015; Boonekamp et al., 2014; Cram et al., 2017; Becker et al., 2015) and maternal effects (Asghar et al., 2015a) have been important for telomere length in other species, this is not the case for badgers. Badgers provide neonatal care up to independence at around 14–16 weeks (Fell et al., 2006; Dugdale et al., 2010), and we therefore cannot capture badgers until at least 3 months of age (Protection of Badgers Act, 1992). As the strength of maternal effects on offspring decline with the age of the offspring (Moore et al., 2019), maternal effects explaining variation in offspring RLTL will be more difficult to detect. In contrast, we found that variation in RLTL was explained by a small cohort and moderate year effect.

The small effect of cohort on RLTL is in accordance with previous studies in mammals and birds which had shorter telomeres, or accelerated telomere shortening, when subject to sub-optimal natal conditions (Hall et al., 2004; Nettle et al., 2015; Watson et al., 2015; Fairlie

et al., 2016). However, the variance explained by the year in which the individual was captured was about eight times greater than the cohort effect, even though we couldn't separate cohort and year effects for 163 badgers since they died as cubs. Although we cannot identify the specific drivers of the association between year and variation in RLTL, badgers are sensitive to annual weather variation (Nouvellet et al., 2013; Macdonald et al., 2010), which affects their food availability, can lead to elevated levels of oxidative stress (Bilham et al., 2018) and affects early-life telomere length (Chapter 4). Additionally, exposure to diseases may vary among years and could contribute to variation in RLTL (Newman et al., 2001; Sin et al., 2014). The variation in badger RLTL is therefore largely driven by non-additive genetic sources such as variation between cohorts and years.

# Supplemental information Chapter 5: Estimation of environmental and genetic contributions to telomere length variation in a wild mammal

Table S5.1: Information from pruned pedigree of the Wytham badger population (1987–2010).

Relationship	n	Relationship	n
Records	753	Paternal grandmothers	261
Max. pedigree depth	7	Paternal grandfathers	214
Maternities	486	Founders	206
Paternities	458	Mean maternal sibship size	2.48
Full sibs	194	Mean paternal sibship size	2.59
Maternal sibs	691	Non-zero F	29
Paternal sibs	880	F > 0.125	11
Maternal half sibs	497	Mean pairwise relatedness	0.007
Paternal half sibs	686	Pairwise relatedness ≥ 0.125	0.023
Maternal grandmothers	196	Pairwise relatedness ≥ 0.25	0.013
Maternal grandfathers	174	Pairwise relatedness ≥ 0.5	0.004

Table S5.2: Parameter estimates from mixed model testing paternal and maternal age at conception (PAC & MAC, respectively) effects on offspring relative leukocyte telomere length (Z-score) in European badgers.  $\beta$  = direction and magnitude of effect, S.E. = standard error, 95 % CI = 95 % confidence interval,  $\beta_W$  = within-individual effect,  $\beta_B$  = between-individual effect,  $\chi^2$  = chi-squared value and associated p-value, reference terms in brackets = reference level for factors; \* = interaction. Significant parameters (p-value < 0.05) are in bold.

Parameter	β	S.E.	95% CI	χ²	p-value
PAC/MAC model (cubs + adult	ts – n = 47	1 measure	ments; 240 badgers)	+	
Intercept	-0.014	0.127	-0.258 to 0.228		
Age (≤ 29 months)	-0.016	0.068	-0.162 to 0.120	0.115	0.735
(>29 and $\leq$ 65 months)	0.180	0.079	0.030 to 0.338	5.317	0.021
(>65 and $\leq$ 112 months)	-0.176	0.071	-0.311 to -0.038	6.138	0.013
(> 112 months)	0.125	0.055	0.018 to 0.231	5.119	0.024
Sex (female)	-0.021	0.093	-0.201 to 0.169	0.023	0.879
Season (Spring)				0.738	0.864
Summer	0.091	0.105	-0.120 to 0.294		
Autumn	-0.017	0.191	-0.387 to 0.353		
Winter	0.015	0.025	-0.459 to 0.509		
PAC	0.046	0.066	-0.081 to 0.176	0.491	0.491
MAC	-0.031	0.060	-0.148 to 0.088	0.238	0.627
Sex (female) * PAC	-0.018	0.092	-0.197 to 0.162	0.037	0.848
Sex (female) * MAC	-0.007	0.096	-0.194 to 0.181	0.006	0.939
Within/Between-individual F	PAC/MAC	(cubs + a	dults – <i>n</i> = 441 n	neasuren	nents; 21
badgers) <sup>++</sup>					
Intercept	0.026	0.115	-0.199 to 0.248		
Age (≤ 29 months)	-0.043	0.069	-0.188 to 0.092	0.506	0.477
(>29 and $\leq$ 65 months)	0.197	0.080	0.043 to 0.359	6.055	0.014
(>65 and $\leq$ 112 months)	-0.181	0.072	-0.320 to -0.040	6.265	0.012
(> 112 months)	0.125	0.056	0.014 to 0.235	4.797	0.029
Season (Spring)				0.224	0.974
Summer	0.059	0.108	-0.165 to 0.269		
Autumn	0.024	0.196	-0.355 to 0.405		
Winter	-0.012	0.249	-0.485 to 0.482		
PAC (β <sub>w</sub> )	0.042	0.049	-0.051 to 0.140	0.838	0.360
MAC (β <sub>w</sub> )	0.001	0.049	-0.092 to 0.098	0.005	0.945
ΡΑС (β <sub>B</sub> )	0.023	0.048	-0.070 to 0.116	0.236	0.627
MAC (β <sub>B</sub> )	-0.063	0.050	-0.160 to 0.034	1.602	0.206
PAC/MAC model (cubs – 194 r	neasurem	ents; 194 k	adgers) <sup>***</sup>		
Intercept	0.037	0.204	-0.360 to 0.432		
Age	0.056	0.213	-0.354 to 0.468	0.078	0.780
Sex (female)	-0.107	0.133	-0.365 to 0.145	0.694	0.405
Season (Spring)				5.021	0.170
Summer	0.064	0.278	-0.489 to 0.610		
Autumn	-0.845	0.649	-2.116 to 0.402		
Winter	-0.416	0.906	-2.167 to 1.306		
PAC	-0.040	0.091	-0.213 to 0.134	0.210	0.664
MAC	-0.075	0.084	-0.236 to 0.086	0.753	0.385
Sex (female) * PAC	0.075	0.001	0.230 10 0.000	0.755	0.505

Sex (female) \* MAC

0.136 -0.246 to 0.276

to 0.276 0.012 0.912

Random effect estimates (variance): <sup>†</sup>Cohort ( $1.920^{*}10^{-2}$ ), Social group ( $2.116^{*}10^{-2}$ ), Year ( $5.795^{*}10^{-2}$ ), Plate ( $6.640^{*}10^{-2}$ ), Row ( $1.613^{*}10^{-2}$ ), individual ID ( $3.927^{*}10^{-8}$ ), mother ID ( $3.248^{*}10^{-10}$ ), father ID ( $1.340^{*}10^{-8}$ ), Residual ( $8.503^{*}10^{-1}$ ); <sup>††</sup>Cohort ( $8.221^{*}10^{-3}$ ), Social group ( $1.330^{*}10^{-2}$ ), Year ( $6.593^{*}10^{-2}$ ), Plate ( $6.992^{*}10^{-2}$ ), Row ( $1.538^{*}10^{-2}$ ), individual ID ( $1.368^{*}10^{-6}$ ), mother ID ( $<1.000^{*}10^{-12}$ ), father ID ( $<1.000^{*}10^{-12}$ ), Residual ( $8.537^{*}10^{-1}$ ); <sup>††</sup>Cohort ( $8.221^{*}10^{-2}$ ), Social group ( $<1.000^{*}10^{-12}$ ), Plate ( $1.669^{*}10^{-1}$ ), Row ( $3.728^{*}10^{-2}$ ) mother ID ( $<1.000^{*}10^{-12}$ ), father ID ( $3.631^{*}10^{-3}$ ), Residual ( $6.391^{*}10^{-1}$ )

0.015

Table S5.3: Additive genetic and environmental effects on relative leukocyte telomere length in European badgers, estimated using the 'animal model' with *MCMCglmm* 2.25 (Hadfield, 2010). Nine models are presented with random effects for additive genetic and permanent environment variance components. Subsequently, fixed and random effects are sequentially added to determine their effect on heritability. Values represent the posterior modes and 95% credible intervals of the variance estimates ( $V_A$  = additive genetic,  $V_{PE}$  = permanent environment,  $V_{PLATE}$  = plate,  $V_{ROW}$  = Row,  $V_{CO}$  = cohort,  $V_{YEAR}$  = year,  $V_{SG}$  = social group,  $V_{MAT}$  = maternal,  $V_{PAT}$  = paternal,  $V_R$  = residual,  $V_P$  = phenotypic). Age = threshold age,  $h^2$  = heritability.

Model	Parameters	VA	V <sub>PE</sub>	VPLATE	V <sub>ROW</sub>	Vco	V <sub>YEAR</sub>	VsG	V <sub>MAT</sub>	<b>V</b> <sub>PAT</sub>	V <sub>R</sub>	h²
5.1	$TL = V_A + V_{PE} (n = 1248)$	1.51*10-5	1.20*10-5								3.28*10 <sup>-2</sup>	3.85*10-4
		(3.25*10 <sup>-9</sup> −	(1.73*10 <sup>-10</sup> -								(2.94*10 <sup>-2</sup> -	(9.00*10 <sup>-8</sup> -
		2.90*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	2.25*10 <sup>-3</sup> )								3.51*10 <sup>-2</sup> )	8.44*10 <sup>-2</sup> )
5.2	$TL = V_A + V_{PE} + Age +$	1.99*10-5	1.55*10 <sup>-5</sup>								3.17*10 <sup>-2</sup>	3.41*10-4
	Season ( <i>n</i> = 1248)	(9.03*10 <sup>-11</sup>	(1.39*10 <sup>-11</sup> -								(2.89*10 <sup>-2</sup> -	(2.97*10 <sup>-9</sup> -
		– 2.57*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	2.14*10 <sup>-3</sup> )								3.48*10 <sup>-2</sup> )	7.60*10 <sup>-2</sup> )
5.3	$TL = V_A + V_{PE} + Age +$	1.37*10 <sup>-5</sup>	8.57*10 <sup>-6</sup>	1.84*10 <sup>-3</sup>	2.28*10-4						2.96*10 <sup>-2</sup>	3.599*10 <sup>-4</sup>
	Season + $V_{PLATE}$ + $V_{ROW}$ (n	(8.97*10 <sup>-11</sup>	(4.24*10 <sup>-10</sup> -	(7.41*10 <sup>-4</sup> -	(2.17*10 <sup>-7</sup> -						(2.68*10 <sup>-2</sup> -	(2.64*10 <sup>-9</sup> -
	= 1248)	– 2.68*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	2.16*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	3.73*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	2.09*10 <sup>-3</sup> )						3.25*10 <sup>-2</sup> )	7.94*10 <sup>-2</sup> )
5.4	$TL = V_A + V_{PE} + Age +$	1.54*10 <sup>-5</sup>	6.13*10 <sup>-6</sup>	2.01*10 <sup>-3</sup>	2.54*10 <sup>-4</sup>	1.76*10 <sup>-3</sup>					2.90*10 <sup>-2</sup>	3.45*10 <sup>-4</sup>
	Season + $V_{PLATE}$ + $V_{ROW}$ +	(2.22*10 <sup>-9</sup> -	(1.15*10 <sup>-9</sup> -	(7.81*10 <sup>-4</sup> -	(3.33*10 <sup>-14</sup>	(7.54*10 <sup>-4</sup> -					(2.62*10 <sup>-2</sup> -	(5.72*10 <sup>-8</sup> -
	$V_{co}(n = 1248)$	1.82*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	1.74*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	3.68*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	- 2.05*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	5.31*10 <sup>-3</sup> )					3.12*10 <sup>-2</sup> )	5.10*10 <sup>-2</sup> )
5.5	$TL = V_A + V_{PE} + Age +$	8.04*10 <sup>-6</sup>	5.45*10 <sup>-6</sup>	1.90*10 <sup>-3</sup>	3.32*10 <sup>-4</sup>	1.15*10 <sup>-3</sup>	1.20*10 <sup>-2</sup>				2.57*10 <sup>-2</sup>	2.28*10 <sup>-4</sup>
	Season + $V_{PLATE}$ + $V_{ROW}$ +	(4.17*10 <sup>-12</sup>	(1.35*10 <sup>-9</sup> -	(1.01*10 <sup>-3</sup> -	(6.15*10 <sup>-9</sup> -	(3.70*10 <sup>-4</sup> -	(4.35*10 <sup>-3</sup> -				(2.34*10 <sup>-2</sup> -	(8.82*10 <sup>-11</sup>
	$V_{CO} + V_{YEAR} (n = 1248)$	– 1.57*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	1.53*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	4.07*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	2.37*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	3.63*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	2.47*10 <sup>-2</sup> )				2.81*10 <sup>-2</sup> )	- 3.44*10 <sup>-2</sup> )
5.6	$TL = V_A + V_{PE} + Age +$	4.43*10 <sup>-6</sup>	8.68*10 <sup>-6</sup>	1.87*10 <sup>-3</sup>	3.10*10-4	1.22*10 <sup>-3</sup>	1.03*10-2	3.28*10 <sup>-6</sup>			2.55*10 <sup>-2</sup>	1.79*10 <sup>-4</sup>
	Season + $V_{PLATE}$ + $V_{ROW}$ +	(4.07*10 <sup>-10</sup>	(3.66*10 <sup>-10</sup> -	(9.78*10 <sup>-4</sup> -	(8.69*10 <sup>-9</sup> -	(4.25*10 <sup>-4</sup> -	(4.89*10 <sup>-3</sup> -	(1.56*10 <sup>-10</sup>			(2.36*10 <sup>-2</sup> -	(1.12*10 <sup>-8</sup> -
	$V_{CO} + V_{YEAR} + V_{SG} (n =$	- 1.46*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	1.52*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	4.13*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	2.33*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	3.65*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	2.56*10 <sup>-2</sup> )	<i>−</i> 7.13*10 <sup>-4</sup> )			2.82*10 <sup>-2</sup> )	3.21*10 <sup>-2</sup> )
	1248)											
5.7	$TL = V_A + V_{PE} + Age +$	8.54*10 <sup>-6</sup>	8.64*10 <sup>-6</sup>	2.04*10 <sup>-3</sup>	5.15*10-4	1.21*10 <sup>-3</sup>	1.16*10 <sup>-2</sup>	2.56*10 <sup>-6</sup>	1.12*10 <sup>-5</sup>	5.82*10 <sup>-6</sup>	2.53*10 <sup>-2</sup>	7.66*10-5
	Season + $V_{PLATE}$ + $V_{ROW}$ +	(1.01*10 <sup>-9</sup> -	(3.87*10 <sup>-10</sup> -	(9.68*10 <sup>-4</sup> -	(6.73*10 <sup>-7</sup> -	(2.86*10 <sup>-4</sup> -	(4.66*10 <sup>-3</sup> -	(3.78*10 <sup>-10</sup>	(7.70*10 <sup>-12</sup>	(6.90*10 <sup>-11</sup>	(2.32*10 <sup>-2</sup> -	(2.03*10 <sup>-8</sup> -
	$V_{CO} + V_{YEAR} + V_{SG} + V_{MAT}$	1.19*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	1.23*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	4.12*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	2.46*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	3.36*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	2.59*10 <sup>-2</sup> )	- 6.40*10 <sup>-4</sup> )	<i>−</i> 1.35*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	- 1.11*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	2.78*10 <sup>-2</sup> )	2.58*10 <sup>-2</sup> )
	$+ V_{PAT}(n = 1248)$											
5.8	$TL = V_A + V_{PE} + Age +$	8.54*10 <sup>-6</sup>	8.64*10-6	2.04*10 <sup>-3</sup>	5.15*10-4	1.21*10 <sup>-3</sup>	1.16*10 <sup>-2</sup>	2.56*10 <sup>-6</sup>	1.120*10-5	5.82*10 <sup>-6</sup>	2.53*10 <sup>-2</sup>	8.60*10-5
	Season + $V_{PLATE}$ + $V_{ROW}$ +	(1.01*10 <sup>-9</sup> -	(3.87*10 <sup>-10</sup> -	(9.68*10 <sup>-4</sup> -	(6.73*10 <sup>-7</sup> -	(2.86*10 <sup>-4</sup> -	(4.66*10 <sup>-3</sup> −	(3.78*10 <sup>-10</sup>	(7.70*10 <sup>-12</sup>	(6.90*10 <sup>-11</sup>	(2.32*10 <sup>-2</sup> -	(2.17*10 <sup>-8</sup> -
	$V_{CO} + V_{YEAR} + V_{SG} + V_{MAT}$	1.19*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	1.23*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	4.12*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	2.46*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	3.36*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	2.59*10 <sup>-2</sup> )	- 6.40*10 <sup>-4</sup> )	- 1.35*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	- 1.11*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	2.78*10 <sup>-2</sup> )	2.76*10 <sup>-2</sup> )
	$+ V_{PAT}(n = 1248;$											
	without VPLATE and VROW											
	in V <sub>P</sub> )											
5.9	Juvenile TL = $V_A + V_{PE} +$	1.27*10-5	1.12*10 <sup>-5</sup>	1.57*10 <sup>-3</sup>	4.30*10-5	1.77*10 <sup>-3</sup>	8.61*10 <sup>-3</sup>	3.140*10-6	5.35*10 <sup>-6</sup>	5.81*10 <sup>-6</sup>	2.49*10 <sup>-2</sup>	2.49*10 <sup>-4</sup>
	Age + Season + V <sub>PLATE</sub> +	(1.79*10 <sup>-9</sup> −	(1.31*10 <sup>-9</sup> -	(6.60*10-4-	(9.76*10 <sup>-9</sup> −	(1.35*10 <sup>-4</sup> -	(3.17*10 <sup>-3</sup> -	(1.74*10 <sup>-9</sup> -	(3.91*10 <sup>-12</sup>	(1.21*10 <sup>-9</sup> −	(2.28*10 <sup>-2</sup> -	(4.06*10 <sup>-8</sup> -
	$V_{ROW} + V_{CO} + V_{YEAR} + V_{SG}$	1.80*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	2.12*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	3.73*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	1.44*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	5.65*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	2.30*10 <sup>-2</sup> )	9.26*10-4)	- 1.40*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	1.16*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	2.89*10 <sup>-2</sup> )	4.01*10-2)
	$+ V_{MAT} + V_{PAT} (n = 837)$											

Table S5.4: Additive genetic and environmental effects on relative leukocyte telomere length in European badgers, estimated using *ASReml-R*. Est. = fixed effect estimate, Prop. = proportion of variance explained, S.E. = Standard error,  $h^2$  = heritability. Age parameters refer to threshold model where Age 1 =  $\leq$ 29 months old, Age 2 = >29 and  $\leq$ 65 months old, Age 3 = >65 and  $\leq$ 112 months old and Age 4 = >112 months old. Variance components are:  $V_A$  = additive genetic,  $V_{PE}$  = permanent environment,  $V_{CO}$  = cohort,  $V_{YEAR}$  = year,  $V_{SG}$  = social group,  $V_{MAT}$  = maternal,  $V_{PAT}$  = paternal,  $V_R$  = residual,  $V_{PLATE}$  = plate,  $V_{ROW}$  = row. Total phenotypic variance ( $V_p$ ) = 3.970\*10<sup>-2</sup>. Reference terms in brackets = reference level for factors. Significance of fixed effects was determined through Wald Z tests, and for random effects through twice the difference in log-likelihood. Significant parameters (p < 0.05) are in bold.

ASReml-R				
	Est.	S.E.	F-value	p-value
Fixed effects				
Intercept	0.4796	2.933*10 <sup>-2</sup>		
Age 1	-2.888*10 <sup>-4</sup>	6.920*10 <sup>-4</sup>	0.174	0.677
Age 2	2.156*10 <sup>-3</sup>	6.755*10 <sup>-4</sup>	10.18	0.001
Age 3	-2.570*10 <sup>-3</sup>	8.358*10 <sup>-4</sup>	9.454	0.002
Age 4	4.766*10 <sup>-3</sup>	2.036*10 <sup>-3</sup>	5.481	0.019
Season (Spring)			3.627	0.013
Summer	2.448*10 <sup>-2</sup>	1.123*10 <sup>-2</sup>		
Autumn	1.841*10 <sup>-2</sup>	1.799*10 <sup>-2</sup>		
Winter	-5.365*10 <sup>-2</sup>	2.521*10 <sup>-2</sup>		
Random effects	Est. (S.E.)	h²/Prop. (S.E.)	χ²	p-value
<i>V</i> <sub>A</sub> <sup>a</sup>	5.110*10 <sup>-9</sup> (2.260*10 <sup>-10</sup> )	1.286*10 <sup>-7</sup> (1.420*10 <sup>-8</sup> )		
$V_{PE}^{a}$	7.610*10 <sup>-9</sup> (3.360*10 <sup>-10</sup> )	1.914*10 <sup>-7</sup> (2.115*10 <sup>-8</sup> )		
Vco	1.411*10 <sup>-3</sup> (6.970*10 <sup>-4</sup> )	3.551*10 <sup>-2</sup> (1.750*10 <sup>-2</sup> )	16.92	<0.001
V <sub>YEAR</sub>	1.161*10 <sup>-2</sup> (4.230*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	0.292 (7.632*10 <sup>-2</sup> )	79.94	<0.001
V <sub>SG</sub>	1.494*10 <sup>-4</sup> (2.163*10 <sup>-4</sup> )	3.761*10 <sup>-3</sup> (5.458*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	0.700	0.403
V <sub>MAT</sub>	5.086*10 <sup>-4</sup> (5.612*10 <sup>-4</sup> )	1.280*10 <sup>-2</sup> (1.414*10 <sup>-2</sup> )	0.544	0.461
<b>V</b> <sub>PAT</sub>	1.974*10 <sup>-4</sup> (3.658*10 <sup>-4</sup> )	4.968*10 <sup>-3</sup> (9.214*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	0.412	0.521
$V_R$	2.585*10 <sup>-2</sup> (1.142*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	0.651 (7.189*10 <sup>-2</sup> )		
<b>V</b> <sub>PLATE</sub> <sup>b</sup>	2.085*10 <sup>-3</sup> (7.034*10 <sup>-4</sup> )		46.11	<0.001
V <sub>ROW</sub> <sup>b</sup>	4.354*10 <sup>-4</sup> (3.256*10 <sup>-4</sup> )		8.824	0.003

Trait: Relative leukocyte telomere length (*n* = 1248 measurements; 612 badgers) ASRemI-R

<sup>a</sup> Significance not tested because variance components were at boundary

<sup>b</sup> Measurement error and not biological variance so no  $\chi^2$  and p-value provided

Table S5.5: Additive genetic and environmental effects on relative leukocyte telomere length (Age  $\leq$  29 months) in European badgers, estimated using *ASReml-R*. Est. = fixed effect estimate, Prop. = proportion of variance explained, S.E. = Standard error,  $h^2$  = heritability. Variance components are:  $V_A$  = additive genetic,  $V_{PE}$  = permanent environment,  $V_{CO}$  = cohort,  $V_{YEAR}$  = year,  $V_{SG}$  = social group,  $V_{MAT}$  = maternal,  $V_{PAT}$  = paternal,  $V_R$  = residual,  $V_{PLATE}$  = plate,  $V_{ROW}$  = row. Total phenotypic variance ( $V_p$ ) = 3.910\*10<sup>-2</sup>. Reference terms in brackets = reference level for factors. Significance of fixed effects was determined through Wald Z tests, and for random effects through twice the difference in log-likelihood. Significant parameters (p < 0.05) are in bold.

	Est.	S.E.	F-value	p-value
Fixed effects				
Intercept	0.4771	2.874*10 <sup>-2</sup>		
Age	1.120*10-4	8.403*10 <sup>-4</sup>	0.018	0.894
Season (Spring)			2.933	0.033
Summer	1.576*10 <sup>-2</sup>	1.398*10 <sup>-2</sup>		
Autumn	1.516*10 <sup>-2</sup>	2.408*10 <sup>-2</sup>		
Winter	-7.998*10 <sup>-2</sup>	<b>3.150*10</b> <sup>-2</sup>		
Random effects	Est. (S.E.)	h²/Prop. (S.E.)	χ²	p-value
VA	1.280*10 <sup>-4</sup> (1.075*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	3.271*10 <sup>-3</sup> (2.746*10 <sup>-2</sup> )	0.014	0.906
$V_{PE}^{a}$	8.770*10 <sup>-9</sup> (5.560*10 <sup>-10</sup> )	2.240*10 <sup>-7</sup> (2.569*10 <sup>-8</sup> )		
Vco	1.945*10 <sup>-3</sup> (1.138*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	4.970*10 <sup>-2</sup> (2.862*10 <sup>-2</sup> )	11.13	<0.001
V <sub>YEAR</sub>	1.004*10 <sup>-2</sup> (4.062*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	0.257 (7.890*10 <sup>-2</sup> )	40.45	<0.001
V <sub>SG</sub>	2.412*10 <sup>-4</sup> (3.169*10 <sup>-4</sup> )	6.162*10 <sup>-3</sup> (8.107*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	0.879	0.348
V <sub>MAT</sub> <sup>a</sup>	2.710*10 <sup>-9</sup> (1.720*10 <sup>-10</sup> )	6.924*10 <sup>-8</sup> (7.940*10 <sup>-9</sup> )		
$V_{PAT}^{a}$	2.360*10 <sup>-9</sup> (1.500*10 <sup>-10</sup> )	6.024*10 <sup>-8</sup> (6.907*10 <sup>-9</sup> )		
V <sub>R</sub>	2.679*10 <sup>-2</sup> (1.699*10 <sup>-3</sup> )	0.684 (7.846*10 <sup>-2</sup> )		
<b>V</b> <sub>PLATE</sub> <sup>b</sup>	1.771*10 <sup>-3</sup> (7.239*10 <sup>-4</sup> )		19.49	<0.001
V <sub>ROW</sub> <sup>b</sup>	1.942*10 <sup>-4</sup> (2.461*10 <sup>-4</sup> )		1.319	0.251

Trait: Early-life relative leukocyte telomere length (n = 837 measurements; 556 badgers) ASReml-R

<sup>a</sup> Significance not tested because variance components were at boundary

 $^{\text{b}}$  Measurement error and not biological variance so no  $\chi^2$  and p-value provided



Figure S5.1: Scatterplot showing the correlation between paternal and maternal ages at conception for badgers with relative leukocyte telomere length measures at any age (n = 471 samples; 240 badgers). Parental ages are integers, jittered for clarity on the amount of data.



Figure S5.2: Statistical power to detect paternal age at conception (PAC) effect sizes in our European badger dataset using *simr* v1.0.5 (Green and MacLeod, 2016). Point estimates and error bars show mean power with associated 95% confidence intervals estimated from 500 simulations. Dashed line represents 80% power to detect a PAC effect size of 0.00067 or greater, with the specifications of our model and structure of our data. This is similar to a correlation coefficient of 0.131 (where correlation coefficient =  $(\beta_{PAC}*SD_{PAC})/SD_{RLTL} = (0.00067*24.57207)/0.1254953)$ .



Figure S5.3: Statistical power to detect varying heritability estimates of telomere length in the European badger with our dataset (*n* = 1248 measurements; 612 badgers) and pruned pedigree structure using *pedantics* 1.7 (Morrissey and Wilson, 2010). Point estimates show mean power estimated from 1000 simulations. Dashed line represents 80% power to detect a heritability estimate of 0.27 or greater, with the specifications of our model and structure of our data.



Figure S5.4: Statistical power to detect varying heritability estimates of juvenile telomere length ( $\leq$ 29 months old) in the European badger with our dataset (*n* = 837 measurements; 556 badgers) and pruned pedigree structure using *pedantics* 1.7 (Morrissey and Wilson, 2010). Point estimates show mean power estimated from 1000 simulations. Dashed line represents 80% power to detect a heritability estimate of 0.28 or greater, with the specifications of our model and structure of our data.
## Chapter 6: Testing the Predictive Adaptive Response: Consequences of early-life adversity for adaptive life-history strategies in a wild mammal

#### 6.1 Abstract

Early-life adversity can have long-term consequences for development and fitness, which may trigger adaptive life-history strategies based on the predictive adaptive response (PAR) hypotheses. The silver spoon hypothesis states that individuals born in favourable early-life conditions consistently outperform others born in adverse early-life conditions, irrespective of the adult environment. This is also predicted by the internal PAR hypothesis, but is adaptive as individuals may benefit from advancing their life-history schedules. These hypotheses are mutually non-exclusive with the external PAR hypothesis, where individuals use early-life adversity as a cue in anticipating the adult environment, and adapt their phenotype accordingly. Here, using a wild population of European badgers (Meles meles), we test the silver spoon, internal PAR and external PAR using early-life telomere length, and mean daily rainfall and temperature to quantify environmental quality. Autocorrelation among years was low for rainfall and moderate for temperature, with a correlation between early- and later-life mean daily temperature only. Refuting the silver spoon and internal PAR, early-life conditions did not significantly affect lifespan. However, individuals that experienced matching early- and later-life conditions did not have longer lifespans in terms of early-life telomere length and rainfall, but did when early- and later-life temperature conditions matched. Additionally, individuals experiencing higher mean daily rainfall or temperature across adulthood had longer lifespans. These results do not support the silver spoon or internal PAR, but show some evidence for the external PAR hypothesis when there is a moderate (auto)correlation, and indicate that mean environmental quality in adulthood shapes individual life-history.

#### 6.2 Introduction

The mean of and variability in early-life environmental conditions can impact development, and have long-term effects on the expression of individual phenotypes (Fawcett and

Frankenhuis, 2015; Bateson et al., 2004), with consequences for survival to adulthood (Gaillard et al., 2000), physiology (McMillen and Robinson, 2005) and individual life-history strategies (Lindstrom, 1999; Lummaa and Clutton-Brock, 2002; Metcalfe and Monaghan, 2001; Cooper and Kruuk, 2018). Exposure to favourable early-life conditions can lead individuals to consistently outperform others experiencing adverse early-life conditions, regardless of the adult environment, termed 'the silver spoon hypothesis' (Grafen, 1988; Monaghan, 2008). Numerous studies have provided empirical evidence in support of the silver spoon hypothesis (van de Pol et al., 2006; Douhard et al., 2014; Nussey et al., 2007a; Reed et al., 2008; Millon et al., 2011), including a meta-analysis showing slower rates of reproductive senescence in favourable developmental environments (Cooper and Kruuk, 2018). However, in addition to the direct advantages implicit in silver spoon effects, individuals can also seek to mitigate the developmental and environmental challenges they face, through adopting adaptive life-history strategies.

Developmental plasticity in response to the environment can involve modifications to behaviour and physiology (Bateson et al., 2004; Nettle et al., 2013a; Dantzer et al., 2013; Auer, 2010), with consequences for the trade-off between survival and reproduction (Kirkwood and Rose, 1991; Stearns, 1992). For example, humans experiencing early-life adversity (e.g. low birth weight, psychosocial stress) have earlier ages at first reproduction (Nettle et al., 2011; Sloboda et al., 2007; Cooper et al., 1996), with additional experimental evidence from non-human mammals that early-life adversity results in individuals advancing their reproductive schedules (Maestripieri, 2005; Sloboda et al., 2009; Cameron et al., 2008a; Cameron et al., 2008b). Such changes in the trade-off between somatic and reproductive investment must have an adaptive basis, where two classes of adaptive responses can explain the link between early-life adversity and accelerated reproduction, both based on predictive adaptive responses (PARs).

The internal PAR hypothesis posits that where early-life adversity has lasting negative effects on an individual's somatic state, reducing longevity, it should be advantageous to advance the reproductive schedule accordingly (Nettle et al., 2013a; Wells, 2012), even at the expense of somatic development or maintenance (Kirkwood and Rose, 1991; Kirkwood, 2005). Adverse effects of early-life conditions on adult survival probability have been documented (Monaghan, 2008; Lummaa and Clutton-Brock, 2002; Lindstrom, 1999; Reid et al., 2006; Taborsky, 2006; Rickard et al., 2010), making it adaptive to advance reproduction. There is also direct evidence for the internal PAR which links, for example, poor quality early-life environments measured through glucocorticoids in Assamese macaques (*Macaca assamensis*) and winter resource availability in Svalbard reindeer (*Rangifer tarandus platyrhynchus*) to adaptive individual life-history strategies in these long-lived species (Berghanel et al., 2016; Douhard et al., 2016). The internal PAR is thus an adaptive response in anticipation of an individual's own future state, and could be particularly relevant for long-lived species without the need for environmental autocorrelation (Nettle et al., 2013a).

The internal PAR is mutually non-exclusive with the external PAR hypothesis, which posits that early-life conditions provide a basis against which the individual anticipates conditions into which it will mature, by developing the most appropriate phenotype (Gluckman et al., 2005a; Gluckman et al., 2005b). For example, early-life adversity can function as a cue for later-life adversity and be anticipated through accelerating reproductive schedules, providing higher fitness when early- and later-life conditions match. Indeed, mother red squirrels (*Tamiasciurus hudsonicus*) exposed to high density cues have offspring with increased growth rates, which adjusts the offspring phenotype to match the environment experienced at independence, enhancing offspring fitness (Dantzer et al., 2013). In zebra finches (*Taeniopygia guttata*), heat stress in early-life increases survival probability only when heat stress is again experienced in adulthood, whereas survival

probability is reduced if heat stress is not encountered again (Costantini et al., 2014). A temporal mismatch between early and late-life conditions, limiting the ability to anticipate optimal life-history strategy effectively, can thus lead to fitness costs (Gluckman and Hanson, 2004; Gluckman et al., 2005a). In long-lived species, however, there is little evidence in support of the external PAR (Hayward and Lummaa, 2013; Hayward et al., 2013; Douhard et al., 2014; Lea et al., 2015; Pigeon et al., 2017). Furthermore, it has been questioned whether early-life conditions reliably predict future conditions (Wells, 2007), because year-to-year autocorrelation needs to be extremely high (>0.95 for human reproductive timing) for external PAR to be advantageous (Nettle et al., 2013a). Short-term fluctuations in environmental conditions may therefore reduce the predictive power of the future environment.

Quantification of the conditions experienced by an individual can be achieved through telomere length (Monaghan and Haussmann, 2006; Monaghan, 2010). Telomeres are hexameric tandem repeats (5'-TTAGGG-3') forming protective caps at the end of chromosomes that maintain genomic integrity (de Lange, 2004; Blackburn, 2000). Due to the end replication problem, telomeres shorten with age (Olovnikov, 1973), the rate of which is exacerbated by environmental stressors (Heidinger et al., 2012) and with *in vitro*, but no *in vivo*, evidence for oxidative damage (Reichert and Stier, 2017; von Zglinicki, 2002; Boonekamp, 2017). Somatic cells with critically short telomeres can enter replicative senescence, accumulate and impair tissue functioning due to reduced renewal capacity (Campisi, 2005; Campisi and di Fagagna, 2007). However, whether telomeres play a causal role in senescence, defined as declining performance with age, or act as a biomarker of somatic integrity in wild populations, remains unclear (Young, 2018). Telomere length has been linked to individual life-histories (Wilbourn et al., 2017; van Lieshout et al., 2019). Adverse early-life conditions can therefore cause premature telomere shortening, affecting health

and somatic development, providing a tool to test the silver spoon, internal PAR and external PAR.

Here, we use data from a long-term study of European badgers (*Meles meles*; henceforth 'badgers') to test the silver spoon, internal and external PAR hypotheses. These badgers live in polygynandrous social groups (mean group size: 11.3, range: 2–29; da Silva et al., 1994; Macdonald et al., 2015). Mean litter size is 1.4±0.06 (range = 1–4; Dugdale et al., 2007), with cubs emerging from the communal underground den (termed setts) at 6–8 weeks old, being weaned at 12 weeks, and reaching independence at 14–16 weeks old (Fell et al., 2006; Dugdale et al., 2010). Cub survival probability ranges from 61–94% (mean±SE = 0.67±0.03; Macdonald et al., 2009), and cub cohorts are impacted by early-life exposure to gastro-intestinal coccidia infection (Newman et al., 2010), oxidative stress (Bilham et al., 2018) and weather conditions (Macdonald et al., 2010; Noonan et al., 2014; Nouvellet et al., 2013). Mean annual adult survival rate in this population is 0.83 (±0.01 SE; Macdonald et al., 2009) with a mean lifespan of 3.31 years (±3.51 SD; Bright Ross, J., Pers. Comm.).

We test for correlations between the early-life and adult environment experienced by an individual, to determine whether: (i) favourable early-life conditions result in a longer lifespan (i.e. silver spoon hypothesis and internal PAR; Figure 6.1a); (ii) matching early-life and later-life conditions result in longer lifespans (i.e. external PAR; Figure 6.1b); (iii) internal and external PAR co-occur since they are mutually non-exclusive and, (iv) autocorrelation in environmental quality among years occurs (required for the external PAR). We then discuss these findings in the context of the silver-spoon, internal PAR and external PAR hypotheses.



Figure 6.1: Expected relationships between quality of the environment linked to lifespan for silver spoon and, internal and external predictive adaptive response (PAR) hypotheses. (a) silver spoon and internal PAR hypothesis, where individuals born in favourable conditions (dashed line) will always outperform individual born in adverse conditions (dotted line), irrespective of the quality of the adult environment. (b) external PAR hypothesis, individuals born in favourable conditions (dashed line) outperform individuals born in adverse conditions (dotted line) when the quality of the adult environment is favourable. In contrast, individuals born in adverse conditions may outperform individuals born in favourable conditions when the experiencing adverse adult environments.

#### 6.3 Methods

#### 6.3.1 Study population and trapping

Data for this study were collected in Wytham Woods, Oxfordshire, UK (51°46′24″N, 1°20′04″W), 6 km northwest of Oxford in southern England; a 424 ha mixed deciduous/coniferous secondary and ancient woodland surrounded by agricultural pasture (Macdonald and Newman, 2002; Macdonald et al., 2004b). The resident high-density badger population (range = 20.5–49.5 badgers/km<sup>2</sup>; Macdonald et al., 2015) is exposed to substantial inter-annual weather variation. The population comprises 19±2 (range = 14–26; Dugdale et al., 2008) mixed-sex social groups (Johnson et al., 2002; Newman et al., 2011) and is geographically discrete, which limits but not eliminates immigration and emigration (annually ca. <3%; Macdonald and Newman, 2002).

Badgers were captured three or four times per year since 1987, over two weeks in May, August and November, with 1 week of trapping in January in focal years. Captured badgers were anaesthetised using an intra-muscular injection of 0.2 ml ketamine hydrochloride per kg body weight (McLaren et al., 2005) and given a unique tattoo number on the left inguinal region for permanent (re-)identification. Individuals were classified as cub (<1 year old) or adult (≥1 year old), with further morphometric measurements (e.g. tooth wear; da Silva and Macdonald, 1989; Macdonald et al., 2009) and sett, social group and capture data recorded. The age of a badger (in months) was calculated as the difference between its date of birth (standardised on 14<sup>th</sup> February) and the capture date. Badgers first caught as adults were aged by tooth wear, following van Lieshout et al. (2019). Adults were assumed to have died in the last year they were caught. Jugular blood samples were collected via venipuncture into vacutainers with EDTA anticoagulant, and stored at -20°C immediately. After full recovery from anaesthesia, badgers were released at their setts of capture.

#### 6.3.2 Telomere analyses

DNA was extracted from whole blood samples (*n* = 332 samples; 332 badgers), using the DNeasy Blood & Tissue kit (Qiagen, Manchester, UK) according to the manufacturer's protocol, but with modifications using 125 µl of anticoagulated blood and a double elution step (2x 75 µl AE buffer). DNA integrity was checked by running a random selection of DNA extracts (ca. 20%) on agarose gels. Subsequently, DNA concentration was measured using the Fluostar Optima fluorometer (BMG Labtech, Ortenberg, Germany), standardized to 20 ng/ul and stored at -20 °C. Relative leukocyte telomere lengths were quantified using monochrome multiplex quantitative PCR (MMqPCR; Cawthon, 2009). This provides a ratio of copy numbers of telomeric sequence to a reference gene (T/S ratio), with both analysed in the same well to reduce measurement error. A detailed description of the MMqPCR analysis is given in van Lieshout et al. (2019).

# 6.3.3 Environmental quality implied through telomere length, and mean daily rainfall and temperature

A previous study on Wytham badgers has shown that early-life telomere length functions as a biomarker of senescence (van Lieshout et al., 2019) and reflects the conditions experienced in early-life (Chapter 4). In badger adulthood, weather conditions (as a proxy for food availability) reflect environmental quality (Nouvellet et al., 2013; Noonan et al., 2014; Macdonald et al., 2010) with both mean daily rainfall and temperature having a beneficial effect on an individual's somatic state (i.e. early-life telomere length; Chapter 4). Thus, to characterise the later-life environment we first calculated the mean daily rainfall and temperature in each year of adulthood (Table S6.1) and then calculated the mean of the mean daily rainfall and temperature across adulthood as our measure of environmental quality.

#### 6.3.4 Statistical analyses

Statistical analyses were conducted in R 3.3.1 (R Development Core Team, 2019). Significance in generalised linear mixed models (GLMMs), using *lme4* 1.1-21 (Bates et al., 2015), was estimated with log-likelihood ratio tests, and set at *P* <0.05. We also checked for collinearity (VIF < 3), and early-life RLTL was Z-transformed (Verhulst, 2019).

#### (i) Silver spoon, internal PAR and external PAR

We tested the relative importance of early-life, later-life and the similarity between these stages in a GLMM with lifespan as the response variable (n = 289 observations; n = 289 adult badgers) and a Poisson error distribution (log link function). Lifespan was the age at last capture. The model contained early-life RLTL (sex and age sampled do not affect early-life RLTL; van Lieshout et al., 2019), the mean of mean daily rainfall and temperature across adulthood, and the interaction between early-life RLTL and rainfall, and early-life RLTL and temperature as fixed effects. Cohort, social group, year and observation (for each unique

measure to account for overdispersion; Harrison, 2014) were included as random effects (Model 6.1). Secondly, we tested the association between early-life and later-life conditions on annual adult survival probability in a GLMM with adult survival probability from one year of adulthood to the next over the adult's lifespan as the response variable (*n* = 1529 observations; 332 badgers) and a binomial error distribution (link = logit). Early-life RLTL, mean daily rainfall and temperature in each year of adulthood, and the interaction between early-life RLTL and rainfall, and early-life RLTL and temperature were included as fixed effects. Cohort, social group, year and individual ID were included as random effects (Model 6.2). Finally, we checked the robustness of our results by replacing early-life RLTL as a measure of early-life environmental quality by the mean daily rainfall and temperature in early-life, and its association with lifespan (Model 6.3) and adult survival probability (Model 6.4).

#### (ii) Autocorrelation of early- and later-life environmental quality

To determine the potential for external PAR, we used Pearson's correlation coefficients to first establish the correlation between early-life RLTL (<1 year old) and mean of mean daily rainfall or temperature across adulthood ( $\geq$ 1 year old). Secondly, we extracted the correlation between early-life RLTL and mean daily rainfall or temperature in each year across an adult's lifespan, as the regression coefficient, from a GLMM with mean daily rainfall or temperature as the response variable, early-life RLTL as a fixed effect, and individual ID as a random effect. We also determined year-to-year autocorrelation (r) for mean daily rainfall and temperature among years as a measure of consistency in environmental quality.



Figure 6.2: The association between the environmental quality (a: mean in mean daily rainfall; b: temperature) across adulthood and lifespan, with data points coloured based on early-life environmental quality (early-life relative leukocyte telomere length; early-life RLTL). Raw data points (n = 289 observations; 289 badgers) are shown and are modelled as a continuous variable in the mixed model, but for visualisation are plotted for cubs with low-quality early-life environment (n = 152 observations, 152 badgers; brown triangles) and high-quality early-life environment (n = 137 observations, 137 badgers; blue circles). The fitted line represents the model prediction, with associated 95% confidence intervals as shaded areas.

#### 6.4 Results

#### (i) Silver-spoon, internal PAR and external PAR

Individuals for which early-life conditions, measured through early-life RLTL, matched their mean adult environment did not have longer lifespans (Table S6.2; Model 6.1). However, individuals experiencing a higher mean environmental quality across adulthood (in terms of both rainfall and temperature) had longer lifespans, irrespective of their early-life conditions (Figure 6.2; Table S6.2). When early-life and adult conditions matched there was no effect on annual adult survival probability (Table S6.2; Model 6.2), with no evidence for any separate effect of early-life or adult environmental quality. These results do not provide support for the silver spoon, internal PAR or external PAR hypothesis or a combination of these. The results are robust when using mean daily rainfall in early-life instead of early-life RLTL (Table S6.2; Model 6.3 & 6.4). However, when using temperature, individuals had longer

lifespans when mean daily temperature in early-life and the mean of mean daily temperature across adulthood matched (Table S6.2; Figure 6.3; Model 6.3), but this effect was much weaker than the main effect of mean daily temperature across adulthood on lifespan (Table S6.2).

Table 6.1: Correlation coefficients between early- and late-life metrics of environmental quality. RLTL = relative leukocyte telomere length. r = Pearson's correlation coefficient, or extracted from a generalised linear mixed model through the regression coefficient. Significant correlations (P < 0.05) are in bold.

	Lifespan ( <i>n</i> = 289)		Annual survival probability (n = 1529)		
	Mean of mean	Mean of mean	Mean daily rainfall in	Mean daily	
	daily rainfall	daily	adulthood	temperature	
	across	temperature		in adulthood	
	adulthood	across			
		adulthood			
Early-life	<i>r</i> = 0.048;	<i>r</i> = 0.031;	<i>r</i> = -0.005;	<i>r</i> = -0.001;	
RLTL	<i>p</i> = 0.418	<i>p</i> = 0.597	<i>p</i> = 0.550	<i>p</i> = 0.972	
Mean daily	<i>r</i> = -0.065;		<i>r</i> = -0.001;		
rainfall in	p = 0.272		<i>p</i> = 0.910		
early-life					
Mean daily		<i>r</i> = -0.202;		<i>r</i> = -0.051;	
temperatur		<i>p</i> < 0.001		<i>p</i> = 0.024	
e in early-					
life					

#### (ii) Autocorrelation and early- and later-life environment quality

Autocorrelation in mean daily rainfall among years was low (r = -0.076, n = 23; Figure 6.4a), whereas for mean daily temperature there was a moderate year-to-year autocorrelation (r= -0.400, n = 23; Figure 6.4b), indicating little to moderate consistency in consecutive interannual environmental conditions. We found no significant correlation between early-life RLTL and the mean of mean daily rainfall or temperature across adulthood, or the mean daily rainfall or temperature in each year of adulthood (Table 6.1; Figure S6.1 & S6.2). Even though mean daily rainfall in early-life was not significantly correlated with the mean of mean daily rainfall across adulthood or in each year of adulthood, there were correlations for mean daily temperature in early-life with both the mean of mean daily temperature across adulthood and the mean temperature in each year of adulthood (Table 6.1; Figure S6.1 & S6.2).



Figure 6.3: The interaction between mean daily temperature in the natal year and mean of mean daily temperature across adulthood on lifespan. Raw data points (n = 289) are jittered for clarity on the amount of data, and modelled as continuous variables, but for visualisation shown for individuals with low mean daily temperatures (n = 165; brown, triangle, dashed) and high mean daily temperatures in the natal year (n = 124; blue, circle, solid). Fitted lines represent the model prediction for mean daily temperature interacting with the mean of mean daily temperature across adulthood, with associated 95% confidence intervals as shaded areas.



Figure 6.4: Centred mean daily rainfall (a) and temperature (b) over February to May from 1987 to 2010. The mean in mean daily rainfall and temperature from 1987 to 2010 was subtracted from the mean daily rainfall and temperature, respectively, in each year to generate a centred mean value.

#### 6.5 Discussion

We found no evidence in support of the external PAR in badgers using early-life RLTL, since individuals that experienced matching early- and later-life conditions did not have longer lifespans. However, we did find some evidence for the external PAR using temperature as a measure of early- and later-life environmental quality, but not when using rainfall. Most support for the external PAR hypothesis comes short-lived species (Lee and Zucker, 1988; van den Heuvel et al., 2013; Dantzer et al., 2013), but the applicability of such effects in long-lived species have been questioned (Wells, 2006; Wells, 2007; Kuzawa, 2005). Studies in long-lived species have tested for but did not find supportive evidence for the external PAR (Douhard et al., 2014; Lea et al., 2015; Hayward et al., 2013; Pigeon et al., 2017). The discrepancy between short- and long-lived species is likely due to faster maturation in short-lived species and therefore a stronger correlation between the early- and late-life environment (Wells, 2006). The relatively slow maturation of badgers, compared to short-lived species, and high fluctuation in environmental conditions in this population makes matching early- and later-life conditions less likely.

Autocorrelation in the year-to-year environment was low for rainfall (r = -0.076) and moderate for temperature (r = -0.400), indicating little to moderate consistency in environmental quality among years. For an external PAR in reproductive timing in humans the autocorrelation needs to be extremely high (>0.95; Nettle *et al.* 2013). This suggests that great environmental persistence is required for predictive plasticity to be beneficial (Fischer et al., 2011; Reed et al., 2010; Padilla and Adolph, 1996) and that temporal fluctuations in the environment reduce the benefits of the external PAR as an adaptive strategy (Wells, 2007; Rickard and Lummaa, 2007). Similarly, we found no evidence for an external PAR relationship using rainfall as a measure of environmental quality, where there was low autocorrelation between years. We did however find moderate autocorrelation in temperature between years and a correlation between early- and later-life mean daily temperatures, with support for the external PAR even though the effect size was small. Since badgers are dependent on weather conditions such as rainfall and temperature for food availability, which do not show high levels of autocorrelation, the potential for external PAR based on environmental autocorrelation is small.

While we show weak or no evidence for the external PAR, depending on the metric of environmental quality and the strength of its autocorrelation, we found a much stronger effect of the mean environmental quality across adulthood on individual lifespan, but no effect on annual adult survival probability. With the relatively low consistency in environmental quality, life-history decisions (i.e. whether to invest in reproduction) depend on the cumulative conditions, not just over a single year, experienced as an adult. However, a large proportion of the variance in lifespan was dependent on cohort (45%), compared to year (5.5%), which is likely due to individual lifespan being dependent on survival to adulthood when mortality in badgers is highest (Macdonald and Newman, 2002). In contrast, for annual adult survival probability, year (29%) explained much more of the variance than cohort (<0.01%) and is thus more dependent on the environmental quality in adulthood.

Thus, while we found evidence for the external PAR, the stronger effect of the mean adult environment on lifespan indicates stage-dependent effects with early-life environment defining survival to adulthood and mean adult environmental quality shaping life-histories.

We found no support for the silver spoon or internal PAR hypotheses, as neither longevity nor annual adult survival probability depended on the quality of the early-life environment. Badger cubs are exposed to social conditions and weather variability, which can have detrimental consequences on an individual's somatic state (Chapter 4). Such earlylife adversity can thus detrimentally affect the soma and it may be beneficial to have adaptive life-history strategies based on developmental history (Nettle et al., 2013a). While support for such detrimental effects of early-life conditions on life-history is abundant (e.g. Lindstrom, 1999; Lummaa and Clutton-Brock, 2002; Monaghan, 2008), we found no longterm effects of early-life adversity and do not detect evidence for the internal PAR even though other studies in long-lived species have (Berghanel et al., 2016; Douhard et al., 2016).

In conclusion, we provide no evidence in support of the silver spoon or internal PAR hypothesis, but show weak evidence for the external PAR in a long-lived species. The effects of early-life conditions leading to constrained development of the individual's physiology and soma do not lead to adaptive life-history strategies in badgers. Even though we found that matching early-life and later-life conditions can have beneficial effects for fitness in response to the anticipated adult environment, when autocorrelation is at least moderate (>0.40), individual life-histories in badgers are defined by the strong effect of mean adult environmental quality. Particularly in long-lived species the lack of cue validity of the adult environment and current increases in environmental variability due to climate change (IPCC, 2014) may incapacitate adaptive plastic responses to environmental change. The adaptive value of adjusting life-history strategies in response to early- and later-life conditions, and the effects on the soma, requires further understanding to link life-history evolution and the ability of wild populations to cope with changing conditions.

## Supplemental information Chapter 6: Testing the Predictive Adaptive Response: Consequences of early-life adversity for adaptive life-history strategies in a wild mammal

Year	μ <sub>rain</sub> (± SD)	μ <sub>temp</sub> (± SD)
1987	1.597 (± 2.805)	6.509 (± 4.253)
1988	1.270 (± 2.422)	6.722 (± 2.833)
1989	1.898 (± 3.225)	7.263 (± 2.463)
1990	1.123 (± 2.739)	8.429 (± 2.994)
1991	1.424 (± 3.531)	6.131 (± 4.222)
1992	1.457 (± 2.845)	7.499 (± 2.704)
1993	1.254 (± 3.058)	7.256 (± 3.386)
1994	1.619 (± 2.743)	6.981 (± 3.567)
1995	1.540 (± 2.584)	7.594 (± 2.938)
1996	1.729 (± 3.403)	5.590 (± 3.505)
1997	1.140 (± 2.995)	8.821 (± 2.272)
1998	2.025 (± 3.414)	8.273 (± 2.564)
1999	1.371 (± 2.191)	7.910 (± 3.521)
2000	2.449 (± 5.504)	7.501 (± 2.468)
2001	2.268 (± 4.009)	6.557 (± 3.138)
2002	1.491 (± 2.844)	8.415 (± 2.649)
2003	1.002 (± 2.583)	7.536 (± 3.983)
2004	1.585 (± 2.692)	7.223 (± 3.668)
2005	1.318 (± 2.997)	7.475 (± 4.132)
2006	1.478 (± 2.957)	6.383 (± 3.780)
2007	1.376 (± 2.596)	8.616 (± 3.342)
2008	1.678 (± 5.026)	6.914 (± 2.776)
2009	1.221 (± 3.467)	8.196 (± 3.064)
2010	1.857 (± 3.541)	7.244 (± 3.584)

Table S6.1: Mean daily rainfall (mm;  $\mu_{rain}$ ) and mean daily temperature (°C;  $\mu_{temp}$ ) estimates with standard deviation (SD) for the years 1987 – 2010.

Table S6.2: Parameter estimates and 95% confidence intervals of fixed effects from mixed model testing early-life and later-life conditions, and their similarity, on lifespan in European badgers.  $\beta$  = direction and magnitude of effect, S.E. = standard error, 95% CI = 95% confidence interval,  $\chi^2$  = chi-squared value; reference terms in brackets = reference level for factors; \* = interaction. RLTL = relative leukocyte telomere length (Z-transformed). Significant parameters (p < 0.05) are in bold.

Parameter (reference level)	β	S.E.	95% CI	X <sup>2</sup>	<i>p</i> -value
Model 6.1, Response: Lifespan					
Intercept	4.005	0.138	3.719 to 4.289		
Early-life RLTL	-0.007	0.030	-0.066 to 0.053	0.047	0.828
Mean of mean daily rainfall	0.325	0.040	0.246 to 0.404	57.28	<0.001
across adulthood					
Mean of mean daily	0.175	0.036	0.104 to 0.245	22.63	<0.001
temperature across adulthood					
Early-life RLTL * Mean of mean	0.007	0.032	-0.055 to 0.070	0.054	0.816
daily rainfall across adulthood					
Early-life RLTL * Mean of mean	-0.002	0.031	-0.063 to 0.060	0.002	0.961
daily temperature across					
adulthood					
Model 6.2, Response: Annual ad	ult surviv	al probab	oility		
Intercept	1.499	0.141	1.219 to 1.807		
Early-life RLTL	0.044	0.074	-0.100 to 0.194	0.347	0.556
Mean daily rainfall in adulthood	-0.055	0.103	-0.284 to 0.154	0.283	0.595
Mean daily temperature in	-0.162	0.110	-0.402 to 0.065	2.066	0.151
adulthood					
Early-life RLTL * Mean daily	0.006	0.076	-0.144 to 0.158	0.006	0.939
rainfall in adulthood					
Early-life RLTL * Mean daily	0.027	0.078	-0.128 to 0.181	0.114	0.736
temperature in adulthood	0.027	0.070	0.120 (0 0.101	0.114	0.750
Model 6.3, Response: Lifespan	4.050	0.420	2 700 + 4 222		
Intercept	4.056	0.130	3.788 to 4.323	0.000	0.004
Mean daily rainfall in natal year	-0.027	0.109	-0.255 to 0.198	0.062	0.804
Mean daily rainfall in	0.289	0.042	0.206 to 0.372	42.99	<0.001
adulthood	0 4 2 7	0 1 0 2	0.240 += 0.070	4.655	0 1 0 0
Mean daily temperature in natal	-0.137	0.103	-0.349 to 0.079	1.655	0.198
year Maan dailu tamaanatuma in	0 1 6 7	0.020	0.000 += 0.220	20.12	<0.001
Mean daily temperature in adulthood	0.167	0.036	0.096 to 0.239	20.13	<0.001
	0.000		0 0F6 to 0 177	1 026	0 200
Mean daily rainfall in natal year	0.060	0.059	-0.056 to 0.177	1.036	0.309
* Mean daily rainfall in adulthood					
	0 077	0.026	0 006 to 0 149	4 576	0 022
Mean daily temperature in natal year * Mean daily	0.077	0.036	0.006 to 0.148	4.576	0.032
temperature in adulthood					
Model 6.4, Response: Annual adu	ult surviv	al nrohah	vility		
Intercept	1.495	0.137	1.222 to 1.790		
Mean daily rainfall in natal year	0.028	0.137	-0.121 to 0.182	0 1 2 7	0 71 2
Mean daily rainfall in adulthood	-0.028	0.076	-0.121 to 0.182 -0.279 to 0.137	0.137 0.403	0.712 0.525
wean daily rainall in additiodd	-0.005	0.100	-0.275 (0 0.157	0.405	0.525

Mean daily temperature in natal	-0.031	0.077	-0.183 to 0.122	0.159	0.690
year Mean daily temperature in adulthood	-0.163	0.104	-0.391 to 0.053	2.312	0.128
Mean daily rainfall in natal year	0.076	0.074	-0.068 to 0.225	1.055	0.304
* Mean daily rainfall in adulthood					
Mean daily temperature in natal year * Mean daily temperature	0.001	0.080	-0.156 to 0.160	0.001	0.988
in adulthood					

Random effect estimates (variance):

Model 1: Social group  $(3.343^{*}10^{-2})$ , Cohort (0.2817), Year  $(2.828^{*}10^{-2})$ , Observation (0.1677)Model 2: Social group (0.2167), Cohort  $(<1.000^{*}10^{-12})$ , Individual ID  $(<1.000^{*}10^{-12})$ , Year  $(8.774^{*}10^{-2})$ 

Model 3: Social group ( $3.806^{10^{-2}}$ ), Cohort (0.2247), Year ( $2.417^{10^{-2}}$ ), Observation (0.1646) Model 4: Social group (0.2100), Cohort ( $<1.000^{10^{-12}}$ ), Individual ID ( $<1.000^{10^{-12}}$ ), Year ( $7.130^{10^{-2}}$ )



Figure S6.1: Scatterplots showing the relationships between early-life relative leukocyte telomere length (RLTL) and the mean of mean daily rainfall (a) or temperature (b) across adulthood, or between mean daily rainfall (c) or temperature (d) and the associated means across adulthood (n = 289 observations; 289 badgers). Data points are jittered for clarity on the amount of data, with significant regression lines plotted.



Figure S6.2: Scatterplots showing the relationships between early-life relative leukocyte telomere length (RLTL) and mean daily rainfall (a) or temperature (b) in each year of adulthood, or between mean daily rainfall (c) or temperature (d) and the associated means in each year of adulthood (n = 1529 observations; 332 badgers). Data points are jittered for clarity on the amount of data, with significant regression lines plotted.

# Chapter 7: Slicing: a sustainable approach to structuring samples for analysis in long-term studies

The following paper, van Lieshout S.H.J., Froy, H., Schroeder, J., Burke, T., Simons, M.J.P., Dugdale, H.L. (2020) Slicing: a sustainable approach to structuring samples for analysis in long-term studies. Methods in Ecology and Evolution (in press), is a modified version of this chapter

I was responsible for conception and development of the study and I co-wrote the simulations, conducted statistical analyses and manuscript writing. Co-authors developed the ideas and provided comments on draft manuscripts.

#### Glossary

**Batch** – a set of analysed samples that are inherently dependent on one another, e.g. all using the same standard curve, machine, time of day, technician or that are equally affected by any other source of variation.

**Cluster** – a set of samples that are distinct in the timing of their analysis; this typically includes multiple batches nested within clusters.

**Nested** – all units at a lower hierarchical level are within one unit at a higher hierarchical level

**Cross-classified** – units at a lower hierarchical are associated with more than one unit at a higher hierarchical level.

**Within-individual effects** – Longitudinal changes within individuals in a repeatedly measured trait.

Between-individual effects – Comparison of differences in mean traits among individuals.

**Statistical power** – The ability to reject the null hypothesis when false, quantified by the proportion of significant values (P < 0.05) out of the total.

**Precision** – The degree to which simulations provide similar results, quantified by the absolute difference between the 75% and 25% percentile divided by the median.

**Slicing** – Recently added samples analysed in clusters together with previously obtained samples, ensuring statistical independence of collection time and cluster.

#### 7.1 Abstract

 The longitudinal study of populations is a core tool for understanding ecological and evolutionary processes. Long-term studies typically collect samples repeatedly over individual lifetimes and across generations. These samples are then analysed in batches (e.g. qPCR-plates) and clusters (i.e. group of batches) over time in the laboratory. However, these analyses are constrained by cross-classified data structures introduced biologically or through experimental design. The separation of biological variation from the confounding among-batch and among-cluster variation is crucial, yet often ignored.

- 2. The commonly used approaches to structuring samples for analysis, sequential and randomisation, generate bias due to the non-independence between time of collection and the batch and cluster they are analysed in. We propose a new sample structuring strategy, called slicing, designed to separate confounding among-batch and among-cluster variation from biological variation. Through simulations we tested the statistical power and precision to detect within-individual, between-individual, year and cohort effects of this novel approach.
- 3. Our slicing approach, whereby recently and previously collected samples are sequentially analysed in clusters together, enables the statistical separation of collection time and cluster effects by bridging clusters together, for which we provide a case study. Our simulations show, with reasonable slicing width and angle, similar precision and similar or greater statistical power to detect year, cohort, within- and between-individual effects when samples are sliced across batches, compared with strategies that aggregate longitudinal samples or use randomised allocation.
- 4. While the best approach to analysing long-term datasets depends on the structure of the data and questions of interest, it is vital to account for confounding among-cluster and batch variation. Our slicing approach is simple to apply and creates the necessary statistical independence of batch and cluster from environmental or biological variables of interest. Crucially, it allows sequential analysis of samples and flexible inclusion of current data in later analyses without completely confounding the analysis. Our approach maximises the scientific value of every sample, as each will optimally contribute to unbiased statistical inference from the data. Slicing thereby maximises the power of growing biobanks to address important ecological, epidemiological and evolutionary questions.

#### 7.2 Introduction

Individuals and populations are shaped by ecological and evolutionary processes which generally occur over many years or decades (Clutton-Brock and Sheldon, 2010). Consequently, long-term studies are key in determining the proximate and ultimate causes of biological processes. Sampling a population repeatedly over individual lifetimes and across multiple generations allows quantification and separation of genetic variation from environmental variation and estimation of such effects with appropriate precision and statistical power (Martin et al., 2011; van de Pol, 2012). However, statistical analyses of such comprehensive biological datasets are often complex due to hierarchically structured data and difficulties in separating variation from sources of interest and confounding variables.

Due to the hierarchical nature of biology, for example, phenotypic traits nested within individuals, individuals nested within social groups and social groups nested within populations (Figure 7.1a), appropriate statistical methods are required that model the hierarchical structure of biological datasets. While nested designs, either natural or through experimental design (Figure 7.1a), can be analysed in linear models, this inflates the degrees of freedom and thus reduces statistical power (Gelman, 2005; Quinn and Keough, 2002; Underwood, 1997). A better approach is the mixed model framework, which estimates fixed effects while flexibly accounting for the variance explained by random effects, incorporating multilevel hierarchies in data (Bolker et al., 2009; Gelman and Hill, 2006; Snijders and Bosker, 2011; Zuur et al., 2010). However, in cross-classified designs, where one individual is associated with more than one batch (Figure 7.1b) or even more than one cluster (Figure 7.1c), advanced statistical methods to estimate fixed effects and variance components are required compared to nested designs (Schielzeth and Nakagawa, 2013). While cross-classified data structures in short-term studies are often the result of the experimental

design (e.g. cross-fostering), in long-term studies the timing of the analyses of data often naturally lead to cross-classification of data (Figure 7.1b–7.1c).



Figure 7.1: Schematic of nested and cross-classified data structures: (a) With a nested design applied to populations and laboratory analyses; (b) Cross-classification of data among batches that is confounded by time of analysis; and (c) cross-classification common in longitudinal data in laboratory analyses across clusters. Black dashed delineation indicates nested, whereas red dashed delineation indicates cross-classified structures.

In long-term studies, the individual-based collection of longitudinal data and biological samples from natural or laboratory populations produces large, continuously growing biobanks (Clutton-Brock and Sheldon, 2010). Through laboratory analyses these biobanks provide information on, for example, individual telomere length (Boonekamp et al., 2014; Fairlie et al., 2016), serological values (Andraud et al., 2014; Telfer et al., 2008) and genetic variation (Berry et al., 2012; Tollenaere et al., 2012). However, the laboratory analysis of samples from growing biobanks is often conducted on separate groups of samples over time (e.g. after each fieldwork season, each year or coinciding with grant cycles). Such a group of samples – a cluster – will be collectively analysed under similar conditions, but these conditions might differ between clusters (e.g. different analyst, machine or month). Samples within a cluster are often further subdivided into batches (e.g. qPCR-plates) where, again, samples are analysed under similar conditions, but conditions may vary between batches (e.g. different reagents or day). While batches are nested within clusters, the continuous collection of samples in the field and intervals between laboratory analyses result in longitudinal samples from a single individual that may not be nested within batches or even clusters, causing cross-classified data structures in long-term studies (Gelman and Hill, 2006; Figure 7.1b–7.1c).

Cross-classification of data induces variation that can be confounded with the independent variables of interest, which can reduce the ability to compare results across samples and draw reliable conclusions (Greenland et al., 1999; Schielzeth and Nakagawa, 2013). This is problematic if cross-classification is not explicitly accounted for, or there is not sufficient cross-classification to disentangle these sources of variation with high statistical power. For example, temporal variation or, where multiple populations are studied, spatial differences in resource availability can be confounded with laboratory analysis when samples are analysed after each period of collection, resulting in a failure to separate the effects of resource availability and laboratory analysis on a response variable. The experimental design and therefore the method in structuring samples for clusters and allocating samples to batches requires consideration to cope with cross-classified data structures and confounding variables.



Figure 7.2: Schematic of three strategies to structure samples from the biobank. The sequential analysis strategy (a) can confound cluster and year, while randomisation of multiple years within a cluster (b) prevents this confound but generates uncontrollable variation between clusters. The slicing approach (c) combines the advantages of these approaches and can be used to sequentially analyse growing biobanks, while maintaining independence between cluster and associated variables. The biobank is sliced (e.g. by year), thereby analysing a set of continuously collected samples sequentially in each subsequent cluster. Each sample only needs to be analysed once, where different samples from the same slice are analysed across batches and clusters (e.g. year 4 and 5), which enables controlling for batch and cluster effects. Slicing width (frequency of new samples collected) and angle (degree of independence between slices) determine the level of statistical independence between clusters.

While relatively few studies report the approach used to structure samples into clusters, currently two main approaches are used, and both are prone to confounding effects and cross-classified data structures. First, sequential structuring of samples to clusters: analysing samples in clusters, in the same order in which they were collected (e.g. by year). This approach may be used, for example, in physiological studies (e.g. Takizawa et al., 2004) and has the advantage that samples can be analysed immediately without any issues in placing or labelling of samples. However, sequential structuring of samples confounds cluster with organising variable (e.g. year) effects (Figure 7.2a). The second approach, randomisation of samples from multiple years within a cluster, ensures that samples are sufficiently mixed to avoid confounds, and should already be standard practice (Figure 7.2b). The use of randomisation is widespread in, for example, telomere length (e.g. Spurgin et al., 2017), disease (e.g. Swanson et al., 2015) and hormone analyses (e.g. Dantzer et al., 2013). However, this randomisation approach requires a delay before analyses can be completed, so that samples collected at different time points can be analysed together, and organising variable and cluster effects can be separated. Furthermore, the randomisation of large numbers of samples is time-consuming and detailed reordering of samples from the biobank is prone to error due to sample labelling and placing. Most importantly, however, is that after applying this randomisation approach once in a long-term study, any subsequently collected samples cannot be directly compared to the previously randomised samples as they will be subject to statistically inseparable variation due to clustering of the samples already analysed. For example, randomising two time periods of five years of sampling separately into two clusters results in uncontrollable variation between these two clusters and confounds the first five years in cluster one with the subsequent years in cluster two (Figure 7.2b), leading to cross-classified data structures (Figure 7.1c). Analysing the same samples multiple times in subsequent clusters can avoid this issue, often referred to as 'golden' or 'reference' samples. However, the additional costs or potential depletion of the 'golden'

sample can make this approach difficult. More importantly, it is unclear how effectively one golden sample can control for among-batch and among-cluster variation. For example, the 'golden' sample might not be representative of all samples, and the sample can degrade over time thus not returning the same value in different analyses. In short, these two popular approaches to structuring cross-classified samples do not fully account for among-cluster and among-batch variation, leaving an unknown amount of variance unquantified and thus compromising conclusions drawn from such studies.

The analyses of longitudinal data can be turned into a nested design when samples from a single individual are aggregated within a batch and cluster (Figure 7.1a). This is thought to increase the statistical power to detect within-individual effects. The reasoning is that longitudinal samples are then exposed to the same technical noise, which allows greater statistical power to dissect out the biology from batch effects (Beirne et al., 2014; Herborn et al., 2014; Nettle et al., 2015; Pauliny et al., 2015; Rius-Ottenheim et al., 2012; Sudyka et al., 2014). Although the aggregation approach may be optimal for certain questions and data structures (e.g. experimental studies where the focus is on within-individual changes, while having controlled for many other sources of variation), the increasing application of physiological assays in long-term studies requires a different approach because the aggregation of longitudinal samples in a single batch has four disadvantages. First, analyses need to be postponed until all samples from a single individual have been collected. Second, aggregation requires detailed picking and reordering of samples, which increases the likelihood of human error, sample mix-ups and therefore false conclusions. Third, confounding variables that covary with the individual samples taken from one individual are not effectively separated from batch or cluster (e.g. seasonal effects). Fourth, it is rare for within-individual variation in a trait to be the sole interest, often between-individual variation is of interest too, and aggregating individuals within a batch could reduce the ability to estimate between-individual variation when individuals are aggregated in and thus

confounded with batch effects. Thus although assumed, it remains to be determined whether aggregation increases statistical power to detect within-individual effects so substantially that it would outweigh these four disadvantages. Hence, the approaches to structure samples for analyses in long-term studies suffer from confounding effects, crossclassified data structures and increased likelihood for human error, and cannot provide the comparable analyses of samples over time required in long-term studies.

Here, we present an approach to the analysis of samples from growing biobanks that, while maintaining statistical independence, accounts for among-cluster variation and controls for other potentially confounding effects (Figure 7.2c). Additionally, we provide a case study of this novel approach and subsequently test the assumption that aggregating longitudinal samples within batches results in greater statistical power to detect withinindividual effects. We then discuss the analysis of long-term data and highlight the importance of statistical mixed models. While we will mainly consider the field of evolutionary biology, using telomere dynamics as an illustrative example, these considerations and techniques can be applied to a range of fields, including epidemiology, ecology and laboratory-based science.

#### 7.3 Materials and Methods

#### 7.3.1 Slicing approach

We have developed a slicing approach to structure samples from growing biobanks, such that recently collected samples are analysed in clusters together with previously obtained samples, ensuring statistical independence of collection time and cluster. This approach can overcome the experimental design and statistical issues with cross-classification and confounding variables in long-term studies (Gelman and Hill, 2006; Greenland et al., 1999; Schielzeth and Nakagawa, 2013), by bridging batches and clusters together. This allows for a structured and *a priori* separation of the variation of interest from confounding variables and

when combined with mixed models copes well with cross-classified data structures. The biobank is divided into slices (Figure 7.2c), where a slice reflects a group of collectively gathered samples (e.g. in the same year) analysed together. Samples from a slice can be sequentially allocated to batches and only need to be analysed once, with the benefit of needing less sample volume and less degradation of samples. Separate samples from the same slice can be analysed in different batches or clusters (Figure 7.2c), bridging batches and clusters together. Slicing uses a varying proportion of samples from each given sampling period (i.e. slices), sequentially analysed in a single cluster, to statistically account for temporal and cluster variation. Slicing therefore allows convenient sequential analysis while maintaining statistical independence.

Depending on the frequency at which new samples are obtained, the 'width' of the slices can be changed (Figure 7.2c). For example, low analysis frequency requires wider slices to account for among-cluster variation. This decision is directly related to the slicing 'angle' (Figure 7.2c), which determines the degree of independence of sampling year from cluster. For example, if there are environmental effects related to the collection time of samples, slicing samples by collection time (i.e. lower angle) removes possible confounds with cluster effects. For slicing to be effective across clusters it requires multiple years/cohorts to be present within a single cluster and at least one of those years/cohorts to be present in a different cluster, allowing statistical separation of among-cluster variation and confounding effects. Depending on slicing width and angle, a slice should cover approximately one-third of each batch, when slicing across three batches, with three separate slices covering the same batch (Figure 7.2c and see simulations). Such a strategy also naturally allocates samples of certain slices to batches in subsequent clusters, bridging clusters together (Figure 7.2c) and allowing control of among-cluster variation. As a general rule, when you have more confounding effects smaller slices (i.e. lower angle and smaller width) are required to be able to partition these confounding effects. Smaller slices lead to a greater statistical power to

separate potentially confounding effects within and between batches (as there are more slices within a batch and each slice occurs in more batches). Setting the slicing angle and width is a trade-off between statistical independence (assessing statistical power in the case of confounding effects) and the number of samples that remain unanalysed until the addition of newly collected samples. This latter point is a constraint, as the number of samples that can be analysed simultaneously will be reduced, if only slightly, by this approach. We argue that the creation of statistical independence and accounting for among-cluster variation are merits that outweigh this limitation.

# 7.3.2 A case study: structuring samples for telomere length analysis in wild house sparrows

We provide a case study of how slicing can be applied to structure samples for analysis in a long-term (>20 years) study on a natural population of house sparrows (*Passer domesticus*) on Lundy Island, UK (Schroeder et al., 2015). House sparrows are a relatively long-lived species (on Lundy: mean lifespan is 3.5±1.4 SE, maximum lifespan is 9 years; Schroeder et al., 2012). The Lundy population has been systematically studied since 2000 and the adult population size varies between years (Simons et al., 2015). Immigration to and emigration from the island is low (0.5% of recruits; Schroeder et al., 2015), with an annual resighting probability of 0.91–0.96 (Simons et al., 2015). This closed island population on Lundy thus provides precise ages and life-history data for all individuals.

We use a subset of the Lundy dataset containing 12 years of data (2000–2011; Table S7.1), where the population consisted on average of 130 individuals that were blood sampled on average twice a year. The total biobank we selected for in this case study contains 2,733 samples from 515 individuals. The hypothesis to be tested is that telomere length and age are negatively associated within individuals, and therefore we will analyse all samples collected every 6 years (i.e. 12/6 = 2 clusters) with 12 qPCR-plates (i.e. batches) in each

cluster (Figure S7.1). Samples are analysed sequentially, where each sample is analysed once. A key consideration is to separate variation in sources of interest from confounding variables by analysing samples with different confounding effects in the same batch. This ensures that confounding effects (e.g. sampling year) are not fully confounded with attributes of batch. Slicing, where samples are sliced across batches within a cluster, can achieve such separation in combination with mixed models to statistically correct for known confounding effects (e.g. qPCR-plate).

In the Lundy sparrow example, we first determine the slicing width, which depends on the analysis frequency and number of samples collected in each year. The analysis frequency (i.e. 2 clusters) is relatively low which results in many sampling years within a cluster. The contribution of a confounding sampling year effect can be determined by comparison of within-year to between-year effects, which requires sufficient samples from a single year analysed in the same batch and therefore wider slices. However, the number of samples collected in each year varies markedly, resulting in a variable slicing width per year depending on the number of samples in each year (Figure S7.1). Secondly, we determine the slicing angle. Since the population density varied strongly between years, the slicing angle should be low (Figure S7.1). This way a single year crosses more batches which allows confounding effects (i.e. population density and year) to be separated from variation in sources of interest. Thirdly, since the number of samples exceeds the preferred slicing width and angle, multiple batches with the same lay-out will be used (Figure S7.1). These slicing parameters result in at least three slices within a batch to enable the separation of confounding environmental effects (e.g. population density, sampling year) from laboratory effects (e.g. batch), when using mixed models (Gelman and Hill, 2006).

The slicing approach allows an accurate estimation of the relationship between telomere length and age. Since the Lundy sparrow study is ongoing, the slicing approach can be continued into new clusters without inducing new confounding effects. For comparison,

the sequential approach would confound sampling year with batch effects while randomisation of samples could result in human and technical errors. Additionally, randomisation would not allow comparable analyses among clusters or flexible inclusion of current data in future analyses.

Effectively applying the slicing approach to one's own dataset thus minimally requires multiple slices within a batch and cluster, and at least part of one of these slices in another batch or cluster (Figure 7.2c; Figure S7.1). The slicing width can vary, for example, depending on the number of samples collected each year. Additionally, a low slicing angle is preferred since often there is a substantial number of confounding effects, and a lower slicing angle leads to slices crossing more batches and separation of confounding effects from variables of interest.

The benefit of the slicing approach over other strategies is that it allows convenient sequential analysis of the biobank and enables separation of variables of interest from confounding variables. However, the benefit of sequential analysis within the slicing approach disappears when samples from a single individual need to be aggregated within the same batch (e.g. Beirne et al., 2014; Nettle et al., 2015). We therefore determine whether aggregation of longitudinal samples from a single individual provides greater statistical power and precision in long-term studies to detect any within-individual, between-individual, year or cohort effects through simulations.

#### 7.3.3 Simulations

We used simulations run in R 3.3.1 (R Development Core Team, 2019) to determine the statistical power (i.e. ability to reject the null hypothesis when false) and precision (i.e. width of the distribution) to detect individual, year and cohort effects, using different sample allocation strategies (i.e. longitudinal samples aggregated in a single batch, randomly allocated to batches, or 'sliced' across batches).

We simulated a population of 200 individuals in 10 cohorts that were sampled once a year for a maximum of 5 years, providing an equal sample size in all simulations. 'Telomere length' was used as an example response variable; however, this is applicable to any longitudinally measured continuous variable. Starting telomere length was drawn from a Gaussian distribution to fix between-individual standard deviation (SD = 1.00) and all individuals shared the same within-individual shortening rate of telomeres (0.06\*1, scaled to SD = 1 parameter, = 0.06 per year).

Year effects were simulated by taking 0.7 multiplied by a generated value drawn from a uniform distribution (between 0 and 1) for each year and added these to the response variable. In separate simulations we replaced year with cohort effects (20 individuals per cohort) by taking 0.9 multiplied by a generated value from a uniform distribution (between 0 and 1) for each cohort. We chose to model 'year' and 'cohort' as possible biological confounds with experimentally induced variation. The choice to model such specific biology is rather arbitrary as we are simulating the confounding effect of 'batch of analysis' and biology. We also conduct additional simulations with varying strengths for year and cohort effects to determine the robustness of the results.

Individual probability of death was then modelled via telomere length associated with mortality (Eq. 1) as:

$$y_i = \beta^{(\alpha^* x_i)} \tag{1}$$

where *x* is initial telomere length for *i*th individual, with a baseline probability of death ( $\beta$ ) of 0.25 and a slope ( $\alpha$ ) of -0.23, providing mortality risk ( $y_i$ ) per year. This resulted in the probability of death varying with ±2 SD telomere length from 0.14 to 0.36 per year. Death for each simulated individual was determined by drawing from a uniform distribution (ranging 0 to 1) to determine a simulated death. Mortality was partly determined by the response variable (to simulate selective disappearance from the population, determined by the between-individual age component, see next paragraph), with variable telomere lengths
to start with (between-individual variation) and a set within-individual shortening (withinindividual age component, see next paragraph).

We simulated the relationship between telomere length and age (in years) both within and between individuals. Between-individual effects were modelled using the mean age at which the individual's trait was measured, and within-individual effects as the age at which an individual's trait was measured minus the mean measurement age for that individual (van de Pol and Wright, 2009).

Simulations were run 5,000 times, for a varying number of samples (12, 24, 36, 48) per batch and simulated differences between batch means (batch attributable error, SD: 1, 2.5, 5, 10, 20, 40). This error is relatively high to ensure we control for potential effects of batch attributable error when determining the variation in statistical power among sample allocation strategies. Simulations were repeated three times to obtain three separate results per sample allocation strategy.

The slicing strategy was simulated at an angle that resulted in at least three slices per batch. Note, to start the sample allocation, the first batch was filled by 3/4 with the first slice and by 1/4 with the second slice, where subsequent batches were filled by 1/4, 1/2 and 1/4 with subsequent slices (Figure 7.2c). Additional simulations were run with the slicing angle halved, slicing width halved, and a doubled sample size (n = 400).

The simulated data were analysed using linear mixed models in *lme4* 1.1-14 (Bates et al., 2015), where the model included random effects (at the intercept level) for individual (to control for repeated measurements on the same individual) and batch, and year or cohort was fitted as a fixed factor. Statistical power was determined by the number of significant values (p<0.05) for each variable out of the total number of simulations (n = 5000). It is important to understand the effect of sample allocation strategy on precision estimates, as well as statistical power. We therefore quantified precision as the width of the distribution of parameter estimates from the models run on the repeated simulated datasets, as the

absolute difference between the 75% and 25% percentile divided by the median (note, a precision value closer to zero means higher precision).

Parameters of the simulations were manually optimised so that a statistical power of approximately 0.5 was achieved to detect between-individual effects for the random allocation strategy, determined by a t-value of less than -2 ( $\alpha \approx 0.05$ ). This intermediate level of statistical power avoids thresholding effects at either end of the power spectrum (0 or 1). Such a simulation strategy maximises the sensitivity in detecting any modulation in relative statistical power among sample allocation strategies, which is our focus rather than an achieving a certain absolute statistical power.

# 7.4 Results

Our simulations tested the widely held assumption that aggregating longitudinal samples of the same individual in a single batch increases statistical power to detect within-individual effects (e.g. Herborn et al., 2014; Nettle et al., 2015). In simulations with year effects, the statistical power to detect within-individual effects was much lower when longitudinal samples were aggregated (mean statistical power±SD across sample sizes and three runs per simulation = 0.059±0.030) than when samples were sliced across batches (0.269±0.008) or randomly allocated to batches (0.267±0.007; Figure 7.3). For between-individual effects, again, the statistical power was much lower when longitudinal samples were aggregated in a single batch (0.138±0.077) compared to when samples were sliced across batches (0.443±0.007) or randomly allocated to batches (0.441±0.007; Figure 7.3). The statistical power to detect year effects was higher when longitudinal samples were aggregated in a single batch (0.776±0.008) or randomly allocated to batches (0.782±0.014) than when sliced across batches (0.622±0.012; Figure 7.3). However, a lower slicing angle (crossing four batches; 0.741±0.009) and smaller slicing width (half a batch; 0.751±0.007) resulted in a similar statistical power to detect year effects to aggregation of longitudinal samples and

random allocation, while maintaining statistical power to detect within- and betweenindividual effects (Figure 7.4).

In simulations with cohort effects, the statistical power to detect within- and between-individual effects was lower when slicing across batches (0.159 $\pm$ 0.032; 0.324 $\pm$ 0.020) compared to aggregation (0.557 $\pm$ 0.009; 0.390 $\pm$ 0.020) and randomisation (0.542 $\pm$ 0.014; 0.423 $\pm$ 0.008) approaches (Figure S7.2). However, statistical power to detect cohort effects was greater for slicing (0.413 $\pm$ 0.009) and randomisation (0.462 $\pm$ 0.008) compared to aggregation of longitudinal samples in a single batch (0.142 $\pm$ 0.044; Figure S7.2). A doubled sample size (*n* = 400), either for simulations with year or cohorts effects, increased statistical power but did not alter variation in statistical power among sample allocation strategies (Figure S7.3–S7.4). Additionally, varying the strengths of year and cohort effects (Figure S7.5–S7.8).



Figure 7.3: Statistical power analyses of simulated data for individual and year effects among four batch sizes (n = 12 to 48) using three sample allocation strategies: (1) aggregating samples per individual in the same batch (solid, red), (2) assigning samples randomly to batches (dashed, blue) or (3) slicing samples across batches with an angle that crosses two batches and a slicing width of a single batch (dotted, yellow). Raw data points from three separate simulations with mean statistical power per sample size are shown against among-batch variation, with 95% confidence intervals as shaded areas. Scales differ between year, within- and between-individual effects.



Figure 7.4: Statistical power analyses of simulated data for individual and year effects among four batch sizes (n = 12 to 48) using three different slicing parameters: (1) slicing angle that crosses two batches with a slicing width of a single batch (solid, red), (2) halved slicing angle which crosses four batches (dashed, blue) or (3) halved slicing width of half a batch (dotted, yellow). Raw data points from three separate simulations with mean statistical power per sample size are shown against among-batch variation, with 95% confidence intervals as shaded areas. Scales differ between year, within- and between-individual effects.

In simulations with either year or cohort effects, the precision to estimate within- and between-individual effects followed similar patterns to statistical power in the respective simulations, with greater precision for the approaches that showed greater statistical power (Figure S7.9–S7.10). However, precision to estimate cohort and year effects was the opposite of statistical power, where approaches with lower statistical power showed greater precision to detect such effects (Figure S7.9–S7.10). A doubled sample size (n = 400) increased precision but did not alter variation in precision among sample allocation strategies (Figure S7.11–S7.12). Additionally, varying the strengths of year and cohort effects changed the precision, but not the variation among sample allocation strategies (Figure S7.13–S7.16).

Our slicing method performs similar to randomisation of samples and outperforms aggregation of longitudinal samples to disentangle within- and between-individual effects when year effects apply, an objective shared by many longitudinal studies (Nussey et al., 2013; van de Pol and Wright, 2009). Simulations were run for a wide range of parameters and sample sizes (Figure 7.3, 7.4, S7.2–S7.16). When desirable, different parameter sets specific to current or future datasets can be included in the script provided.

### 7.5 Discussion

The analysis of comprehensive long-term datasets is often complex due to cross-classified data structures and difficulties in separating variation in sources of interest from confounding variables, such as separating year from batch effects. Our simulations clearly demonstrate that statistical power was greater for within- and between-individual effects when samples were randomised or sliced across batches when year effects apply. The reduction in statistical power for aggregation of longitudinal samples in a single batch to detect such effects can be explained by the confounding of the year and batch effect. Conversely, in simulations with cohort effects there was greater statistical power for within- and between-individual effects when samples were aggregated within a single batch or randomised, compared to slicing across batches. The lower statistical power for slicing to detect such effects is the consequence of a low number of cohorts in our simulations, where cohorts are sequentially ordered instead of mixed among slices, which results in confounding

effects between cohort and batch within the slicing approach. A higher number of cohorts in the simulations will lead to a mixture of cohorts among slices and result in similar statistical power to detect within- and between-individual effects for all three sample structuring strategies. This highlights the importance choosing appropriate slicing angles and widths, ensuring adequate variation of potential confounds (e.g. cohort/year) in a single batch.

The greater statistical power to detect within-individual effects for slicing and randomisation when year effects apply was the consequence of appropriate statistical methodology, accounting for batch, individual and year through fixed and random effects. These results disprove the assumption that samples from a single individual need to be analysed in the same batch for greater statistical power to detect within-individual effects (e.g. Beirne et al., 2014; Nettle et al., 2015). Such efforts will reduce the statistical power of the study and generate unnecessary effort in picking specific samples, which increases the likelihood of technical errors (e.g. sample mix-ups, freeze/thawing effects, transcription or pipetting errors).

The statistical power to detect year effects was greater when samples were aggregated in a single batch or randomised across batches compared to slicing. However, when the slicing angle and width decreased there was no difference in statistical power to detect year effects compared with aggregation and randomisation approaches. This is because a lower slicing angle and smaller width reduces the confound between batch and year, as a slice crosses more batches or there are more slices per batch. In contrast, the notion that longitudinal samples should not be aggregated in the same batch becomes particularly pronounced when cohort effects occur. The effort of grouping samples from a single individual together collects cohorts together (an individual's cohort is fixed) in a batch thus reducing the statistical power to distinguish between different cohorts, even though this increases precision. Random allocation of samples and slicing have a substantially greater statistical power to detect cohort effects due to a higher mixture of cohorts within

the same batch. For telomere biology especially, estimating cohort effects reliably is important as it can affect telomere length strongly (Spurgin et al., 2017), but cohort effects are not always estimated. All these results are robust against a variety of batch errors, sample sizes and strengths of year and cohort effects.

### Integral approach to growing biobank analysis

The optimal sample structuring strategy for analysing long-term datasets depends on the structure of the data and questions of interest. However, in the majority of long-term datasets, slicing has benefits over other structuring strategies by overcoming problems with confounding variables and cross-classified data structures which commonly occur in the analysis of long-term studies.

The assumption that longitudinal samples should be aggregated in a single batch could hinder the slicing approach, but our simulations have disproven this assumption. Slicing performs, in terms of statistical power and precision, equally well to randomisation when applying correct slicing parameters (i.e. low width and angle). Slicing across batches and clusters and bridging them together provides the slicing approach with statistical power to disentangle confounding effects.

The key benefit of slicing over randomisation is that slicing allows separate analysis of current data and flexible inclusion of these data into future analyses without completely confounding the analysis. Furthermore, slicing allows sequential analysis of samples, which only need to be analysed once, preventing complicated sample labelling and placing among clusters, reducing sample volume required and avoiding any defrosting issues and therefore reducing the potential for human error.

Slicing has some potential limitations. For example, substantial differences among years in the number of samples collected could limit the ease with which the slicing approach is applied. Additionally, a failed analysis of samples (e.g. plate failure leading to sample loss

during analysis) using slicing results in missing data within a certain time window, whereas with randomisation this is scattered across the dataset. While slicing performs similarly to randomisation in terms of statistical power and precision, we think that slicing is more practical with merits (i.e. sequential analysis, statistical independence) that outweigh the limitations. We stipulate that, because of sequential analysis in our slicing approach, hypotheses need to be pre-defined and power analyses conducted before experimental and statistical analysis (Fraser et al., 2018 and references therein).

The use of mixed models is common in the analysis of longitudinal datasets, especially in ecology (Bolker et al., 2009; Gelman and Hill, 2006). We highlight the use of mixed models because they are necessary when using the slicing approach to account adequately for experimental and environmental variation. The combination of slicing and mixed models in long-term studies allows analysis of commonly occurring cross-classified data structures that arise due to hierarchical biology mixed with cross-classified data collection and analysis. Interpretation of the variance components in these models depends on a crossed or nested design (Schielzeth and Nakagawa, 2013), where the random effect structure can be used to account for potentially confounding experimental and environmental variables with cluster effects (e.g. storage duration, batch). The failure to include these effects can inflate type I and type II errors when there is a temporal, spatial or other spurious correlation with any independent variable.

# 7.6 Conclusions

A major current challenge in long-term studies is analysing data as it is collected while also including it in future analyses without creating uncontrollable variation, allowing comparison of results over multiple years or even decades. This requires the ability to compare differentially timed analyses that are potentially biased by confounding cluster effects. Our study shows the importance of considering the structure of samples among clusters and batches in long-term studies. Our slicing approach retains statistical independence and accounts for among-cluster variation in the sequential analysis of growing biobanks. Slicing also provides similar statistical power and precision to detect cohort, year, within- and between-individual effects to randomisation, if analysed using appropriate statistical mixed models and consistent methodology to control for confounding effects. A single sample's scientific value increases through this approach, as it can be used separately in current studies, but can also be included in subsequent studies, providing sustainable (re)use of collected data. The approach we propose here (slicing and mixed models) is easy to apply and improves the potential for these growing biobanks to address important ecological and evolutionary questions.

# Supplemental information Chapter 7: Slicing: a sustainable approach to structuring samples for analysis in long-term studies

### **Case study Lundy sparrows**

Table S7.1: Number of samples collected in each year in the subset of the Lundy sparrow study which are used to estimate telomere length.

Year	Number of samples	Year	Number of samples
2000	270	2006	141
2001	282	2007	138
2002	288	2008	297
2003	117	2009	303
2004	168	2010	66
2005	279	2011	333

Samples are analysed on 96-well plates. Since the population density varied quite strongly among years, the slicing angle should be relatively low to ensure that a single year (i.e. slice) crosses many batches which allows separation of variables of interest from potential confounds (e.g. population density and year). The slicing width depends on the analysis frequency which is relatively low. However, although the number of samples collected in each year is high there is substantial variation between years, therefore the width of each slice also depends on the number of samples collected. Moreover, because the number of samples collected per year is high, and exceeds the sample size of a batch, it is advised to spread samples from a slice over multiple batches with the same lay-out to allow for sequential analysis of samples while maintaining statistical independence.

#### Slicing sparrow dataset



Figure S7.1: Suggested slicing parameters for the subset of the Lundy sparrow dataset. Each cluster consists of 12 batches (i.e. 96-well qPCR plates), where 3 qPCR plates have the same lay-out (i.e. 3 rows) because the number of samples exceed the preferred slicing width. Slicing width depends on the number of samples collected per year, whereas the slicing angle is low to avoid confounds with population density. The first and second slice have an alternative 'slicing pattern' because all samples from these first two years need to be analysed in the first cluster to avoid complicated sample placing in later analyses. Numbers in batches reflect the number of samples analysed per slice per qPCR-plate. The total number of samples on a qPCR-plate are shown below the qPCR plate. Colours of the slices correspond to a year in the legend at the bottom of the figure, which in brackets shows the total number of samples for that year analysed in these two clusters. All samples from the first 8 years are analysed by this approach, but not all samples from the last four years as

part of the biobank needs to stay in place to avoid confounds in future analyses. Running samples in duplicate or triplicate would mean half or a third of the samples of each slice per batch, but twice or three times the number of batches (with the same lay-out) per cluster, respectively.



Figure S7.2: Statistical power analyses (n = 200) for individual and cohort effects among four batch sizes (n = 12 to 48) using three sample allocation strategies: (1) aggregating samples per individual in the same batch (solid, red), (2) assigning samples randomly to batches (dashed, blue) or (3) slicing samples across batches with an angle that crosses two batches and a slicing width of a single batch (dotted, yellow). Raw data points from three separate simulations with mean statistical power per sample size are shown against among-batch variation, with 95% confidence intervals as shaded areas. Scales differ between cohort, within- and between-individual effects.



Figure S7.3: Statistical power analyses (n = 400) for individual and year effects among four batch sizes (n = 12 to 48) using three sample allocation strategies: (1) aggregating samples per individual in the same batch (solid, red), (2) assigning samples randomly to batches (dashed, blue) or (3) slicing samples across batches with an angle that crosses two batches and a slicing width of a single batch (dotted, yellow). Raw data points from three separate simulations with mean statistical power per sample size are shown against among-batch variation, with 95% confidence intervals as shaded areas. Scales differ between year, within- and between-individual effects.



Figure S7.4: Statistical power analyses (n = 400) for individual and cohort effects among four batch sizes (n = 12 to 48) using three sample allocation strategies: (1) aggregating samples per individual in the same batch (solid, red), (2) assigning samples randomly to batches (dashed, blue) or (3) slicing samples across batches with an angle that crosses two batches and a slicing width of a single batch (dotted, yellow). Raw data points from three separate simulations with mean statistical power per sample size are shown against among-batch variation, with 95% confidence intervals as shaded areas. Scales differ between cohort, within- and between-individual effects.



Figure S7.5: Statistical power analyses (n = 200) for individual and year effects (max. 0.35) among four batch sizes (n = 12 to 48) using three sample allocation strategies: (1) aggregating samples per individual in the same batch (solid, red), (2) assigning samples randomly to batches (dashed, blue) or (3) slicing samples across batches with an angle that crosses two batches and a slicing width of a single batch (dotted, yellow). Raw data points from three separate simulations with mean statistical power per sample size are shown against among-batch variation, with 95% confidence intervals as shaded areas. Scales differ between year, within- and between-individual effects.



Figure S7.6: Statistical power analyses (n = 200) for individual and year effects (max. 1.05) among four batch sizes (n = 12 to 48) using three sample allocation strategies: (1) aggregating samples per individual in the same batch (solid, red), (2) assigning samples randomly to batches (dashed, blue) or (3) slicing samples across batches with an angle that crosses two batches and a slicing width of a single batch (dotted, yellow). Raw data points from three separate simulations with mean statistical power per sample size are shown against among-batch variation, with 95% confidence intervals as shaded areas. Scales differ between year, within- and between-individual effects.



Figure S7.7: Statistical power analyses (n = 200) for individual and cohort effects (max. 0.45) among four batch sizes (n = 12 to 48) using three sample allocation strategies: (1) aggregating samples per individual in the same batch (solid, red), (2) assigning samples randomly to batches (dashed, blue) or (3) slicing samples across batches with an angle that crosses two batches and a slicing width of a single batch (dotted, yellow). Raw data points from three separate simulations with mean statistical power per sample size are shown against among-batch variation, with 95% confidence intervals as shaded areas. Scales differ between cohort, within- and between-individual effects.



Figure S7.8: Statistical power analyses (n = 200) for individual and cohort effects (max. 1.35) among four batch sizes (n = 12 to 48) using three sample allocation strategies: (1) aggregating samples per individual in the same batch (solid, red), (2) assigning samples randomly to batches (dashed, blue) or (3) slicing samples across batches with an angle that crosses two batches and a slicing width of a single batch (dotted, yellow). Raw data points from three separate simulations with mean statistical power per sample size are shown against among-batch variation, with 95% confidence intervals as shaded areas. Scales differ between cohort, within- and between-individual effects.



Figure S7.9: Precision analyses (*n* = 200) for individual and year effects among four batch sizes (n = 12 to 48) using three sample allocation strategies: (1) aggregating samples per individual in the same batch (solid, red), (2) assigning samples randomly to batches (dashed, blue) or (3) slicing samples across batches with an angle that crosses two batches and a slicing width of a single batch (dotted, yellow). Raw data points from three separate simulations with mean imprecision per sample size are shown against among-batch variation, with 95% confidence intervals as shaded areas. Note, a precision value closer to zero means higher precision. Scales differ between year, within- and between-individual effects.



Figure S7.10: Precision analyses (n = 200) for individual and cohort effects among four batch sizes (n = 12 to 48) using three sample allocation strategies: (1) aggregating samples per individual in the same batch (solid, red), (2) assigning samples randomly to batches (dashed, blue) or (3) slicing samples across batches with an angle that crosses two batches and a slicing width of a single batch (dotted, yellow). Raw data points from three separate simulations with mean imprecision per sample size are shown against among-batch variation, with 95% confidence intervals as shaded areas. Note, a precision value closer to zero means higher precision. Scales differ between cohort, within- and between-individual effects.



Figure S7.11: Precision analyses (n = 400) for individual and year effects among four batch sizes (n = 12 to 48) using three sample allocation strategies: (1) aggregating samples per individual in the same batch (solid, red), (2) assigning samples randomly to batches (dashed, blue) or (3) slicing samples across batches with an angle that crosses two batches and a slicing width of a single batch (dotted, yellow). Raw data points from three separate simulations with mean imprecision per sample size are shown against among-batch variation, with 95% confidence intervals as shaded areas. Note, a precision value closer to zero means higher precision. Scales differ between year, within- and between-individual effects.



Figure S7.12: Precision analyses (n = 400) for individual and cohort effects among four batch sizes (n = 12 to 48) using three sample allocation strategies: (1) aggregating samples per individual in the same batch (solid, red), (2) assigning samples randomly to batches (dashed, blue) or (3) slicing samples across batches with an angle that crosses two batches and a slicing width of a single batch (dotted, yellow). Raw data points from three separate simulations with mean imprecision per sample size are shown against among-batch variation, with 95% confidence intervals as shaded areas. Note, a precision value closer to zero means higher precision. Scales differ between cohort, within- and between-individual effects.



Figure S7.13: Precision analyses (n = 200) for individual and year effects (max. 0.35) among four batch sizes (n = 12 to 48) using three sample allocation strategies: (1) aggregating samples per individual in the same batch (solid, red), (2) assigning samples randomly to batches (dashed, blue) or (3) slicing samples across batches with an angle that crosses two batches and a slicing width of a single batch (dotted, yellow). Raw data points from three separate simulations with mean imprecision per sample size are shown against amongbatch variation, with 95% confidence intervals as shaded areas. Note, a precision value closer to zero means higher precision. Scales differ between year, within- and betweenindividual effects.



Figure S7.14: Precision analyses (n = 200) for individual and year effects (max. 1.05) among four batch sizes (n = 12 to 48) using three sample allocation strategies: (1) aggregating samples per individual in the same batch (solid, red), (2) assigning samples randomly to batches (dashed, blue) or (3) slicing samples across batches with an angle that crosses two batches and a slicing width of a single batch (dotted, yellow). Raw data points from three separate simulations with mean imprecision per sample size are shown against amongbatch variation, with 95% confidence intervals as shaded areas. Note, a precision value closer to zero means higher precision. Scales differ between year, within- and betweenindividual effects.



Figure S7.15: Precision analyses (n = 200) for individual and cohort effects (max. 0.45) among four batch sizes (n = 12 to 48) using three sample allocation strategies: (1) aggregating samples per individual in the same batch (solid, red), (2) assigning samples randomly to batches (dashed, blue) or (3) slicing samples across batches with an angle that crosses two batches and a slicing width of a single batch (dotted, yellow). Raw data points from three separate simulations with mean imprecision per sample size are shown against among-batch variation, with 95% confidence intervals as shaded areas. Note, a precision value closer to zero means higher precision. Scales differ between cohort, within- and between-individual effects.



Figure S7.16: Precision analyses (n = 200) for individual and cohort effects (max. 1.35) among four batch sizes (n = 12 to 48) using three sample allocation strategies: (1) aggregating samples per individual in the same batch (solid, red), (2) assigning samples randomly to batches (dashed, blue) or (3) slicing samples across batches with an angle that crosses two batches and a slicing width of a single batch (dotted, yellow). Raw data points from three separate simulations with mean imprecision per sample size are shown against among-batch variation, with 95% confidence intervals as shaded areas. Note, a precision value closer to zero means higher precision. Scales differ between cohort, within- and between-individual effects.

**Chapter 8: General discussion** 

With the extensive evidence for senescence from natural populations of animals among many taxa (Nussey et al., 2013), we are currently acquiring an increasing understanding of the fundamental mechanisms of senescence and how environmental conditions are a source of the considerable variation in individual senescence patterns (Lemaitre et al., 2015; Cooper and Kruuk, 2018).

In this thesis, I have primarily focused on early-life conditions, when forces of natural selection are strongest (Hamilton, 1966; Williams, 1957; Medawar, 1952). I have used telomere length as a biomarker of senescence that reflects the physiological consequences of within-individual experiences by reflecting and individual's somatic state. In Chapter 2 I found evidence for complex relationships between telomere length and age, with little within-individual consistency, where early-life telomere length predicted survival to adulthood and lifespan. In Chapter 3, I found that sex- and age-specific changes, dependent on the social conditions, contribute to variation in leukocyte cell composition which may affect the estimation of mean leukocyte telomere length. I then explored the interactive effects between the mean of and variability in early-life environmental conditions, specifically group size and food availability, which are reflected in early-life telomere lengths, in Chapter 4. In terms of transgenerational effects, in Chapter 5 I found no evidence for sexspecific or within-parent age at conception effects on telomere length. Additionally, while additive genetic effects explained close to zero of phenotypic variation in telomere length, both cohort and year explained greater proportions of this phenotypic variance. In **Chapter** 6, I found no evidence that individuals anticipate their future somatic state through adaptive life-history strategies (i.e. internal PAR). However, I found some evidence that individuals anticipate the future adult environment, in support of the external PAR, but individual lifehistory was more dependent on the mean adult environment experienced. Finally, in **Chapter 7** I developed an approach to the analysis of samples in long-term studies, providing optimal statistical power and precision to detect year, within- and between-individual effects

while allowing convenient sequential analysis of collected samples, without confounding variables.

My thesis has contributed to our understanding of individual variation in telomere lengths and senescence patterns in wild mammals. It informs on how genetic and environmental factors, and adaptive life-history strategies, may shape individual variation in senescence patterns. Below, I discuss the key findings of my thesis and their implications for our understanding of telomeres and senescence, and highlight, where appropriate, future research objectives.

# 8.1 Telomere dynamics in European badgers

Studies into telomere length in wild populations are mainly conducted in bird species (Boonekamp et al., 2014; Heidinger et al., 2012; Nettle et al., 2013b), but studies into wild mammals are emerging (Izzo et al., 2011; Lewin et al., 2015; Cram et al., 2017). However, few of those studies in mammals are longitudinal (Fairlie et al., 2016; Beirne et al., 2014), which is important to study within-individual changes such as senescence patterns. In **Chapter 2**, I investigated longitudinal telomere lengths among 24 cohorts in wild European badgers, and found support for complex relationships between telomere length and age, where early-life telomere length was linked to individual life-history.

The complex cross-sectional relationship between telomere length and age in **Chapter 2** was the result of both selective disappearance and within-individual changes. Within-individual consistency in telomere length was low, with both increases and decreases in telomere length with age that could not be explained by measurement error alone. The finding that telomere length forms such complex relationships with age contrasts studies conducted in humans (Baerlocher et al., 2003; Aubert and Lansdorp, 2008), but is in line with studies in other wild populations (Fairlie et al., 2016). For within-individual changes, a low repeatability in telomere length corroborates other qPCR studies across individual lifetimes

(Fairlie et al., 2016; Spurgin et al., 2017), but opposes telomere restriction fragment (TRF) studies conducted over shorter periods of time (Bauch et al., 2013; Boonekamp et al., 2014). Whether this discrepancy is the result of the method to estimate telomere length or a consequence of the period over which telomere length is estimated remains currently unclear. However, the high correlation between TRF and qPCR measurements in the Soay sheep indicates this cannot be attributed to methodology (Fairlie et al., 2016). I also found that decreases and increases in telomere length with age, and a resulting low within-individual consistency in telomere length, could not be attributed to measurement error as previously found in Seychelles warblers (*Acrocephalus sechellensis*; Spurgin *et al.* 2017). While in Seychelles warblers telomere length is estimated in erythrocytes, in mammals a competing mechanism for increases in telomere length with age exists. Since mammalian telomere length is estimated in leukocytes, changes in leukocyte cell composition with age may contribute to changes in longitudinal telomere lengths.

In **Chapter 3** I show sex- and age-specific changes in leukocyte cell composition in badgers dependent on group sizes. This means that social conditions have age- and sexspecific effects on innate and adaptive immunity, and these results are in line with studies in wild populations finding evidence for immunosenescence (Peters et al., 2019; Nussey et al., 2012; Cheynel et al., 2017). Additionally, these results indicate that changes in telomere length with age could be (partially) attributed to changes in leukocyte cell composition with age. This accords with a study in Soay sheep (*Ovis aries*), showing age- and sex-specific changes in leukocyte cell composition with age (Watson et al., 2017).

The additional evidence I provide for the complex relationship between telomere length and age and increases in telomere length with age, offers an exciting avenue for research into telomere elongation and its potential mechanisms (e.g. telomerase) in wild animals, and the consequences for life-history and senescence patterns. Furthermore, badgers had shorter early-life telomere length in winter compared to spring (**Chapter 4**), and

season explains variation in telomere length (**Chapter 5**). These seasonal effects indicate that torpor in badgers, or hibernation in other species, may be important for telomere lengthening. However, further research into the association between hibernation and telomere dynamics is required.

In **Chapter 2** I also found that early-life telomere length was linked to survival to adulthood and lifespan, providing additional evidence that in wild mammals (Fairlie et al., 2016; Cram et al., 2017), and in general (Wilbourn et al., 2018), telomere length functions as a biomarker of senescence. Finally, I found a lack of sex differences in telomere length in badgers. Even though badgers exhibit male-biased mortality (Bright Ross, unpublished data), this bias in mortality is relatively small compared to other species. Along with previous studies this indicates that sex differences in telomere length in wild mammals are in line with the degree of male-biased mortality. For example, Wytham badgers and meerkats show no or a small male-biased mortality and no sex differences in telomere length (Cram et al., 2017), whereas Soay sheep have a substantial male-biased mortality and show age-related sex differences in telomere length (Fairlie et al., 2016). While this contributes to the patterns in sex differences, the underlying mechanisms remain relatively unclear and require further investigation (Stindl, 2004; Gardner et al., 2014; Barrett and Richardson, 2011).

# 8.2 Early-life environmental conditions

The early-life rather than later-life environmental conditions posit greater pressure on senescence patterns due to the forces of natural selection being strongest in early-life (Hamilton, 1966; Williams, 1957; Medawar, 1952). In **Chapter 2**, I found strong cohort effects on telomere length, indicating that early-life conditions are reflected in telomere length.

In **Chapter 5**, I found that variation in telomere length was explained by cohort and year effects, but with no evidence for parental or social group effects. These results indicate that variation in telomere length is a consequence of the birth year and capture year,

indicating the importance of environmental and ecological conditions. The individual variation in senescence patterns, for which telomere length functions as a biomarker, appears in badgers to be mainly determined by (early-life) environmental conditions.

Disentangling early-life environmental conditions into effects of weather conditions and group size was conducted in Chapter 4. I found that individuals experiencing higher levels of rainfall, with little variability, and higher temperatures had longer early-life telomere lengths. In badgers, weather conditions are linked to food availability, since badgers mainly feed on earthworms which are available in mild and moist conditions (Kruuk and Parish, 1981; Gerard, 1967; Newman et al., 2017). However, these effects of mean earlylife environmental conditions interacted with the variability in weather conditions (Paaijmans et al., 2010; Bozinovic et al., 2011). Cubs experiencing warmer conditions had longer early-life telomere length. Yet, cubs experiencing lower mean daily temperatures benefitted from low variation in daily temperature, whereas with higher mean daily temperatures, variation in daily temperature had a beneficial effect on early-life RLTL. However, cubs experiencing higher mean daily rainfall benefitted from low variation in daily rainfall, whereas with lower mean daily rainfall, variation in daily rainfall had a beneficial effect on early-life telomere length. These results corroborate the finding that variability is linked to lower recruitment and survival probability in badgers when early-life environmental quality is high (Nouvellet et al., 2013). Variability in temperature (a proxy for food availability and thermal stress) can therefore result in maladaptation, particularly for traits such as senescence which are expressed later in life, and result in faster rates of senescence (Cotto and Ronce, 2014). In contrast, a temporal improvement in early-life environmental conditions through variability can provide individuals with additional resources and result in longer early-life telomere length (Erikstad et al., 1998). An adverse early-life environment may lead to a bet-hedging strategy, through investment in the soma at the expense of reproduction, modulating energy allocation (Morris et al., 2008; Wilbur and Rudolf, 2006). A

temporal increase in environmental quality, due to environmental variability, may thus change the balance in energy allocation trade-offs and life-history strategies (Erikstad et al., 1998; Reid et al., 2003; Weimerskirch et al., 2001). The contrasting effects of environmental variability provides opportunities for research, with expected increases in variability under climate change (IPCC, 2014), this may not only be important for habitat fragmentation and other ecological processes, but directly affect individual life-history. This requires further investigation in a variety of taxa with lifelong life-history data linked to mean early-life environmental conditions and variability in these conditions.

The quality of the early-life environment shapes individual life-histories (Reid et al., 2003; Nussey et al., 2007a) and explains variation in telomere length (Mizutani et al., 2013; McLennan et al., 2016; Watson et al., 2015; Wilbourn et al., 2017). In Chapter 6 I found no evidence that individuals born in favourable conditions had longer lifespans than individual born in adverse conditions, in contrast to evidence for silver-spoon effects in other studies in wild populations (van de Pol et al., 2006; Cooper and Kruuk, 2018). However, besides a direct impact on individual life-history, adverse early-life conditions can constrain the development of the soma (Nettle et al., 2013a; Ricklefs and Wikelski, 2002). This can have an indirect effect on individual fitness through reduced energy allocation to somatic development, increase in damaging processes and reduced self-repair (Monaghan, 2014; Selman et al., 2012). Individuals in adverse early-life conditions, with detrimental effects on the developing soma, can anticipate their future somatic state and provide adaptive lifehistory strategies, known as the internal PAR (Nettle et al., 2013a). While studies in wild populations have found support for the internal PAR (Berghanel et al., 2016; Douhard et al., 2016) I found no evidence in **Chapter 6** that an individual can anticipate its own future somatic state (i.e. reflected in early-life telomere length) and thus the internal PAR. However, a large proportion of the variance in lifespan was still explained by cohort, which may be the consequence of lifespan strongly depending on whether an individual survives to adulthood.

Experienced early-life conditions can therefore influence life-history, but not through an adaptive response based on an individual's future somatic state. The combined effect of early-life adversity and consequences for the developing soma can still contribute to variation in senescence patterns, where further research among taxa is required to elucidate on the generality of such patterns.

Variability in environmental conditions on a longer scale can also impact senescence. I found in Chapter 6 that individuals experiencing matching temperature conditions in earlyand later-life exhibited longer lifespans, however not in terms of early-life telomere length or rainfall. These temperature results are in line with the external PAR, which predicts higher fitness when early- and later-life conditions match (Nettle et al., 2013a; Gluckman et al., 2005a; Gluckman et al., 2005b), but the telomere length and rainfall results do not support the external PAR. While in short-lived species the early-life and adult environment are more likely to match, leading to support for the external PAR (Dantzer et al., 2013; van den Heuvel et al., 2013), the autocorrelation of environmental quality is likely to be low in long-lived species and lead to rejection of the external PAR (Douhard et al., 2014; Lea et al., 2015; Hayward et al., 2013; Pigeon et al., 2017). The differences in the results based on the metric used for early-life environmental quality can be explained by the autocorrelation in these metrics and correlation between early- and later-life environmental guality. Metrics with a moderate to high autocorrelation, and high correlation between early- and later-life conditions (i.e. temperature) provide a higher likelihood for the external PAR compared to metrics with low autocorrelation and correlation between early- and later-life conditions (i.e. early-life telomere length/rainfall). The reason for this is that for the external PAR to be adaptive, greater environmental persistence is required (Fischer et al., 2011; Reed et al., 2010; Padilla and Adolph, 1996). Temporal fluctuations in the environment may thus reduce the benefits of the external PAR as an adaptive strategy (Wells, 2007; Rickard and Lummaa, 2007). Both short- and long-term variability, and associated quality, in environmental
conditions are predicted to increase under current climate change (IPCC, 2014) and further investigation of consequences of variability for individual variation in senescence patterns is required. However, further research to test the PAR hypotheses is required through the association between telomere length and reproductive success. Additionally, testing the relationship between telomere length and reproductive parameters, such as age at first breeding or early-life reproductive success in relation to lifespan, will elucidate on the PAR hypotheses and the selective pressures on telomere length.

Aside from anticipation of conditions experienced in adulthood based on the similarity with early-life environmental quality (**Chapter 6**), specific cues in early-life may lead to adaptive development. In **Chapter 4** I've shown that a higher number of cubs in the natal social group were associated with longer early-life telomere length. While this contrasts with some studies showing that higher levels of competition in early-life lead to accelerated telomere shortening (Boonekamp et al., 2014; Nettle et al., 2015) and shorter telomere length (Cram et al., 2017), this may reflect a plastic response to a social cue (Bretman et al., 2016; Kasumovic and Brooks, 2011). Badger cubs, particularly males, born in social groups with more cubs tend to have slower development, growth rates and reach sexual maturity later (Sugianto et al., 2019b) and this is thus associated with longer early-life telomere length. Smaller groups may therefore provide a competitive cue to cubs indicating to accelerate sexual development to utilise reproductive opportunities. Evidence for such plastic responses to competitive cues exist in fruitflies (*Drosophila melanogaster*; Bretman *et al.* 2016), and in wild populations (Brown and Brown, 2003; Lemaitre et al., 2011).

In **Chapter 3** I've also shown that the social environment throughout life leads to changes in immune profiles, with a stronger relative decrease in agranulocyte-to-granulocyte ratio for males in smaller groups. This accords with studies in wild animal populations that also show patterns of immunosenescence (Cheynel et al., 2017; Nussey et al., 2012; Peters et al., 2019). The social environment, and associated plastic responses and immune

challenges, may thus lead to variation in the rate of somatic development and as a consequence influence the patterns of senescence (Bretman et al., 2013; Leech et al., 2017). Further research in longitudinal studies can test the within-individual changes in absolute leukocyte numbers (e.g. through flow cytometry) and include these in the statistical models to fully understand the contribution of leukocyte cell composition to within-individual telomere dynamics.

Since conspecific competition in early-life showed strong effects on telomere length (Cram et al., 2017; Nettle et al., 2015; Boonekamp et al., 2014; Stier et al., 2015), and intrasexual competition can impact body mass senescence as expected under sexual selection (Beirne et al., 2015), I investigated in **Chapter 4** whether intra-sexual competition in early adulthood was reflected in telomere length. A differential investment between reproduction and the soma can be expected between the sexes, due to divergent life-history strategies (Bonduriansky et al., 2008; Singh and Punzalan, 2018). While in polygynandrous species a male-biased mortality, because males benefit from many matings they might experience greater intra-sexual competition (Bonduriansky et al., 2008; Lemaitre et al., 2014; Beirne et al., 2015). However, I found no evidence that intra-sexual competition was reflected in telomere length. Interestingly, in another badger population an effect of intra-sexual competition on body mass senescence was found (Beirne et al., 2015). In Wytham badgers there is strong reproductive skew among males, where badgers with a higher body condition index attain higher reproductive success (Dugdale et al., 2008), as a result of a competitive advantage. However, high levels of extra-group paternity (Dugdale et al., 2007; Annavi et al., 2014b), promiscuity among males and repeated mounting behaviour (Dugdale et al., 2011a) may mask paternity. Additionally, female badgers exhibit various postcopulatory mechanisms (i.e. delayed implantation, superfetation, superfecundation; Yamaguchi et al., 2006), where this cryptic female choice may mask paternity, reduce male-male aggression

and thus reduce intra-sexual competition. Further studies in populations with sex-biased mortality rates are required to determine whether such effects are reflected in telomeres.

## 8.3 Transgenerational effects

The evolutionary potential of trait such as telomere length, according to the breeder's equation, depends on the heritable component and the strength of natural selection (Lynch and Walsh, 1998). In Chapter 5, I found that the heritability of early-life telomere length and telomere length across and individual's lifetime was close to zero. This contrasts with other studies that found diverging rates of heritability estimates, but were mainly conducted with parent-offspring regression which cannot separate 'shared environment' effects between offspring and their parents (Voillemot et al., 2012; Reichert et al., 2015; Olsson et al., 2011; Horn et al., 2011). The 'animal model' can cope with these effects. Using the animal model in wild vertebrate populations, Becker et al. (2015) found no heritability of telomere length in white-throated dippers, whereas in Great reed warblers relatively high heritability of telomere length was found (Asghar et al., 2015a). However, these studies could not separate permanent environment effects and did not provide a power analysis. While we therefore still have a limited understanding of heritability of telomere length in wild populations, we know even less of the heritability of telomere shortening. Further research with greater sample sizes, power analyses, looking at the heritability of telomere length and telomere shortening are required.

In **Chapter 5**, I also found that neither paternal nor maternal age at conception was associated with offspring telomere length. Additionally, I found no evidence of sex-specific or within-parent age at conception effects. While a relationship between paternal age at conception and offspring telomere length has been found in humans (Njajou et al., 2007; Hjelmborg et al., 2015; Kimura et al., 2008) and chimpanzees (Eisenberg et al., 2017), another recent study found no support for such effects in Soay sheep (Froy et al., 2017). While the

paternal age at conception effect could have been through increased telomerase activity in the male germline to counteract telomere loss, or the survival of germ stem cells with longer telomeres that subsequently predominate the germ stem cell pool at older ages (Kimura et al., 2008), I found no support for such effects. Bouwhuis et al. (2018) suggested that parental age at conception effects depend on the mating system with positive effects in species with year-round sperm production, whereas species with seasonal peaks or monogamous species show a negative association with telomere length. Badgers have a polygynadrous mating system and should exhibit high levels of sperm production and competition, but do not show any parental age at conception effects (Njajou et al., 2007; Hjelmborg et al., 2015; Kimura et al., 2008), such transgenerational effects in badgers and other wild mammals (Froy et al., 2017), and other taxa (Heidinger et al., 2016; Olsson et al., 2011; Asghar et al., 2015a; McLennan et al., 2018) may not be straightforward and require further investigation.

## 8.4 Analysis of long-term studies

All of the above results require separation of confounding variables from variables of interest, which is often problematic in long-term studies due to cross-classified data structures. In **Chapter 7**, I investigated the current approaches to the analysis of samples in long-term studies and the potential issues with these approaches. While long-term studies provide an important tool for ecological and evolutionary studies (Clutton-Brock and Sheldon, 2010), the analysis of such comprehensive datasets can be complex due to hierarchically structured data and confounding effects. The often naturally cross-classified data structures in long-term studies can be overcome with mixed models (Schielzeth and Nakagawa, 2013; Gelman and Hill, 2006; Bolker et al., 2009) or when experimental design leads to nested data. However, separating variation in sources of interest from confounding effects is difficult with current approaches. I therefore developed an approach termed slicing

that analyses samples collected at different times together in a batch and cluster. The attributes of samples are therefore not fully confounded with the attributes of batch, allowing separation of variation of interest from potential confounds. Additionally, slicing allows convenient sequential analysis of samples while maintaining statistical independence. This novel slicing approach might pose an outcome in the molecular analyses of samples in long-term studies, but more generally the approach to structuring samples for analysis and the statistical considerations should be considered and reported in such studies. The slicing chapter was developed after conducting my laboratory work, so was not implemented in this thesis, but represents a novel method that will improve our understanding of diversity in telomere dynamics in the future.

## 8.5 Concluding remarks

The conditions that influence individual variation in senescence patterns in natural populations of mammals is still progressing. My thesis improves understanding of factors linked to variation in the onset and rate of senescence, using telomeres as a biomarker of senescence. I have provided additional evidence for links between individual life-history and early-life telomere length in wild mammals. My research highlights the importance of early-life environmental conditions, in contrast to additive genetic and transgenerational effects, and the potential for adaptive life-history strategies in anticipation of an individual's future environment. I show that both the mean of and variability in the early-life environment are reflected in early-life telomere length, indicating a role for environmental conditions during the developmental phase. In badgers we show that weather conditions, as a proxy for food availability, and plastic responses to natal group size cues explain variation in early-life telomere length. While it is apparent that longitudinal studies among taxa are required to explain the individual variation within and between species, such studies require an accurate approach to analysis for which I consider the novel 'slicing' approach.

Even though the early-life environment and adaptive strategies are important for telomere dynamics and senescence patterns in badgers, much remains to be learned about telomere dynamics and individual variation in senescence patterns. Future research in diverse taxa, with assorted mating systems and population dynamics will inform on why some species show paternal age at conception effects or support for the internal and external PAR where other species do not. Such varied information will elucidate on the evolved patterns of senescence and why the considerable individual variation in senescence patterns exists.

## References

- Abdullah, M., Chai, P.S., Chong, M.Y., Tohit, E.R.M., Ramasamy, R., Pei, C.P. and Vidyadaran,
   S. (2012) Gender effect on in vitro lymphocyte subset levels of healthy individuals.
   *Cellular Immunology*, 272, 214-219.
- Akira, S., Uematsu, S. and Takeuchi, O. (2006) Pathogen recognition and innate immunity. *Cell*, **124**, 783-801.
- Altizer, S., Nunn, C.L., Thrall, P.H., Gittleman, J.L., Antonovics, J., Cunningham, A.A., Dobson,
   A.P., Ezenwa, V., Jones, K.E., Pedersen, A.B., Poss, M. and Pulliam, J.R.C. (2003) Social
   organization and parasite risk in mammals: Integrating theory and empirical studies.
   Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution and Systematics, 34, 517-547.
- Andersson, M.B. (1994) Sexual selection. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Andraud, M., Casas, M., Pavio, N. and Rose, N. (2014) Early-life hepatitis E infection in pigs: The importance of maternally-derived antibodies. *PLoS ONE*, **9**, e105527.
- Angelier, F., Costantini, D., Blevin, P. and Chastel, O. (2018) Do glucocorticoids mediate the link between environmental conditions and telomere dynamics in wild vertebrates?
   A review. *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, **256**, 99-111.
- Annavi, G., Newman, C., Buesching, C.D., Macdonald, D.W., Burke, T. and Dugdale, H.L.
   (2014a) Heterozygosity-fitness correlations in a wild mammal population: accounting for parental and environmental effects. *Ecology and Evolution*, 4, 2594-2609.
- Annavi, G., Newman, C., Dugdale, H.L., Buesching, C.D., Sin, Y.W., Burke, T. and Macdonald,
   D.W. (2014b) Neighbouring-group composition and within-group relatedness drive
   extra-group paternity rate in the European badger (*Meles meles*). Journal of Evolutionary Biology, 27, 2191-2203.
- Anwar, M.A., Newman, C., MacDonald, D.W., Woolhouse, M.E.J. and Kelly, D.W. (2000) Coccidiosis in the European badger (*Meles meles*) from England, an epidemiological study. *Parasitology*, **120**, 255-260.
- Armanios, M. and Blackburn, E.H. (2012) The telomere syndromes. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, **13**, 693-704.
- Asghar, M., Bensch, S., Tarka, M., Hansson, B. and Hasselquist, D. (2015a) Maternal and genetic factors determine early life telomere length. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 282, 20142263.

- Asghar, M., Hasselquist, D., Hansson, B., Zehtindjiev, P., Westerdahl, H. and Bensch, S. (2015b) Hidden costs of infection: Chronic malaria accelerates telomere degradation and senescence in wild birds. *Science*, **347**, 436-438.
- Aston, K.I., Hunt, S.C., Susser, E., Kimura, M., Factor-Litvak, P., Carrell, D. and Aviv, A. (2012)
   Divergence of sperm and leukocyte age-dependent telomere dynamics: implications
   for male-driven evolution of telomere length in humans. *Molecular Human Reproduction*, 18, 517-522.
- Aubert, G. and Lansdorp, P.M. (2008) Telomeres and aging. *Physiological Reviews*, **88**, 557-579.
- Auer, S.K. (2010) Phenotypic plasticity in adult life-history strategies compensates for a poor start in life in Trinidadian guppies (*Poecilia reticulata*). *American Naturalist*, **176**, 818-829.
- Aviv, A. and Susser, E. (2013) Leukocyte telomere length and the father's age enigma: Implications for population health and for life course. International Journal of Epidemiology, 42, 457-462.
- Baerlocher, G.M., Mak, J., Roth, A., Rice, K.S. and Lansdorp, P.M. (2003) Telomere shortening in leukocyte subpopulations from baboons. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, **73**, 289-296.
- Baerlocher, G.M., Rice, K., Vulto, I. and Lansdorp, P.M. (2007) Longitudinal data on telomere length in leukocytes from newborn baboons support a marked drop in stem cell turnover around 1 year of age. *Aging Cell*, **6**, 121-123.
- Bain, B.J. (2015) *Blood cells: a practical guide.* 5th ed. Oxford: John Wiley & Sons.
- Barrett, E.L.B., Burke, T.A., Hammers, M., Komdeur, J. and Richardson, D.S. (2013) Telomere length and dynamics predict mortality in a wild longitudinal study. *Molecular Ecology*, **22**, 249-259.
- Barrett, E.L.B. and Richardson, D.S. (2011) Sex differences in telomeres and lifespan. *Aging Cell*, **10**, 913-921.
- Bateman, A.J. (1948) Intra-sexual selection in Drosophila. Heredity, 2, 349-368.
- Bates, D., Machler, M., Bolker, B.M. and Walker, S.C. (2015) Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. *Journal of Statistical Software*, **67**, 1-48.
- Bateson, M. and Nettle, D. (2016) The telomere lengthening conundrum It could be biology. Aging Cell, **16**, 312-319.
- Bateson, P., Barker, D., Clutton-Brock, T., Deb, D., D'Udine, B., Foley, R.A., Gluckman, P., Godfrey, K., Kirkwood, T., Lahr, M.M., McNamara, J., Metcalfe, N.B., Monaghan, P.,

Spencer, H.G. and Sultan, S.E. (2004) Developmental plasticity and human health. *Nature*, **430**, 419-421.

- Bauch, C., Becker, P.H. and Verhulst, S. (2013) Telomere length reflects phenotypic quality and costs of reproduction in a long-lived seabird. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 280, 20122540.
- Bauch, C., Boonekamp, J.J., Korsten, P., Mulder, E. and Verhulst, S. (2019) Epigenetic inheritance of telomere length in wild birds. *PLoS Genetics*, **15**, e1007827.
- Beaulieu, M., Benoit, L., Abaga, S., Kappeler, P.M. and Charpentier, M.J.E. (2017) Mind the cell: Seasonal variation in telomere length mirrors changes in leucocyte profile. *Molecular Ecology*, 26, 5603-5613.
- Beaulieu, M., Reichert, S., Le Maho, Y., Ancel, A. and Criscuolo, F. (2011) Oxidative status and telomere length in a long-lived bird facing a costly reproductive event. *Functional Ecology*, **25**, 577-585.
- Bebbington, K., Spurgin, L.G., Fairfield, E.A., Dugdale, H.L., Komdeur, J., Burke, T. and Richardson, D.S. (2016) Telomere length reveals cumulative individual and transgenerational inbreeding effects in a passerine bird. *Molecular Ecology*, 25, 2949-2960.
- Becker, P.J.J., Reichert, S., Zahn, S., Hegelbach, J., Massemin, S., Keller, L.F., Postma, E., Criscuolo, F. and Criscuolo, O. (2015) Mother-offspring and nest-mate resemblance but no heritability in early-life telomere length in white-throated dippers. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, **282**, 20142924.
- Beckman, K.B. and Ames, B.N. (1998) The free radical theory of aging matures. *Physiological Reviews*, **78**, 547-581.
- Beirne, C., Delahay, R., Hares, M. and Young, A. (2014) Age-related declines and diseaseassociated variation in immune cell telomere length in a wild mammal. *PLoS ONE*, **9**, e108964.
- Beirne, C., Delahay, R. and Young, A. (2015) Sex differences in senescence: the role of intrasexual competition in early adulthood. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 282, 20151086.
- Belmaker, A., Hallinger, K.K., Glynn, R.A., Winkler, D.W. and Haussmann, M.F. (2019) The environmental and genetic determinants of chick telomere length in Tree Swallows (*Tachycineta bicolor*). *Ecology and Evolution*, **9**, 8175-8186.
- Benetos, A., Kark, J.D., Susser, E., Kimura, M., Sinnreich, R., Chen, W., Steenstrup, T., Christensen, K., Herbig, U., Hjelmborg, J.V., Srinivasan, S.R., Berenson, G.S., Labat, C.

and Aviv, A. (2013) Tracking and fixed ranking of leukocyte telomere length across the adult life course. *Aging Cell*, **12**, 615-621.

- Berghanel, A., Heistermann, M., Schulke, O. and Ostner, J. (2016) Prenatal stress effects in a wild, long-lived primate: predictive adaptive responses in an unpredictable environment. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 283, 20161304.
- Berry, O., England, P., Marriott, R.J., Burridge, C.P. and Newman, S.J. (2012) Understanding age-specific dispersal in fishes through hydrodynamic modelling, genetic simulations and microsatellite DNA analysis. *Molecular Ecology*, **21**, 2145-2159.
- Bijma, P. (2011) A general definition of the heritable variation that determines the potential of a population to respond to selection. *Genetics*, **189**, 1347-1359.
- Bilham, K., Newman, C., Buesching, C.D., Noonan, M.J., Boyd, A., Smith, A.L. and Macdonald,
   D.W. (2018) Effects of weather conditions on oxidative stress, oxidative damage, and
   antioxidant capacity in a wild-living mammal, the European badger (*Meles meles*).
   *Physiological and Biochemical Zoology*, **91**, 987-1004.
- Bilham, K., Sin, Y.W., Newman, C., Buesching, C.D. and Macdonald, D.W. (2013) An example of life history antecedence in the European badger (*Meles meles*): rapid development of juvenile antioxidant capacity, from plasma vitamin E analogue. *Ethology Ecology & Evolution*, **25**, 330-350.

Birkhead, T. and Møller, A.P. (1998) Sperm competition and sexual selection. Academic Press.

- Birkhead, T.R. and Pizzari, T. (2002) Postcopulatory sexual selection. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, **3**, 262-273.
- Blackburn, E.H. (1991) Structure and function of telomeres. *Nature*, **350**, 569-573.
- Blackburn, E.H. (2000) Telomere states and cell fates. Nature, 408, 53-56.
- Blackburn, E.H., Greider, C.W., Henderson, E., Lee, M.S., Shampay, J. and Shippenlentz, D. (1989) Recognition and elongation of telomeres by telomerase. *Genome*, **31**, 553-560.
- Blumstein, D.T., Williams, D.M., Lim, A.N., Kroeger, S. and Martin, J.G.A. (2018) Strong social relationships are associated with decreased longevity in a facultatively social mammal. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, **285**, 20171934.
- Bolker, B.M., Brooks, M.E., Clark, C.J., Geange, S.W., Poulsen, J.R., Stevens, M.H.H. and White, J.S.S. (2009) Generalized linear mixed models: a practical guide for ecology and evolution. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, **24**, 127-135.
- Bonduriansky, R., Maklakov, A., Zajitschek, F. and Brooks, R. (2008) Sexual selection, sexual conflict and the evolution of ageing and life span. *Functional Ecology*, **22**, 443-453.

Boonekamp, J.J. (2017) Does oxidative stress shorten telomeres? Biology Letters, 13, 1-5.

- Boonekamp, J.J., Mulder, G.A., Salomons, H.M., Dijkstra, C. and Verhulst, S. (2014) Nestling telomere shortening, but not telomere length, reflects developmental stress and predicts survival in wild birds. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 281, 20133287.
- Boonekamp, J.J., Simons, M.J.P., Hemerik, L. and Verhulst, S. (2013) Telomere length behaves as biomarker of somatic redundancy rather than biological age. *Aging Cell*, **12**, 330-332.
- Bourke, A.F.G. (2007) Kin selection and the evolutionary theory of aging. *Annual Review of Ecology Evolution and Systematics*, **38**, 103-128.
- Bouwhuis, S., Vedder, O. and Becker, P.H. (2015) Sex-specific pathways of parental age effects on offspring lifetime reproductive success in a long-lived seabird. *Evolution*, **69**, 1760-1771.
- Bouwhuis, S., Verhulst, S., Bauch, C. and Vedder, O. (2018) Reduced telomere length in offspring of old fathers in a long-lived seabird. *Biology Letters*, **14**, 20180213.
- Bozinovic, F., Bastias, D.A., Boher, F., Clavijo-Baquet, S., Estay, S.A. and Angilletta, M.J. (2011)
   The mean and variance of environmental temperature interact to determine physiological tolerance and fitness. *Physiological and Biochemical Zoology*, 84, 543-552.
- Bretman, A., Fricke, C., Westmancoat, J.D. and Chapman, T. (2016) Effect of competitive cues on reproductive morphology and behavioral plasticity in male fruitflies. *Behavioral Ecology*, **27**, 452-461.
- Bretman, A., Westmancoat, J.D., Gage, M.J. and Chapman, T. (2013) Costs and benefits of lifetime exposure to mating rivals in male *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Evolution*, **67**, 2413-2422.
- Brown, C.R. and Brown, M.B. (2003) Testis size increases with colony size in cliff swallows. Behavioral Ecology, **14**, 569-575.
- Buesching, C.D., Heistermann, M. and Macdonald, D.W. (2009) Seasonal and inter-individual variation in testosterone levels in badgers *Meles meles*: Evidence for the existence of two endocrinological phenotypes. *Journal of Comparative Physiology A: Neuroethology, Sensory, Neural, and Behavioral Physiology*, **195**, 865-871.
- Buesching, C.D., Newman, C., Service, K., Macdonald, D.W. and Riordan, P. (2016) Latrine marking patterns of badgers (*Meles meles*) with respect to population density and range size. *Ecosphere*, **7**, e01328.

- Burnham, K.P., Anderson, D.R. and Huyvaert, K.P. (2011) AIC model selection and multimodel inference in behavioral ecology: some background, observations, and comparisons. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology*, **65**, 23-35.
- Cameron, N.M., Fish, E.W. and Meaney, M.J. (2008a) Maternal influences on the sexual behavior and reproductive success of the female rat. *Hormones and Behavior*, **54**, 178-184.
- Cameron, N.M., Shahrokh, D., Del Corpo, A., Dhir, S.K., Szyf, M., Champagne, F.A. and Meaney, M.J. (2008b) Epigenetic programming of phenotypic variations in reproductive strategies in the rat through maternal care. *Journal of Neuroendocrinology*, **20**, 795-801.
- Campbell, R.D., Rosell, F., Newman, C. and Macdonald, D.W. (2017) Age-related changes in somatic condition and reproduction in the Eurasian beaver: Resource history influences onset of reproductive senescence. *PLoS ONE*, **12**, e0187484.
- Campisi, J. (2005) Senescent cells, tumor suppression, and organismal aging: Good citizens, bad neighbors. *Cell*, **120**, 513-522.
- Campisi, J. and di Fagagna, F.D. (2007) Cellular senescence: when bad things happen to good cells. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, **8**, 729-740.
- Campo, J.L. and Davila, S.G. (2002) Estimation of heritability for heterophil:lymphocyte ratio in chickens by restricted maximum likelihood. Effects of age, sex, and crossing. *Poultry Science*, **81**, 1448-1453.
- Canivenc, R. and Bonnin, M. (1981) Environmental control of delayed implantation in the European badger (*Meles meles*). *Journal of Reproduction and Fertility*, **29**, 25-33.
- Caulin, A.F. and Maley, C.C. (2011) Peto's Paradox: evolution's prescription for cancer prevention. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, **26**, 175-182.
- Cawthon, R.M. (2009) Telomere length measurement by a novel monochrome multiplex quantitative PCR method. *Nucleic Acids Research*, **37**, e21.
- Cesare, A.J. and Reddel, R.R. (2010) Alternative lengthening of telomeres: models, mechanisms and implications. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, **11**, 319-330.
- Charlesworth, B. (1980) *Evolution in age-structured populations*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Charmantier, A., Brommer, J.E. and Nussey, D.H. (2014) The quantitative genetics of senescence in wild animals. In: Charmantier, A., et al. eds. *Quantitative Genetics in the Wild.* Oxford: Oxford University Press, 68-83.

- Charmantier, A., Perrins, C., McCleery, R.H. and Sheldon, B.C. (2006) Quantitative genetics of age at reproduction in wild swans: Support for antagonistic pleiotropy models of senescence. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, **103**, 6587-6592.
- Cheynel, L., Lemaitre, J.F., Gaillard, J.M., Rey, B., Bourgoin, G., Ferte, H., Jego, M., Debias, F.,
   Pellerin, M., Jacob, L. and Gilot-Fromont, E. (2017) Immunosenescence patterns
   differ between populations but not between sexes in a long-lived mammal. *Scientific Reports*, 7, 13700.
- Choi, J., Fauce, S.R. and Effros, R.B. (2008) Reduced telomerase activity in human T lymphocytes exposed to cortisol. *Brain Behavior and Immunity*, **22**, 600-605.
- Clutton-Brock, T. and Sheldon, B.C. (2010) Individuals and populations: the role of long-term, individual-based studies of animals in ecology and evolutionary biology. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, **25**, 562-573.
- Clutton-Brock, T.H. and Isvaran, K. (2007) Sex differences in ageing in natural populations of vertebrates. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, **274**, 3097-3104.
- Cooper, C., Kuh, D., Egger, P., Wadsworth, M. and Barker, D. (1996) Childhood growth and age at menarche. *British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, **103**, 814-817.
- Cooper, E.B. and Kruuk, L.E.B. (2018) Ageing with a silver-spoon: A meta-analysis of the effect of developmental environment on senescence. *Evolution Letters*, **2**, 460-471.
- Costantini, D., Marasco, V. and Moller, A.P. (2011) A meta-analysis of glucocorticoids as modulators of oxidative stress in vertebrates. *Journal of Comparative Physiology B: Biochemical Systems and Environmental Physiology*, **181**, 447-456.
- Costantini, D., Monaghan, P. and Metcalfe, N.B. (2014) Prior hormetic priming is costly under environmental mismatch. *Biology Letters*, **10**, 20131010.
- Costantini, D. and Verhulst, S. (2009) Does high antioxidant capacity indicate low oxidative stress? *Functional Ecology*, **23**, 506-509.
- Côté, I.M. and Poulin, R. (1995) Parasitism and group-size in social animals a meta-analysis. Behavioral Ecology, **6**, 159-165.
- Cotto, O. and Ronce, O. (2014) Maladaptation as a source of senescence in habitats variable in space and time. *Evolution*, **68**, 2481-2493.
- Cram, D.L., Monaghan, P., Gillespie, R. and Clutton-Brock, T. (2017) Effects of early-life competition and maternal nutrition on telomere lengths in wild meerkats. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, **284**, 20171383.

- Creel, S., Dantzer, B., Goymann, W. and Rubenstein, D.R. (2013) The ecology of stress: effects of the social environment. *Functional Ecology*, **27**, 66-80.
- Criscuolo, F., Zahn, S. and Bize, P. (2017) Offspring telomere length in the long lived Alpine swift is negatively related to the age of their biological father and foster mother. *Biology Letters*, **13**, 20170188.
- da Silva, J. and Macdonald, D.W. (1989) Limitations of the use of tooth wear as a means of ageing Eurasian badgers, *Meles meles*. *Revue d'Ecologie La Terre et la Vie*, **44**, 275-278.
- da Silva, J., Macdonald, D.W. and Evans, P.G.H. (1994) Net costs of group living in a solitary forager, the Eurasian badger (*Meles meles*). *Behavioral Ecology*, **5**, 151-158.
- Dantzer, B., Newman, A.E.M., Boonstra, R., Palme, R., Boutin, S., Humphries, M.M. and McAdam, A.G. (2013) Density triggers maternal hormones that increase adaptive offspring growth in a wild mammal. *Science*, **340**, 1215-1217.
- Davis, A.K., Maney, D.L. and Maerz, J.C. (2008) The use of leukocyte profiles to measure stress in vertebrates: a review for ecologists. *Functional Ecology*, **22**, 760-772.
- Davis, T. and Kipling, D. (2005) Telomeres and telomerase biology in vertebrates: Progress towards a non-human model for replicative senescence and ageing. *Biogerontology*, 6, 371-385.
- de Lange, T. (2004) T-loops and the origin of telomeres. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, **5**, 323-329.
- de Meyer, T., Rietzschel, E.R., de Buyzere, M.L., de Bacquer, D., van Criekinge, W., de Backer, G.G., Gillebert, T.C., van Oostveldt, P. and Bekaert, S. (2007) Paternal age at birth is an important determinant of offspring telomere length. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 16, 3097-3102.
- de Villemereuil, P., Morrissey, M.B., Nakagawa, S. and Schielzeth, H. (2018) Fixed-effect variance and the estimation of repeatabilities and heritabilities: issues and solutions. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, **31**, 621-632.
- de Villemereuil, P., Schielzeth, H., Nakagawa, S. and Morrissey, M. (2016) General methods for evolutionary quantitative genetic inference from generalized mixed models. *Genetics*, **204**, 1281-1294.
- Delahay, R.J., Brown, J.A., Mallinson, P.J., Spyvee, P.D., Handoll, D., Rogers, L.M. and Cheeseman, C.L. (2000) The use of marked bait in studies of the territorial organization of the European badger (*Meles meles*). *Mammal Review*, **30**, 73-87.

- Dochtermann, N.A., Schwab, T. and Sih, A. (2015) The contribution of additive genetic variation to personality variation: heritability of personality. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, **282**, 20142201.
- Douhard, M., Loe, L.E., Stien, A., Bonenfant, C., Irvine, R.J., Veiberg, V., Ropstad, E. and Albon,
  S. (2016) The influence of weather conditions during gestation on life histories in a wild Arctic ungulate. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 283, 20161760.
- Douhard, M., Plard, F., Gaillard, J.M., Capron, G., Delorme, D., Klein, F., Duncan, P., Loe, L.E.
   and Bonenfant, C. (2014) Fitness consequences of environmental conditions at
   different life stages in a long-lived vertebrate. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 281, 20140276.
- Downs, J.D., Dochtermann, N.A., Ball, R., Klasing, K.C. and Martin, L.B. (2019) The effects of body mass on immune cell concentrations of mammals. *American Naturalist (in press)*.
- Dugdale, H.L., Ellwood, S.A. and Macdonald, D.W. (2010) Alloparental behaviour and longterm costs of mothers tolerating other members of the group in a plurally breeding mammal. *Animal Behaviour*, **80**, 721-735.
- Dugdale, H.L., Griffiths, A. and Macdonald, D.W. (2011a) Polygynandrous and repeated mounting behaviour in European badgers, *Meles meles*. *Animal Behaviour*, **82**, 1287-1297.
- Dugdale, H.L., Macdonald, D.W., Pope, L.C. and Burke, T. (2007) Polygynandry, extra-group paternity and multiple-paternity litters in European badger (*Meles meles*) social groups. *Molecular Ecology*, **16**, 5294-5306.
- Dugdale, H.L., Macdonald, D.W., Pope, L.C., Johnson, P.J. and Burke, T. (2008) Reproductive skew and relatedness in social groups of European badgers, *Meles meles. Molecular Ecology*, **17**, 1815-1827.
- Dugdale, H.L., Pope, L.C., Newman, C., Macdonald, D.W. and Burke, T. (2011b) Age-specific breeding success in a wild mammalian population: selection, constraint, restraint and senescence. *Molecular Ecology*, **20**, 3261-3274.
- Dugdale, H.L. and Richardson, D.S. (2018) Heritability of telomere variation: it is all about the environment! *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, **373**, 20160450.
- Dupont, S.M., Barbraud, C., Chastel, O., Delord, K., Ruault, S., Weimerskirch, H. and Angelier, F. (2018) Young parents produce offspring with short telomeres: A study in a long-

lived bird, the Black-browed Albatross (*Thalassarche melanophrys*). *PLoS ONE*, **13**, e0193526.

- Edwards, C.A. and Bohlen, P.J. (1996) *Biology and ecology of earthworms*. Springer Science & Business media.
- Effros, R.B., Cai, Z.L. and Linton, P.J. (2003) CD8 T cells and aging. *Critical Reviews in Immunology*, **23**, 45-64.
- Eisenberg, D.T.A. and Kuzawa, C.W. (2018) The paternal age at conception effect on offspring telomere length: mechanistic, comparative and adaptive perspectives. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, **373**, 20160442.
- Eisenberg, D.T.A., Tackney, J., Cawthon, R.M., Cloutier, C.T. and Hawkes, K. (2017) Paternal and grandpaternal ages at conception and descendant telomere lengths in chimpanzees and humans. *American Journal of Physical Anthropology*, **162**, 201-207.
- Ellwood, S.A., Newman, C., Montgomery, R.A., Nicosia, V., Buesching, C.D., Markham, A., Mascolo, C., Trigoni, N., Pasztor, B., Dyo, V., Latora, V., Baker, S.E. and Macdonald, D.W. (2017) An active-radio-frequency-identification system capable of identifying co-locations and social-structure: Validation with a wild free-ranging animal. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, **8**, 1822-1831.
- Epel, E.S., Blackburn, E.H., Lin, J., Dhabhar, F.S., Adler, N.E., Morrow, J.D. and Cawthon, R.M.
   (2004) Accelerated telomere shortening in response to life stress. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, **101**, 17312-17315.
- Erikstad, K.E., Fauchald, P., Tveraa, T. and Steen, H. (1998) On the cost of reproduction in long-lived birds: The influence of environmental variability. *Ecology*, **79**, 1781-1788.
- Fagiolo, U., Cossarizza, A., Scala, E., Fanalesbelasio, E., Ortolani, C., Cozzi, E., Monti, D.,
   Franceschi, C. and Paganelli, R. (1993) Increased cytokine production in mononuclear
   cells of healthy elderly people. *European Journal of Immunology*, 23, 2375-2378.
- Fagnoni, F.F., Vescovini, R., Passeri, G., Bologna, G., Pedrazzoni, M., Lavagetto, G., Casti, A.,
   Franceschi, C., Passeri, M. and Sansoni, P. (2000) Shortage of circulating naive CD8(+)
   T cells provides new insights on immunodeficiency in aging. *Blood*, **95**, 2860-2868.
- Fairlie, J., Holland, R., Pilkington, J.G., Pemberton, J.M., Harrington, L. and Nussey, D.H.
   (2016) Lifelong leukocyte telomere dynamics and survival in a free-living mammal.
   Aging Cell, 15, 140-148.
- Fawcett, T.W. and Frankenhuis, W.E. (2015) Adaptive explanations for sensitive windows in development. *Frontiers in Zoology*, **12**, 1-14.

- Fell, R.J., Buesching, C.A. and Macdonald, D.W. (2006) The social integration of European badger (*Meles meles*) cubs into their natal group. *Behaviour*, **143**, 683-700.
- Fest, J., Ruiter, R., Ikram, M.A., Voortman, T., van Eijck, C.H.J. and Stricker, B.H. (2018)
   Reference values for white blood-cell-based inflammatory markers in the Rotterdam
   Study: a population-based prospective cohort study. *Scientific Reports*, 8, 10566.
- Finkel, T. and Holbrook, N.J. (2000) Oxidants, oxidative stress and the biology of ageing. *Nature*, **408**, 239-247.
- Fischer, B., Taborsky, B. and Kokko, H. (2011) How to balance the offspring quality-quantity tradeoff when environmental cues are unreliable. *Oikos*, **120**, 258-270.
- Flores, K.G., Li, J., Sempowski, G.D., Haynes, B.F. and Hale, L.P. (1999) Analysis of the human thymic perivascular space during aging. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, **104**, 1031-1039.
- Franceschi, C., Garagnani, P., Parini, P., Giuliani, C. and Santoro, A. (2018) Inflammaging: a new immune-metabolic viewpoint for age-related diseases. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*, **14**, 576-590.
- Fraser, H., Parker, T., Nakagawa, S., Barnett, A. and Fidler, F. (2018) Questionable research practices in ecology and evolution. *PLoS ONE*, **13**, e0200303.
- Freckleton, R.P. (2002) On the misuse of residuals in ecology: regression of residuals vs. multiple regression. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, **71**, 542-545.
- Frenck, R.W., Blackburn, E.H. and Shannon, K.M. (1998) The rate of telomere sequence loss in human leukocytes varies with age. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, **95**, 5607-5610.
- Frölich, S., Entzeroth, R. and Wallach, M. (2012) Comparison of protective immune responses to apicomplexan parasites. *Journal of Parasitology Research*, **2012**, 852591.
- Froy, H., Bird, E.J., Wilbourn, R.V., Fairlie, J., Underwood, S.L., Salvo-Chirnside, E., Pilkington, J.G., Berenos, C., Pemberton, J.M. and Nussey, D.H. (2017) No evidence for parental age effects on offspring leukocyte telomere length in free-living Soay sheep. *Scientific Reports*, 7, 9991.
- Froy, H., Sparks, A.M., Watt, K., Sinclair, R., Bach, F., Pilkington, J.G., Pemberton, J.M., McNeilly, T.N. and Nussey, D.H. (2019) Senescence in immunity against helminth parasites predicts adult mortality in a wild mammal. *Science*, **365**, 1296-1298.
- Furman, D., Hejblum, B.P., Simon, N., Jojic, V., Dekker, C.L., Thiebaut, R., Tibshirani, R.J. and Davis, M.M. (2014) Systems analysis of sex differences reveals an immunosuppressive role for testosterone in the response to influenza vaccination.

Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, **111**, 869-874.

- Gaillard, J.M., Festa-Bianchet, M., Yoccoz, N.G., Loison, A. and Toigo, C. (2000) Temporal variation in fitness components and population dynamics of large herbivores. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics*, **31**, 367-393.
- Gardner, M., Bann, D., Wiley, L., Cooper, R., Hardy, R., Nitsch, D., Martin-Ruiz, C., Shiels, P., Sayer, A.A., Barbieri, M., Bekaert, S., Bischoff, C., Brooks-Wilson, A., Chen, W., Cooper, C., Christensen, K., De Meyer, T., Deary, I., Der, G., Roux, A.D., Fitzpatrick, A., Hajat, A., Halaschek-Wiener, J., Harris, S., Hunt, S.C., Jagger, C., Jeon, H.S., Kaplan, R., Kimura, M., Lansdorp, P., Li, C.Y., Maeda, T., Mangino, M., Nawrot, T.S., Nilsson, P., Nordfjall, K., Paolisso, G., Ren, F., Riabowol, K., Robertson, T., Roos, G., Staessen, J.A., Spector, T., Tang, N., Unryn, B., van der Harst, P., Woo, J., Xing, C., Yadegarfar, M.E., Park, J.Y., Young, N., Kuh, D., von Zglinicki, T., Ben-Shlomo, Y. and Team, H.S. (2014) Gender and telomere length: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Experimental Gerontology*, **51**, 15-27.
- Gelman, A. (2005) Analysis of variance Why it is more important than ever. Annals of Statistics, **33**, 1-31.
- Gelman, A. and Hill, J. (2006) *Data analysis using regression and multilevel/hierarchical models*. New York, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- George, A.J.T. and Ritter, M.A. (1996) Thymic involution with ageing: Obsolescence or good housekeeping? *Immunology Today*, **17**, 267-272.
- Gerard, B.M. (1967) Factors affecting earthworms in pastures. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, **36**, 235-252.
- Gluckman, P.D. and Hanson, M.A. (2004) Living with the past: Evolution, development, and patterns of disease. *Science*, **305**, 1733-1736.
- Gluckman, P.D., Hanson, M.A. and Spencer, H.G. (2005a) Predictive adaptive responses and human evolution. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, **20**, 527-533.
- Gluckman, P.D., Hanson, M.A., Spencer, H.G. and Bateson, P. (2005b) Environmental influences during development and their later consequences for health and disease:
   Implications for the interpretation of empirical studies. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 272, 671-677.
- Goksor, E., Alm, B., Thengilsdottir, H., Pettersson, R., Aberg, N. and Wennergren, G. (2011)
   Preschool wheeze impact of early fish introduction and neonatal antibiotics. *Acta Paediatrica*, **100**, 1561-1566.

- Gomes, N.M.V., Ryder, O.A., Houck, M.L., Charter, S.J., Walker, W., Forsyth, N.R., Austad, S.N., Venditti, C., Pagel, M., Shay, J.W. and Wright, W.E. (2011) Comparative biology of mammalian telomeres: Hypotheses on ancestral states and the roles of telomeres in longevity determination. *Aging Cell*, **10**, 761-768.
- Goronzy, J.J. and Weyand, C.M. (2005) T cell development and receptor diversity during aging. *Current Opinion in Immunology*, **17**, 468-475.
- Grafen, A. (1988) On the uses of data on lifetime reproductive success. In: Clutton-Brock, T. ed. *Reproductive success.* Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 454-471.
- Graves, B.M. (2007) Sexual selection effects on the evolution of senescence. *Evolutionary Ecology*, **21**, 663-668.
- Green, P. and MacLeod, C.J. (2016) simr: an R package for power analysis of generalized linear mixed models by simulation. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, **7**, 493-498.
- Greenland, S., Robins, J.M. and Pearl, J. (1999) Confounding and collapsibility in causal inference. *Statistical Science*, **14**, 29-46.
- Hadfield, J.D. (2010) MCMC methods for multi-response generalised linear mixed models: the MCMCgImm R package. *Journal of Statistical Software*, **33**, 1-22.
- Hall, M.E., Nasir, L., Daunt, F., Gault, E.A., Croxall, J.P., Wanless, S. and Monaghan, P. (2004)
   Telomere loss in relation to age and early environment in long-lived birds.
   Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 271, 1571-1576.
- Hamilton, W.D. (1966) Moulding of senescence by natural selection. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*, **12**, 12-45.
- Hammers, M., Richardson, D.S., Burke, T. and Komdeur, J. (2013) The impact of reproductive investment and early-life environmental conditions on senescence: support for the disposable soma hypothesis. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, **26**, 1999-2007.
- Harman, D. (1992) Free-Radical Theory of Aging. *Mutation Research*, 275, 257-266.
- Harrison, X.A. (2014) Using observation-level random effects to model overdispersion in count data in ecology and evolution. *PeerJ*, **2**, e616.
- Haussmann, M.F., Longenecker, A.S., Marchetto, N.M., Juliano, S.A. and Bowden, R.M. (2012)
   Embryonic exposure to corticosterone modifies the juvenile stress response, oxidative stress and telomere length. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 279, 1447-1456.
- Haussmann, M.F., Winkler, D.W. and Vleck, C.M. (2005) Longer telomeres associated with higher survival in birds. *Biology Letters*, **1**, 212-214.

- Haynes, L., Eaton, S.M., Burns, E.M., Randall, T.D. and Swain, S.L. (2003) CD4 T cell memory derived from young naive cells functions well into old age, but memory generated from aged naive cells functions poorly. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, **100**, 15053-15058.
- Hayward, A.D. and Lummaa, V. (2013) Testing the evolutionary basis of the predictive adaptive response hypothesis in a preindustrial human population. *Evolution, Medicine, and Public Health,* **2013**, 106-117.
- Hayward, A.D., Rickard, I.J. and Lummaa, V. (2013) Influence of early-life nutrition on mortality and reproductive success during a subsequent famine in a preindustrial population. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, **110**, 13886-13891.
- Heidinger, B.J., Blount, J.D., Boner, W., Griffiths, K., Metcalfe, N.B. and Monaghan, P. (2012)
   Telomere length in early life predicts lifespan. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences of the United States of America, **109**, 1743-1748.
- Heidinger, B.J., Herborn, K.A., Granroth-Wilding, H.M.V., Boner, W., Burthe, S., Newell, M.,
   Wanless, S., Daunt, F. and Monaghan, P. (2016) Parental age influences offspring
   telomere loss. *Functional Ecology*, **30**, 1531-1538.
- Herborn, K.A., Heidinger, B.J., Boner, W., Noguera, J.C., Adam, A., Daunt, F. and Monaghan,
  P. (2014) Stress exposure in early post-natal life reduces telomere length: an experimental demonstration in a long-lived seabird. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 281, 20133151.
- Hillgarth, N. and Wingfield, J.C. (1997) Testosterone and immunosuppression in vertebrates: implications for parasite-mediated sexual selection. In: Beckage, N.E. ed. *Parasites and Pathogens: Effects on Host Hormones and Behaviour.* New York: Chapman & Hall, 143-155.
- Hjelmborg, J.B., Dalgard, C., Mangino, M., Spector, T.D., Halekoh, U., Moller, S., Kimura, M.,
  Horvath, K., Kark, J.D., Christensen, K., Kyvik, K.O. and Aviv, A. (2015) Paternal age
  and telomere length in twins: the germ stem cell selection paradigm. *Aging Cell*, 14, 701-703.
- Hoebe, K., Janssen, E. and Beutler, B. (2004) The interface between innate and adaptive immunity. *Nature Immunology*, **5**, 971-974.
- Hoelzl, F., Cornils, J.S., Smith, S., Moodley, Y. and Ruf, T. (2016a) Telomere dynamics in freeliving edible dormice (*Glis glis*): the impact of hibernation and food supply. *Journal* of Experimental Biology, **219**, 2469-2474.

- Hoelzl, F., Smith, S., Cornils, J.S., Aydinonat, D., Bieber, C. and Ruf, T. (2016b) Telomeres are elongated in older individuals in a hibernating rodent, the edible dormouse (*Glis glis*).
   *Scientific Reports*, 6, 36856.
- Horn, T., Robertson, B.C., Will, M., Eason, D.K., Elliott, G.P. and Gemmell, N.J. (2011) Inheritance of telomere length in a bird. *PLoS ONE*, **6**, e17199.
- Hu, B., Yang, X.R., Xu, Y., Sun, Y.F., Sun, C., Guo, W., Zhang, X., Wang, W.M., Qiu, S.J., Zhou,
   J. and Fan, J. (2014) Systemic immune-inflammation index predicts prognosis of patients after curative resection for hepatocellular carcinoma. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 20, 6212-6222.
- IPCC. (2014) Climate Change 2014: Mitigation of climate change. Contribution of working group III to the fifth assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press.
- Iwasaki, A. and Medzhitov, R. (2010) Regulation of adaptive immunity by the innate immune system. *Science*, **327**, 291-295.
- Izzo, C., Hamer, D.J., Bertozzi, T., Donnellan, S.C. and Gillanders, B.M. (2011) Telomere length and age in pinnipeds: The endangered Australian sea lion as a case study. *Marine Mammal Science*, **27**, 841-851.
- Johnson, D.D.P., Baker, S., Morecroft, M.D. and Macdonald, D.W. (2001) Long-term resource variation and group size: a large-sample field test of the resource dispersion hypothesis. *BMC Ecology*, **1**, 2.
- Johnson, D.D.P., Jetz, W. and Macdonald, D.W. (2002) Environmental correlates of badger social spacing across Europe. *Journal of Biogeography*, **29**, 411-425.
- Johnson, D.D.P. and Macdonald, D.W. (2001) Why are group-living badgers (*Meles meles*) sexually dimorphic? *Journal of Zoology*, **255**, 199-204.
- Johnson, D.D.P., Macdonald, D.W. and Dickman, A.J. (2000) An analysis and review of models of the sociobiology of the Mustelidae. *Mammal Review*, **30**, 171-196.
- Jones, O.R., Scheuerlein, A., Salguero-Gomez, R., Camarda, C.G., Schaible, R., Casper, B.B.,
   Dahlgren, J.P., Ehrlen, J., Garcia, M.B., Menges, E.S., Quintana-Ascencio, P.F.,
   Caswell, H., Baudisch, A. and Vaupel, J.W. (2014) Diversity of ageing across the tree
   of life. *Nature*, 505, 169-173.
- Kasumovic, M.M. and Brooks, R.C. (2011) It's all who you know: The evolution of socially cued anticipatory plasticity as a mating strategy. *Quarterly Review of Biology*, **86**, 181-197.

- Kim, N.W., Piatyszek, M.A., Prowse, K.R., Harley, C.B., West, M.D., Ho, P.L.C., Coviello, G.M.,
   Wright, W.E., Weinrich, S.L. and Shay, J.W. (1994) Specific association of human telomerase activity with immortal cells and cancer. *Science*, 266, 2011-2015.
- Kim, W., Ludlow, A.T., Min, J., Robin, J.D., Stadler, G., Mender, I., Lai, T.P., Zhang, N., Wright,
   W.E. and Shay, J.W. (2016) Regulation of the human telomerase gene TERT by
   telomere position effect-over long distances (TPE-OLD): Implications for aging and
   cancer. *PLoS Biology*, **14**, e2000016.
- Kimura, M., Cherkas, L.F., Kato, B.S., Demissie, S., Hjelmborg, J.B., Brimacombe, M., Cupples, A., Hunkin, J.L., Gardner, J.P., Lu, X.B., Cao, X.J., Sastrasinh, M., Province, M.A., Hunt, S.C., Christensen, K., Levy, D., Spector, T.D. and Aviv, A. (2008) Offspring's leukocyte telomere length, paternal age, and telomere elongation in sperm. *PLoS Genetics*, *4*, e37.
- Kimura, M., Gazitt, Y., Cao, X.J., Zhao, X.Y., Lansdorp, P.M. and Aviv, A. (2010) Synchrony of telomere length among hematopoietic cells. *Experimental Hematology*, **38**, 854-859.

Kirkwood, T.B.L. (1977) Evolution of aging. *Nature*, **270**, 301-304.

- Kirkwood, T.B.L. (2005) Understanding the odd science of aging. Cell, 120, 437-447.
- Kirkwood, T.B.L. and Austad, S.N. (2000) Why do we age? Nature, 408, 233-238.
- Kirkwood, T.B.L. and Rose, M.R. (1991) Evolution of senescence: Late survival sacrificed for reproduction. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, **332**, 15-24.
- Klein, S.L. (2000) Hormones and mating system affect sex and species differences in immune function among vertebrates. *Behavioural Processes*, **51**, 149-166.
- Klein, S.L. and Flanagan, K.L. (2016) Sex differences in immune responses. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, **16**, 626-638.
- Kohler, S., Wagner, U., Pierer, M., Kimmig, S., Oppmann, B., Mowes, B., Julke, K., Romagnani,
  C. and Thiel, A. (2005) Post-thymic in vivo proliferation of naive CD4(+) T cells constrains the TCR repertoire in healthy human adults. *European Journal of Immunology*, **35**, 1987-1994.
- Kotrschal, A., Ilmonen, P. and Penn, D.J. (2007) Stress impacts telomere dynamics. *Biology Letters*, **3**, 128-130.
- Kruuk, H. (1978a) Foraging and spatial organisation of the European badger, Meles meles L. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology, 4, 75-89.
- Kruuk, H. (1978b) Spatial organization and territorial behaviour of the European badger Meles meles. Journal of Zoology, 184, 1-19.

- Kruuk, H. and Parish, T. (1981) Feeding specialization of the European badger *Meles meles* in Scotland. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, **50**, 773-788.
- Kruuk, L.E.B. (2004) Estimating genetic parameters in natural populations using the 'animal model'. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London Series B: Biological Sciences*, **359**, 873-890.
- Kruuk, L.E.B., Clutton-Brock, T.H., Slate, J., Pemberton, J.M., Brotherstone, S. and Guinness,
   F.E. (2000) Heritability of fitness in a wild mammal population. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 97, 698-703.
- Kruuk, L.E.B. and Hadfield, J.D. (2007) How to separate genetic and environmental causes of similarity between relatives. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, **20**, 1890-1903.
- Kuzawa, C.W. (2005) Fetal origins of developmental plasticity: Are fetal cues reliable predictors of future nutritional environments? *American Journal of Human Biology*, **17**, 5-21.
- Lea, A.J., Altmann, J., Alberts, S.C. and Tung, J. (2015) Developmental constraints in a wild primate. *American Naturalist*, **185**, 809-821.
- Lee, R. (2008) Sociality, selection, and survival: simulated evolution of mortality with intergenerational transfers and food sharing. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, **105**, 7124-7128.
- Lee, R.D. (2003) Rethinking the evolutionary theory of aging: transfers, not births, shape senescence in social species. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, **100**, 9637-9642.
- Lee, T.M. and Zucker, I. (1988) Vole infant development is influenced perinatally by maternal photoperiodic history. *American Journal of Physiology*, **255**, R831-R838.
- Leech, T., Sait, S.M. and Bretman, A. (2017) Sex-specific effects of social isolation on ageing in Drosophila melanogaster. *Journal of Insect Physiology*, **102**, 12-17.
- Lemaitre, J.F., Berger, V., Bonenfant, C., Douhard, M., Gamelon, M., Plard, F. and Gaillard, J.M. (2015) Early-late life trade-offs and the evolution of ageing in the wild. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, **282**, 20150209.
- Lemaitre, J.F. and Gaillard, J.M. (2017) Reproductive senescence: new perspectives in the wild. *Biological Reviews*, **92**, 2182-2199.
- Lemaitre, J.F., Gaillard, J.M., Pemberton, J.M., Clutton-Brock, T.H. and Nussey, D.H. (2014) Early life expenditure in sexual competition is associated with increased reproductive senescence in male red deer. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 281, 20140792.

- Lemaitre, J.F., Ramm, S.A., Hurst, J.L. and Stockley, P. (2011) Social cues of sperm competition influence accessory reproductive gland size in a promiscuous mammal. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, **278**, 1171-1176.
- Lewin, N., Treidel, L.A., Holekamp, K.E., Place, N.J. and Haussmann, M.F. (2015) Socioecological variables predict telomere length in wild spotted hyenas. *Biology Letters*, **11**, 20140991.
- Lindstrom, J. (1999) Early development and fitness in birds and mammals. *Trends in Ecology* & *Evolution*, **14**, 343-348.
- Linton, P.J. and Dorshkind, K. (2004) Age-related changes in lymphocyte development and function. *Nature Immunology*, **5**, 133-139.
- Liu, L., Trimarchi, J.R., Smith, P.J.S. and Keefe, D.L. (2002) Mitochondrial dysfunction leads to telomere attrition and genomic instability. *Aging Cell*, **1**, 40-46.
- Lummaa, V. and Clutton-Brock, T. (2002) Early development, survival and reproduction in humans. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, **17**, 141-147.
- Lynch, M. and Walsh, B. (1998) *Genetics and analysis of quantitative traits.* Sunderland, MA: Sinauer.
- Macdonald, D.W., Harmsen, B.J., Johnson, P.J. and Newman, C. (2004a) Increasing frequency of bite wounds with increasing population density in Eurasian badgers, *Meles meles*. *Animal Behaviour*, **67**, 745-751.
- Macdonald, D.W. and Newman, C. (2002) Population dynamics of badgers (*Meles meles*) in Oxfordshire, UK: Numbers, density and cohort life histories, and a possible role of climate change in population growth. *Journal of Zoology*, **256**, 121-138.
- Macdonald, D.W., Newman, C. and Buesching, C.D. (2015) Badgers in the rural landscape conservation paragon or farmland pariah? Lessons from the Wytham badger project.
  In: Macdonald, D.W. and Feber, R.E. eds. *Wildlife conservation on farmland volume* 2: Conflict in the countryside. Oxford: Oxford University Press., 1-32.
- Macdonald, D.W., Newman, C., Buesching, C.D. and Johnson, P.J. (2008) Male-biased movement in a high-density population of the Eurasian badger (*Meles Meles*). *Journal of Mammalogy*, **89**, 1077-1086.
- Macdonald, D.W., Newman, C., Buesching, C.D. and Nouvellet, P. (2010) Are badgers 'under the weather'? Direct and indirect impacts of climate variation on European badger (*Meles meles*) population dynamics. *Global Change Biology*, **16**, 2913-2922.

- Macdonald, D.W., Newman, C., Dean, J., Buesching, C.D. and Johnson, P.J. (2004b) The distribution of Eurasian badger, *Meles meles*, setts in a high-density area: field observations contradict the sett dispersion hypothesis. *Oikos*, **106**, 295-307.
- Macdonald, D.W., Newman, C., Nouvellet, P.M. and Buesching, C.D. (2009) An analysis of Eurasian badger (*Meles meles*) population dynamics: Implications for regulatory mechanisms. *Journal of Mammalogy*, **90**, 1392-1403.
- Maestripieri, D. (2005) Effects of early experience on female behavioural and reproductive development in rhesus macaques. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, **272**, 1243-1248.
- Maklakov, A.A. and Lummaa, V. (2013) Evolution of sex differences in lifespan and aging: Causes and constraints. *Bioessays*, **35**, 717-724.
- Mantovani, A., Cassatella, M.A., Costantini, C. and Jaillon, S. (2011) Neutrophils in the activation and regulation of innate and adaptive immunity. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, **11**, 519-531.
- Martin, G.M., Austad, S.N. and Johnson, T.E. (1996) Genetic analysis of ageing: Role of oxidative damage and environmental stresses. *Nature Genetics*, **13**, 25-34.
- Martin, J.G.A., Nussey, D.H., Wilson, A.J. and Reale, D. (2011) Measuring individual differences in reaction norms in field and experimental studies: a power analysis of random regression models. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, **2**, 362-374.
- Martin, L.B. (2009) Stress and immunity in wild vertebrates: Timing is everything. *General* and Comparative Endocrinology, **163**, 70-76.
- McDade, T.W. (2012) Early environments and the ecology of inflammation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, **109**, 17281-17288.
- McDonald, J.L., Smith, G.C., McDonald, R.A., Delahay, R.J. and Hodgson, D. (2014) Mortality trajectory analysis reveals the drivers of sex-specific epidemiology in natural wildlifedisease interactions. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, **281**, 20140526.
- McLaren, G.W., Thornton, P.D., Newman, C., Buesching, C.D., Baker, S.E., Mathews, F. and Macdonald, D.W. (2005) The use and assessment of ketamine-medetomidinebutorphanol combinations for field anaesthesia in wild European badgers (*Meles meles*). Veterinary Anaesthesia and Analgesia, **32**, 367-372.
- McLennan, D., Armstrong, J.D., Stewart, D.C., Mckelvey, S., Boner, W., Monaghan, P. and Metcalfe, N.B. (2016) Interactions between parental traits, environmental harshness

and growth rate in determining telomere length in wild juvenile salmon. *Molecular Ecology*, **25**, 5425-5438.

- McLennan, D., Armstrong, J.D., Stewart, D.C., McKelvey, S., Boner, W., Monaghan, P. and Metcalfe, N.B. (2018) Links between parental life histories of wild salmon and the telomere lengths of their offspring. *Molecular Ecology*, 27, 804-814.
- McMillen, I.C. and Robinson, J.S. (2005) Developmental origins of the metabolic syndrome: Prediction, plasticity, and programming. *Physiological Reviews*, **85**, 571-633.
- Medawar, P.B. (1952) An unsolved problem of biology. London: H.K. Lewis.
- Mendez-Bermudez, A., Hidalgo-Bravo, A., Cotton, V.E., Gravani, A., Jeyapalan, J.N. and Royle,
   N.J. (2012) The roles of WRN and BLM RecQ helicases in the alternative lengthening of telomeres. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 40, 10809-10820.
- Metcalfe, N.B. and Monaghan, P. (2001) Compensation for a bad start: grow now, pay later? *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, **16**, 254-260.
- Millon, A., Petty, S.J., Little, B. and Lambin, X. (2011) Natal conditions alter age-specific reproduction but not survival or senescence in a long-lived bird of prey. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, **80**, 968-975.
- Mizutani, Y., Tomita, N., Niizuma, Y. and Yoda, K. (2013) Environmental perturbations influence telomere dynamics in long-lived birds in their natural habitat. *Biology Letters*, **9**, 20130511.
- Møller, A.P., Erritzoe, J. and Saino, N. (2003) Seasonal changes in immune response and parasite impact on hosts. *American Naturalist*, **161**, 657-671.
- Monaghan, P. (2008) Early growth conditions, phenotypic development and environmental change. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, **363**, 1635-1645.
- Monaghan, P. (2010) Telomeres and life histories: The long and the short of it. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, **1206**, 130-142.
- Monaghan, P. (2014) Organismal stress, telomeres and life histories. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, **217**, 57-66.
- Monaghan, P. and Haussmann, M.F. (2006) Do telomere dynamics link lifestyle and lifespan? *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, **21**, 47-53.
- Monaghan, P. and Ozanne, S.E. (2018) Somatic growth and telomere dynamics in vertebrates: relationships, mechanisms and consequences. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, **373**, 20160446.

- Montes, I. (2007) *Leukocyte coping capacity and leukocyte activation as a measure of stress in wild badgers*. DPhil thesis, University of Oxford.
- Moore, M.P., Whiteman, H.H. and Martin, R.A. (2019) A mother's legacy: the strength of maternal effects in animal populations. *Ecology Letters*, **22**, 1620-1628.
- Morris, W.F., Pfister, C.A., Tuljapurkar, S., Haridas, C.V., Boggs, C.L., Boyce, M.S., Bruna, E.M., Church, D.R., Coulson, T., Doak, D.F., Forsyth, S., Gaillard, J.M., Horvitz, C.C., Kalisz, S., Kendall, B.E., Knight, T.M., Lee, C.T. and Menges, E.S. (2008) Longevity can buffer plant and animal populations against changing climatic variability. *Ecology*, 89, 19-25.
- Morrissey, M.B. and Wilson, A.J. (2010) pedantics: an r package for pedigree-based genetic simulation and pedigree manipulation, characterization and viewing. *Molecular Ecology Resources*, **10**, 711-719.
- Mousseau, T.A. and Roff, D.A. (1987) Natural selection and the heritability of fitness components. *Heredity*, **59**, 181-197.
- Nakagawa, S. and Schielzeth, H. (2013) A general and simple method for obtaining R2 from generalized linear mixed-effects models. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, **4**, 133-142.
- Nathan, C. (2006) Neutrophils and immunity: challenges and opportunities. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, **6**, 173-182.
- Nettle, D., Coall, D.A. and Dickins, T.E. (2011) Early-life conditions and age at first pregnancy in British women. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, **278**, 1721-1727.
- Nettle, D., Frankenhuis, W.E. and Rickard, I.J. (2013a) The evolution of predictive adaptive responses in human life history. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, **280**, 20131343.
- Nettle, D., Monaghan, P., Boner, W., Gillespie, R. and Bateson, M. (2013b) Bottom of the heap: Having heavier competitors accelerates early-life telomere loss in the European starling, *Sturnus vulgaris*. *PLoS ONE*, **8**, e83617.
- Nettle, D., Monaghan, P., Gillespie, R., Brilot, B., Bedford, T. and Bateson, M. (2015) An experimental demonstration that early-life competitive disadvantage accelerates telomere loss. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, **282**, 20141610.
- Newman, C., Buesching, C.D. and Macdonald, D.W. (2017) Meline mastery of meteorological mayhem: the effects of climate changeability on European badger population

dynamics. In: Macdonald, D.W., et al. eds. *Biology and Conservation of Musteloids*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

- Newman, C., Macdonald, D.W. and Anwar, M.A. (2001) Coccidiosis in the European badger, *Meles meles* in Wytham Woods: infection and consequences for growth and survival. *Parasitology*, **123**, 133-142.
- Newman, C., Zhou, Y.B., Buesching, C.D., Kaneko, Y. and Macdonald, D.W. (2011) Contrasting sociality in two widespread, generalist, mustelid genera, *Meles* and *Mantes*. *Mammal Study*, **36**, 169-188.
- Njajou, O.T., Cawthon, R.M., Damcott, C.M., Wu, S.H., Ott, S., Garant, M.J., Blackburn, E.H., Mitchell, B.D., Shuldiner, A.R. and Hsueh, W.C. (2007) Telomere length is paternally inherited and is associated with parental lifespan. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, **104**, 12135-12139.
- Noguera, J.C., Metcalfe, N.B. and Monaghan, P. (2018) Experimental demonstration that offspring fathered by old males have shorter telomeres and reduced lifespans. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, **285**, 20180268.
- Noonan, M.J., Johnson, P.J., Kitchener, A.C., Harrington, L.A., Newman, C. and Macdonald, D.W. (2016) Sexual size dimorphism in musteloids: An anomalous allometric pattern is explained by feeding ecology. *Ecology and Evolution*, **6**, 8495-8501.
- Noonan, M.J., Markham, A., Newman, C., Trigoni, N., Buesching, C.D., Ellwood, S.A. and Macdonald, D.W. (2014) Climate and the individual: Inter-annual variation in the autumnal activity of the European badger (*Meles meles*). *PLoS ONE*, **9**, e83156.
- Noonan, M.J., Markham, A., Newman, C., Trigoni, N., Buesching, C.D., Ellwood, S.A. and Macdonald, D.W. (2015) A new magneto-inductive tracking technique to uncover subterranean activity: what do animals do underground? *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, **6**, 510-520.
- Noonan, M.J., Newman, C., Markham, A., Bilham, K., Buesching, C.D. and Macdonald, D.W. (2018) In situ behavioral plasticity as compensation for weather variability: implications for future climate change. *Climatic Change*, **149**, 457-471.
- Nordfjall, K., Svenson, U., Norrback, K.F., Adolfsson, R. and Roos, G. (2010) Large-scale parent-child comparison confirms a strong paternal influence on telomere length. *European Journal of Human Genetics*, **18**, 385-389.
- Nouvellet, P., Newman, C., Buesching, C.D. and Macdonald, D.W. (2013) A multi-metric approach to investigate the effects of weather conditions on the demographic of a terrestrial mammal, the European badger (*Meles meles*). *PLoS ONE*, **8**, 1-7.

- Nussey, D.H., Froy, H., Lemaitre, J.F., Gaillard, J.M. and Austad, S.N. (2013) Senescence in natural populations of animals: Widespread evidence and its implications for biogerontology. *Ageing Research Reviews*, **12**, 214-225.
- Nussey, D.H., Kruuk, L.E.B., Donald, A., Fowlie, M. and Clutton-Brock, T.H. (2006) The rate of senescence in maternal performance increases with early-life fecundity in red deer. *Ecology Letters*, **9**, 1342-1350.
- Nussey, D.H., Kruuk, L.E.B., Morris, A., Clements, M.N., Pemberton, J.M. and Clutton-Brock,
   T.H. (2009) Inter- and intrasexual variation in aging patterns across reproductive
   traits in a wild red deer population. *American Naturalist*, **174**, 342-357.
- Nussey, D.H., Kruuk, L.E.B., Morris, A. and Clutton-Brock, T.H. (2007a) Environmental conditions in early life influence ageing rates in a wild population of red deer. *Current Biology*, **17**, R1000-R1001.
- Nussey, D.H., Watt, K., Pilkington, J.G., Zamoyska, R. and McNeilly, T.N. (2012) Age-related variation in immunity in a wild mammal population. *Aging Cell*, **11**, 178-180.
- Nussey, D.H., Wilson, A.J. and Brommer, J.E. (2007b) The evolutionary ecology of individual phenotypic plasticity in wild populations. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, **20**, 831-844.
- Oikawa, S. and Kawanishi, S. (1999) Site-specific DNA damage at GGG sequence by oxidative stress may accelerate telomere shortening. *FEBS Letters*, **453**, 365-368.
- Olovnikov, A.M. (1973) Theory of marginotomy Incomplete copying of template margin in enzymic-synthesis of polynucleotides and biological significance of phenomenon. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*, **41**, 181-190.
- Olsson, M., Pauliny, A., Wapstra, E., Uller, T., Schwartz, T. and Blomqvist, D. (2011) Sex differences in sand lizard telomere inheritance: Paternal epigenetic effects increases telomere heritability and offspring survival. *PLoS ONE*, **6**, e17473.
- Olszak, T., An, D.D., Zeissig, S., Vera, M.P., Richter, J., Franke, A., Glickman, J.N., Siebert, R., Baron, R.M., Kasper, D.L. and Blumberg, R.S. (2012) Microbial exposure during early life has persistent effects on natural killer T cell function. *Science*, **336**, 489-493.
- Paaijmans, K.P., Blanford, S., Bell, A.S., Blanford, J.I., Read, A.F. and Thomas, M.B. (2010) Influence of climate on malaria transmission depends on daily temperature variation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, **107**, 15135-15139.

- Padilla, D.K. and Adolph, S.C. (1996) Plastic inducible morphologies are not always adaptive:
   The importance of time delays in a stochastic environment. *Evolutionary Ecology*, 10, 105-117.
- Palacios, M.G., Winkler, D.W., Klasing, K.C., Hasselquist, D. and Vleck, C.M. (2011) Consequences of immune system aging in nature: a study of immunosenescence costs in free-living Tree Swallows. *Ecology*, **92**, 952-966.

Partridge, L. and Gems, D. (2007) Benchmarks for ageing studies. Nature, 450, 165-167.

- Pauliny, A., Devlin, R.H., Johnsson, J.I. and Blomqvist, D. (2015) Rapid growth accelerates telomere attrition in a transgenic fish. *BMC Evolutionary Biology*, **15**, 159.
- Pawelec, G., Larbi, A. and Derhovanessian, E. (2010) Senescence of the human immune system. *Journal of Comparative Pathology*, **141**, 39-44.
- Peters, A., Delhey, K., Nakagawa, S., Aulsebrook, A. and Verhulst, S. (2019) Immunosenescence in wild animals: meta-analysis and outlook. *Ecology Letters*, 22, 1709-1722.
- Peto, R. (2015) Quantitative implications of the approximate irrelevance of mammalian body size and lifespan to lifelong cancer risk. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, **370**, 20150198.
- Pfaffl, M.W. (2001) A new mathematical model for relative quantification in real-time RT-PCR. *Nucleic Acids Research*, **29**, e45.
- Pfister, G., Weiskopf, D., Lazuardi, L., Kovaiou, R.D., Cioca, D.P., Keller, M., Lorbeg, B., Parson,
  W. and Grubeck-Loebenstein, B. (2006) Naive T cells in the elderly: are they still there? *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, **1067**, 152-157.
- Pigeon, G., Festa-Bianchet, M. and Pelletier, F. (2017) Long-term fitness consequences of early environment in a long-lived ungulate. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 284, 20170222.
- Postma, E. (2014) Four decades of estimating heritabilities in wild vertebrate populations: improved methods, more data, better estimates. In: Charmantier, A., et al. eds. *Quantitative genetics in the wild.* Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press, 16-33.
- Preston, B.T., Stevenson, I.R., Pemberton, J.M., Coltman, D.W. and Wilson, K. (2003) Overt and covert competition in a promiscuous mammal: the importance of weaponry and testes size to male reproductive success. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, **270**, 633-640.
- Price, T. and Schluter, D. (1991) On the low heritability of life-history traits. *Evolution*, **45**, 853-861.

- Promislow, D. (2003) Mate choice, sexual conflict, and evolution of senescence. *Behavior Genetics*, **33**, 191-201.
- Promislow, D.E.L. (1992) Costs of sexual selection in natural populations of mammals. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, **247**, 203-210.
- Quinn, G.P. and Keough, M.J. (2002) *Experimental design and data analysis for biologists*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- *R: a language and environment for statistical computing.* (2019) Vienna: R foundation for statistical computing.
- Reed, T.E., Kruuk, L.E.B., Wanless, S., Frederiksen, M., Cunningham, E.J.A. and Harris, M.P. (2008) Reproductive senescence in a long-lived seabird: Rates of decline in late-life performance are associated with varying costs of early reproduction. *American Naturalist*, **171**, 89-101.
- Reed, T.E., Waples, R.S., Schindler, D.E., Hard, J.J. and Kinnison, M.T. (2010) Phenotypic plasticity and population viability: the importance of environmental predictability. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, **277**, 3391-3400.
- Reichert, S., Rojas, E.R., Zahn, S., Robin, J.P., Criscuolo, F. and Massemin, S. (2015) Maternal telomere length inheritance in the king penguin. *Heredity* **114**, 10-16.
- Reichert, S. and Stier, A. (2017) Does oxidative stress shorten telomeres in vivo? A review. *Biology Letters*, **13**, 20170463.
- Reid, J.M., Bignal, E.M., Bignal, S., McCracken, D.I. and Monaghan, P. (2003) Environmental variability, life-history covariation and cohort effects in the red-billed chough *Pyrrhocorax pyrrhocorax. Journal of Animal Ecology*, **72**, 36-46.
- Reid, J.M., Bignal, E.M., Bignal, S., Mccracken, D.I. and Monaghan, P. (2006) Spatial variation in demography and population growth rate: the importance of natal location. *Journal* of Animal Ecology, **75**, 1201-1211.
- Restif, O. and Amos, W. (2010) The evolution of sex-specific immune defences. *Proceedings* of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, **277**, 2247-2255.
- Richter, T. and von Zglinicki, T. (2007) A continuous correlation between oxidative stress and telomere shortening in fibroblasts. *Experimental Gerontology*, **42**, 1039-1042.
- Rickard, I.J., Holopainen, J., Helama, S., Helle, S., Russell, A.F. and Lummaa, V. (2010) Food availability at birth limited reproductive success in historical humans. *Ecology*, **91**, 3515-3525.

- Rickard, I.J. and Lummaa, V. (2007) The predictive adaptive response and metabolic syndrome: challenges for the hypothesis. *Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 18, 94-99.
- Ricklefs, R.E. and Wikelski, M. (2002) The physiology/life-history nexus. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, **17**, 462-468.
- Ridley, A.R. (2007) Factors affecting offspring survival and development in a cooperative bird: social, maternal and environmental effects. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, **76**, 750-760.
- Risques, R.A. and Promislow, D.E.L. (2018) All's well that ends well: why large species have short telomeres. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, **373**, 20160448.
- Rius-Ottenheim, N., Houben, J.M.J., Kromhout, D., Kafatos, A., van der Mast, R.C., Zitman, F.G., Geleijnse, J.M., Hageman, G.J. and Giltay, E.J. (2012) Telomere length and mental well-being in elderly men from the Netherlands and Greece. *Behavior Genetics*, 42, 278-286.
- Robertson, A., McDonald, R.A., Delahay, R.J., Kelly, S.D. and Bearhop, S. (2014) Individual foraging specialisation in a social mammal: the European badger (*Meles meles*). *Oecologia*, **176**, 409-421.
- Robin, J.D., Ludlow, A.T., Batten, K., Magdinier, F., Stadler, G., Wagner, K.R., Shay, J.W. and Wright, W.E. (2014) Telomere position effect: regulation of gene expression with progressive telomere shortening over long distances. *Genes & Development*, 28, 2464-2476.
- Romero, L.M. (2004) Physiological stress in ecology: lessons from biomedical research. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, **19**, 249-255.
- Ruby, J.G., Smith, M. and Buffenstein, R. (2018) Naked mole-rat mortality rates defy gompertzian laws by not increasing with age. *elife*, **7**, e31157.
- Ruijter, J.M., Ramakers, C., Hoogaars, W.M.H., Karlen, Y., Bakker, O., van den Hoff, M.J.B. and Moorman, A.F.M. (2009) Amplification efficiency: linking baseline and bias in the analysis of quantitative PCR data. *Nucleic Acids Research*, **37**, e45.
- Russell, A.F., Young, A.J., Spong, G., Jordan, N.R. and Clutton-Brock, T.H. (2007) Helpers increase the reproductive potential of offspring in cooperative meerkats. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, **274**, 513-520.
- Sansoni, P., Vescovini, R., Fagnoni, F.F., Akbar, A., Arens, R., Chiu, Y.L., Cicin-Sain, L., Dechanet-Merville, J., Derhovanessian, E., Ferrando-Martinez, S., Franceschi, C., Frasca, D., Fulop, T., Furman, D., Gkrania-Klotsas, E., Goodrum, F., Grubeck-

Loebenstein, B., Hurme, M., Kern, F., Lilleri, D., Lopez-Botet, M., Maier, A.B., Maranduf, T., Marchant, A., Mathei, C., Moss, P., Muntasell, A., Remmerswaal, E.B.M., Riddell, N.E., Rothe, K., Sauce, D., Shin, E.C., Simanek, A.M., Smithey, M.J., Soderberg-Naucler, C., Solana, R., Thomas, P.G., van Lier, R., Pawelec, G. and Nikolich-Zugich, J. (2014) New advances in CMV and immunosenescence. *Experimental Gerontology*, **55**, 54-62.

- Savill, P.S. (2010) *Wytham Woods: Oxford's ecological laboratory*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Schalm, O.W. (1965) Veterinary hematology. 2nd ed. Philadelphia: Lea & Febiger.
- Schielzeth, H. and Nakagawa, S. (2013) Nested by design: model fitting and interpretation in a mixed model era. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, **4**, 14-24.
- Schneeberger, K., Courtiol, A., Czirjak, G.A. and Voigt, C.C. (2014) Immune profile predicts survival and reflects senescence in a small, long-lived mammal, the Greater Sac-Winged Bat (Saccopteryx bilineata). PLoS ONE, 9, e108268.
- Schroeder, J., Burke, T., Mannarelli, M.E., Dawson, D.A. and Nakagawa, S. (2012) Maternal effects and heritability of annual productivity. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, 25, 149-156.
- Schroeder, J., Nakagawa, S., Rees, M., Mannarelli, M.E. and Burke, T. (2015) Reduced fitness in progeny from old parents in a natural population. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, **112**, 4021-4025.
- Seeker, L.A., Ilska, J.J., Psifidi, A., Wilbourn, R.V., Underwood, S.L., Fairlie, J., Holland, R., Froy,
  H., Salvo-Chirnside, E., Bagnall, A., Whitelaw, B., Coffey, M.P., Nussey, D.H. and
  Banos, G. (2018) Bovine telomere dynamics and the association between telomere
  length and productive lifespan. *Scientific Reports*, 8, 12748.
- Selman, C., Blount, J.D., Nussey, D.H. and Speakman, J.R. (2012) Oxidative damage, ageing, and life-history evolution: Where now? *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, **27**, 570-577.
- Sgro, C.M. and Partridge, L. (1999) A delayed wave of death from reproduction in *Drosophila*. *Science*, **286**, 2521-2524.
- Sharp, S.P. and Clutton-Brock, T.H. (2011) Competition, breeding success and ageing rates in female meerkats. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, **24**, 1756-1762.
- Shaw, S.Y., Blanchard, J.F. and Bernstein, C.N. (2010) Association between the use of antibiotics in the first year of life and pediatric inflammatory bowel disease. *American Journal of Gastroenterology*, **105**, 2687-2692.

- Shpak, M. (2007) Selection against demographic stochasticity in age-structured populations. *Genetics*, **177**, 2181-2194.
- Simons, M.J.P. (2015) Questioning causal involvement of telomeres in aging. *Ageing Research Reviews*, **24**, 191-196.
- Simons, M.J.P., Stulp, G. and Nakagawa, S. (2014) A statistical approach to distinguish telomere elongation from error in longitudinal datasets. *Biogerontology*, **15**, 99-103.
- Simons, M.J.P., Winney, I., Nakagawa, S., Burke, T. and Schroeder, J. (2015) Limited catching bias in a wild population of birds with near-complete census information. *Ecology and Evolution*, **5**, 3500-3506.
- Sin, Y.W., Annavi, G., Dugdale, H.L., Newman, C., Burke, T. and Macdonald, D.W. (2014) Pathogen burden, co-infection and Major Histocompatibility Complex variability in the European badger (*Meles meles*). *Molecular Ecology*, **23**, 5072-5088.
- Singh, A. and Punzalan, D. (2018) The strength of sex-specific selection in the wild. *Evolution*, **72**, 2818-2824.
- Sloboda, D.M., Hart, R., Doherty, D.A., Pennell, C.E. and Hickey, M. (2007) Rapid communication - Age at menarche: Influences of prenatal and postnatal growth. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, **92**, 46-50.
- Sloboda, D.M., Howie, G.J., Pleasants, A., Gluckman, P.D. and Vickers, M.H. (2009) Pre- and postnatal nutritional histories influence reproductive maturation and ovarian function in the rat. *PLoS ONE*, **4**, e6744.
- Snijders, T.A.B. and Bosker, R.J. (2011) *Multilevel analysis: an introduction to basic and advanced multilevel modeling.* London: SAGE.

Spitzer, J.A. (1999) Gender differences in some host defense mechanisms. Lupus, 8, 380-383.

Spurgin, L.G., Bebbington, K., Fairfield, E.A., Hammers, M., Komdeur, J., Burke, T., Dugdale,
 H.L. and Richardson, D.S. (2017) Spatio-temporal variation in lifelong telomere
 dynamics in a long-term ecological study. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 87, 187-198.

Stearns, S.C. (1992) The evolution of life histories. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

- Steenstrup, T., Hjelmborg, J.V., Kark, J.D., Christensen, K. and Aviv, A. (2013) The telomere lengthening conundrum - artifact or biology? *Nucleic Acids Research*, **41**, e131.
- Stevenson, I.R. and Bancroft, D.R. (1995) Fluctuating trade-offs favour precocial maturity in male Soay sheep. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 262, 267-275.

- Stier, A., Massemin, S., Zahn, S., Tissier, M.L. and Criscuolo, F. (2015) Starting with a handicap: effects of asynchronous hatching on growth rate, oxidative stress and telomere dynamics in free-living great tits. *Oecologia*, **179**, 999-1010.
- Stindl, R. (2004) Tying it all together: Telomeres, sexual size dimorphism and the gender gap in life expectancy. *Medical Hypotheses*, **62**, 151-154.
- Stoffel, M.A., Nakagawa, S. and Schielzeth, H. (2017) rptR: repeatability estimation and variance decomposition by generalized linear mixed-effects models. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 8, 1639-1644.
- Sudyka, J., Arct, A., Drobniak, S., Dubiec, A., Gustafsson, L. and Cichon, M. (2014) Experimentally increased reproductive effort alters telomere length in the blue tit (*Cyanistes caeruleus*). *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, **27**, 2258-2264.
- Sugianto, N.A., Newman, C., Macdonald, D.W. and Buesching, C.D. (2019a) Extrinsic factors affecting cub development contribute to sexual size dimorphism in the European badgers (*Meles meles*). *Zoology*, **135**, 125688.
- Sugianto, N.A., Newman, C., Macdonald, D.W. and Buesching, C.D. (2019b) Heterochrony of puberty in the European badger (*Meles meles*) can be explained by growth rate and group-size: Evidence for two endocrinological phenotypes. *PLoS ONE*, **14**, e0203910.
- Swanson, C.R., Li, K., Unger, T.L., Gallagher, M.D., Van Deerlin, V.M., Agarwal, P., Leverenz, J., Roberts, J., Samii, A., Gross, R.G., Hurtig, H., Rick, J., Weintraub, D., Trojanowski, J.Q., Zabetian, C. and Chen-Plotkin, A.S. (2015) Lower plasma apolipoprotein A1 levels are found in Parkinson's disease and associate with apolipoprotein A1 genotype. *Movement Disorders*, **30**, 805-812.
- Taborsky, B. (2006) The influence of juvenile and adult environments on life-history trajectories. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, **273**, 741-750.
- Takizawa, T., Mitsumori, K., Takagi, H., Nasu, M., Yasuhara, K., Onodera, H., Imai, T. and Hirose, M. (2004) Sequential analysis of testicular lesions and serum hormone levels in rats treated with a *Psoralea corylifolia* extract. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, **42**, 1-7.
- Telfer, S., Birtles, R., Bennett, M., Lambin, X., Paterson, S. and Begon, M. (2008) Parasite interactions in natural populations: insights from longitudinal data. *Parasitology*, 135, 767-781.
- Templeton, A.J., McNamara, M.G., Seruga, B., Vera-Badillo, F.E., Aneja, P., Ocana, A., Leibowitz-Amit, R., Sonpavde, G., Knox, J.J., Tran, B., Tannock, I.F. and Amir, E. (2014)

Prognostic role of neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio in solid tumors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, **106**, dju124.

- Teplitsky, C., Mills, J.A., Yarrall, J.W. and Merila, J. (2009) Heritability of fitness components in a wild bird population. *Evolution*, **63**, 716-726.
- Thornton, P.S. (1988) Density and distribution of badgers in Southwest England a predictive model. *Mammal Review*, **18**, 11-23.
- Tollenaere, C., Ivanova, S., Duplantier, J.M., Loiseau, A., Rahalison, L., Rahelinirina, S. and Brouat, C. (2012) Contrasted patterns of selection on MHC-linked microsatellites in natural populations of the Malagasy plague reservoir. *PLoS ONE*, **7**, e32814.
- Trivers, R.L. (1972) Parental investment and sexual selection. In: Campbell, B. ed. *Sexual selection and the descent of man, 1871-1971*. Chicago, USA: Aldine Publishing Co., 136-179.
- Tsunoda, M., Newman, C., Buesching, C.D., Macdonald, D.W. and Kaneko, Y. (2018) Badger setts provide thermal refugia, buffering changeable surface weather conditions. *Journal of Thermal Biology*, 74, 226-233.
- Underwood, A.J. (1997) *Experiments in ecology: their logical design and interpretation using analysis of variance.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- van de Pol, M. (2012) Quantifying individual variation in reaction norms: how study design affects the accuracy, precision and power of random regression models. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, **3**, 268-280.
- van de Pol, M., Bailey, L.D., McLean, N., Rijsdijk, L., Lawson, C.R. and Brouwer, L. (2016) Identifying the best climatic predictors in ecology and evolution. *Methods in Ecology* and Evolution, 7, 1246-1257.
- van de Pol, M., Bruinzeel, L.W., Heg, D., van der Jeugd, H.P. and Verhulst, S. (2006) A silver spoon for a golden future: long-term effects of natal origin on fitness prospects of oystercatchers (*Haematopus ostralegus*). *Journal of Animal Ecology*, **75**, 616-626.
- van de Pol, M. and Verhulst, S. (2006) Age-dependent traits: A new statistical model to separate within- and between-individual effects. *American Naturalist*, **167**, 766-773.
- van de Pol, M. and Wright, J. (2009) A simple method for distinguishing within- versus between-subject effects using mixed models. *Animal Behaviour*, **77**, 753-758.
- van den Heuvel, J., Saastamoinen, M., Brakefield, P.M., Kirkwood, T.B.L., Zwaan, B.J. and Shanley, D.P. (2013) The predictive adaptive response: Modeling the life-history evolution of the butterfly *Bicyclus anynana* in seasonal environments. *American Naturalist*, **181**, E28-E42.

- van der Willik, K.D., Fani, L., Rizopoulos, D., Licher, S., Fest, J., Schagen, S.B., Ikram, M.K. and Ikram, M.A. (2019) Balance between innate versus adaptive immune system and the risk of dementia: a population-based cohort study. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, 16, 68.
- van Lieshout, S.H.J., Bretman, A., Newman, C., Buesching, C.D., Macdonald, D.W. and Dugdale, H.L. (2019) Individual variation in early-life telomere length and survival in a wild mammal. *Molecular Ecology*, 28, 4152-4165
- Vazquez, J.M., Sulak, M., Chigurupati, S. and Lynch, V.J. (2018) A zombie LIF gene in elephants is upregulated by TP53 to induce apoptosis in response to DNA damage. *Cell Reports*, 24, 1765-1776.
- Vedder, O., Verhulst, S., Bauch, C. and Bouwhuis, S. (2017) Telomere attrition and growth: a life-history framework and case study in common terns. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, **30**, 1409-1419.
- Verhulst, S. (2019) Improving comparability between qPCR-based telomere studies. Molecular Ecology Resources (in press).
- Verhulst, S., Susser, E., Factor-Litvak, P.R., Simons, M.J., Benetos, A., Steenstrup, T., Kark, J.D. and Aviv, A. (2015) Commentary: The reliability of telomere length measurements. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, **44**, 1683-1686.
- Visscher, P.M. (2006) A note on the asymptotic distribution of likelihood ratio tests to test variance components. *Twin Research and Human Genetics*, **9**, 490-495.
- Vivier, E., Raulet, D.H., Moretta, A., Caligiuri, M.A., Zitvogel, L., Lanier, L.L., Yokoyama, W.M. and Ugolini, S. (2011) Innate or adaptive immunity? The example of natural killer cells. *Science*, **331**, 44-49.
- Voillemot, M., Hine, K., Zahn, S., Criscuolo, F., Gustafsson, L., Doligez, B. and Bize, P. (2012)
   Effects of brood size manipulation and common origin on phenotype and telomere
   length in nestling collared flycatchers. *BMC Ecology*, **12**, 17.
- von Mutius, E. (2007) Allergies, infections and the hygiene hypothesis The epidemiological evidence. *Immunobiology*, **212**, 433-439.
- von Zglinicki, T. (2002) Oxidative stress shortens telomeres. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences,* **27**, 339-344.
- von Zglinicki, T., Burkle, A. and Kirkwood, T.B.L. (2001) Stress, DNA damage and ageing an integrative approach. *Experimental Gerontology*, **36**, 1049-1062.

- Wallace, A.R. (1865) The action of natural in producing old age, decay and death. In:
   Weissman, A. ed. *Essays upon heredity and kindred biological problems*. Oxford:
   Clarendon Press.
- Watson, H., Bolton, M. and Monaghan, P. (2015) Variation in early-life telomere dynamics in
   a long-lived bird: Links to environmental conditions and survival. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 218, 668-674.
- Watson, R.L., Bird, E.J., Underwood, S., Adams, R.V., Fairlie, J., Watt, K., Salvo-Chirnside, E.,
   Pilkington, J.G., Pemberton, J.M., McNeilly, T.N., Froy, H. and Nussey, D.H. (2017) Sex
   differences in leukocyte telomere length in a free-living mammal. *Molecular Ecology*,
   26, 3230-3240.
- Webb, D.R. and King, J.R. (1984) Effects of wetting on insulation of bird and mammal coats. Journal of Thermal Biology, **9**, 189-191.
- Weimerskirch, H., Zimmermann, L. and Prince, P.A. (2001) Influence of environmental variability on breeding effort in a long-lived seabird, the yellow-nosed albatross. *Behavioral Ecology*, **12**, 22-30.
- Weiskopf, D., Weinberger, B. and Grubeck-Loebenstein, B. (2009) The aging of the immune system. *Transplant International*, **22**, 1041-1050.
- Weissman, A. (1889) *Essays upon heredity and kindred biological problems.* Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- Wells, J.C.K. (2006) Is early development in humans a predictive adaptive response anticipating the adult environment? *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, **21**, 424-425.
- Wells, J.C.K. (2007) Flaws in the theory of predictive adaptive responses. *Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism*, **18**, 331-337.
- Wells, J.C.K. (2012) Obesity as malnutrition: The role of capitalism in the obesity global epidemic. *American Journal of Human Biology*, **24**, 261-276.
- Weng, N.P. (2001) Interplay between telomere length and telomerase in human leukocyte differentiation and aging. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, **70**, 861-867.
- Weng, N.P. (2012) Telomeres and immune competency. *Current Opinion in Immunology*, **24**, 470-475.
- Westendorp, R.G. and Kirkwood, T.B. (1998) Human longevity at the cost of reproductive success. *Nature*, **396**, 743-746.
- Wickens, A.P. (2001) Ageing and the free radical theory. *Respiration Physiology*, **128**, 379-391.

- Wilbourn, R.V., Froy, H., McManus, M.C., Cheynel, L., Gaillard, J.M., Gilot-Fromont, E., Regis,
  C., Rey, B., Pellerin, M., Lamaitre, J.F. and Nussey, D.H. (2017) Age-dependent associations between telomere length and environmental conditions in roe deer. *Biology Letters*, **13**, 20170434.
- Wilbourn, R.V., Moatt, J.P., Froy, H., Walling, C.A., Nussey, D.H. and Boonekamp, J.J. (2018)
   The relationship between telomere length and mortality risk in non-model vertebrate systems: a meta-analysis. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, **373**, 20160447.
- Wilbur, H.M. and Rudolf, V.H.W. (2006) Life-history evolution in uncertain environments: Bet hedging in time. *American Naturalist*, **168**, 398-411.
- Willeit, P., Willeit, J., Brandstatter, A., Ehrlenbach, S., Mayr, A., Gasperi, A., Weger, S., Oberhollenzer, F., Reindl, M., Kronenberg, F. and Kiechl, S. (2010) Cellular aging reflected by leukocyte telomere length predicts advanced atherosclerosis and cardiovascular disease risk. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, **30**, 1649-1656.
- Williams, G.C. (1957) Pleiotropy, natural selection, and the evolution of senescence. *Evolution*, **11**, 398-411.
- Wilson, A.J. (2008) Why h2 does not always equal VA/VP? *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, 21, 647-650.
- Wilson, A.J., Charmantier, A. and Hadfield, J.D. (2008) Evolutionary genetics of ageing in the wild: empirical patterns and future perspectives. *Functional Ecology*, **22**, 431-442.
- Wilson, A.J., Reale, D., Clements, M.N., Morrissey, M.M., Postma, E., Walling, C.A., Kruuk,
   L.E.B. and Nussey, D.H. (2010) An ecologist's guide to the animal model. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, **79**, 13-26.
- Wolff, J.O. and Macdonald, D.W. (2004) Promiscuous females protect their offspring. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, **19**, 127-134.
- Woodroffe, R. and Macdonald, D.W. (1995a) Costs of breeding status in the European badger, *Meles meles*. *Journal of Zoology*, **235**, 237-245.
- Woodroffe, R. and Macdonald, D.W. (1995b) Female/female competition in European badgers *Meles meles*: Effects on breeding success. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 64, 12-20.
- Woodroffe, R. and Macdonald, D.W. (2000) Helpers provide no detectable benefits in the European badger (*Meles meles*). *Journal of Zoology*, **250**, 113-119.

- Yamaguchi, N., Dugdale, H.L. and Macdonald, D.W. (2006) Female receptivity, embryonic diapause and superfoctation in the European badger (*Meles meles*): Implications for the reproductive tactics of males and females. *Quarterly Review of Biology*, **81**, 33-48.
- Young, A.J. (2018) The role of telomeres in the mechanisms and evolution of life-history trade-offs and ageing. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, **373**, 20160452.
- Zuur, A.F., Ieno, E.N. and Elphick, C.S. (2010) A protocol for data exploration to avoid common statistical problems. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, **1**, 3-14.